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OF TRADITIONAL OWNERS
Central Highlands Regional Council acknowledges 

the Traditional Owners of the lands where we live and 

work, and we recognise their continuing connection to 

land, water and community. 

We pay respect to Elders, past, present and emerging, 

and acknowledge the important role Aboriginal 

Peoples and Torres Strait Islanders continue to play 

within the Central Highlands region.

Connect with us

 1300 242 686 (including after hours)

 enquiries@chrc.qld.gov.au

 www.chrc.qld.gov.au

All council offices are open from 8.30 am to 5.00 

pm Monday to Friday.

	� Corner of Egerton and Borilla Streets, Emerald

	� 10 Mackenzie Street, Blackwater  

(closed 12.00 pm to 1.00 pm)

	� 4 Conran Street, Capella  

(closed 12.30 pm to 1.30 pm)

	� 12 William Street, Duaringa  

(closed 1.00 pm to 2.00 pm)

	� 12 Eclipse Street, Springsure  

(closed 1.00 pm to 2.00 pm)

Transaction Centres

 17 Warrijo Street, Rolleston  

(9.00 am to 12.30 pm and 1.00 pm to 4.30 pm)

 Corner Grasstree and Anncrouye Street, Tieri  

(8.30 am to 1.00 pm and 2.00 pm to 5.00 pm)
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WITH CENTRAL HIGHLANDS REGIONAL COUNCIL
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About the annual report 
This annual report provides a comprehensive overview of the 

performance and activities of the Central Highlands Regional 

Council (CHRC) for the period 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022.

It is the culmination of a strategic planning, performance 

and reporting framework that is central to guiding how we 

proritise and deliver programs and services in the short, 

medium and long-term.

This framework begins with the Central Highlands 2022 

Community Plan, which informed the 2017-2022 Corporate 

Plan. The corporate plan then guides the annual budget, 

capital works program and operational plan, underpinning 

all of our decision-making and connecting the community’s 

vision to what we do.

This report is designed to tell a story of the council and the 

community; to celebrate successes, identify learnings and 

overall provide a 365-day picture of the 'year that was' for this 

progressive Queensland region.

This snapshot of the year is enhanced with local images to 

bring the story to life, data is presented with easy-to-read 

graphics, and the narrative is crafted in plain English.

The region 

Shows where the Central Highlands region is and explains 

some of the region’s statistical information and its history.

Year in review

Gives an overview of the year from the mayor and chief 

executive officer (CEO) and presents some of the year’s key 

achievements. 

Performance summary

Looks at the capital works program and major projects, gives 

a condensed view of the financial performance, looks at 

how we demonstrated innovative ideas, what stories were 

popular in the media, the events that took place and how we 

were awarded and recognised.

The community 

Highlights our Australia Day award winners, new citizens and 

volunteers, and reviews the disaster management activities. 

Our council 

Introduces how council works and profiles the mayor and 

councillors. Shows how we collaborate, represent the region, 

and fulfill our social inclusion and consultation commitments.

Our organisation

Introduces the executive leadership team, our organisation’s 

structure and workforce statistics.

Performance reports

A comprehensive look at our performance against the 

operational plan of the 6 key priority areas. The yearly 

highlights, challenges and what lies ahead for the next 

year are detailed. Each report contains a summary of 

performance against projects and key performance 

indicators (KPIs). More detailed information about KPIs 

and performance can be found in council's quarterly 

reports delivered throughout the year against the annual 

operational plan.

Financial reports

Includes the audited financial statements of our council.

Information required by the Local Government Act 2009 and 

Local Government Regulations 2012 is included throughout.

Vision 
A progressive region creating opportunities for all.

Mission 
We are a council committed to continuous improvement, 

a sustainable future and efficient investment in our 

communities.

Values
Respect and integrity

Building trust, teamwork, communication and a shared 

understanding.

Actively listening to our communities.

Accountability and transparency

Equal opportunities, fair and open consultation and 

communication.

Accepting responsibility for our actions.

Providing value

Best value-for-money outcomes for our community.

Collaboration, managing expectations and working towards 

common goals.

Deliver efficiency and effectiveness in all that we do.

Commitment and teamwork

Continually improve on our achievements and drive 

innovative solutions.

Lead change and continuous improvement in delivering for 

our community.

Promote a positive health and safety culture.

The entrance sign to the town of Dingo.
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6 Key Priority Areas

Strong vibrant communities

Building and maintaining 
quality infrastructure

Supporting our local economy

Protecting our people and  
our environment

Leadership and governance

Our organisation



The region

An aerial shot of Blackwater’s Hunter Street Sport Complex, looking towards 
Blackdown Tablelands National Park.
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The region 
The Central Highlands region is in Central Queensland, 

Australia — considered a gateway to the outback. The 

region’s central business area, Emerald, is a 3-hour drive 

from Rockhampton on the coast and nearly 900 kilometres 

from Brisbane. 

The region is huge, approximately 60,000 square kilometres, 

which is likened to the size of Tasmania. It stretches from the 

Arcadia Valley in the south to the Peak Ranges in the north, 

east from Boolburra to Bogantungan in the west. 

Around 28,000 people call the Central Highlands home, and 

they live in the 13 communities of Arcadia Valley, Bauhinia, 

Blackwater, Bluff, Capella, Comet, Dingo, Duaringa, Emerald, 

Rolleston, Sapphire Gemfields, Springsure and Tieri. 

Naturally, the region is rich — in minerals, in grazing land, 

in dryland and irrigated agricultural land, in water from the 

Nogoa and Comet rivers and the Fairbairn Dam (3 times the 

size of Sydney Harbour), in national parks and wilderness 

areas like Blackdown Tablelands and Carnarvon Gorge, and 

in gems, with the largest sapphire-producing fields in the 

southern hemisphere. 

Travellers in big rigs and small abound with major freight 

and tourist routes through the region including the north-

south link between Charters Towers and northern New 

South Wales — identified as the inland transport alternative 

between Cairns and Melbourne — and the Capricorn 

Highway leading ‘grey nomads’ to all points west. 

This is a vibrant region with a diverse economy based on:

	� robust and resilient agriculture and horticultural industries 

and significant exports, including beef, grain, cotton, 

grapes, melons, nuts and citrus 

	� a globally competitive coal mining industry

	� dynamic small to medium-size businesses

	� professional and government sectors

	� adequate availability of commercial, industrial and 

residential land

	� an evolving tourism offering 

	� major health and education services

	� significant new infrastructure and construction projects.

The community
Mostly it is a young community; the median age is 34 

years. Children aged 0-14 years make up nearly 25% of the 

population (Australian Bureau of Statistics 2021 Census).

Jobs in the mining sector account for most of the total 

workforce, followed by agriculture and horticulture, the retail 

trade, and education and training. 

Regional unemployment sits at 4%, in line with the 

Queensland average (REMPLAN Economy).

More than a third of the community reside in rental 

accommodation, 28.9% have a house with a mortgage and 

22.2% own their house outright.

Adjoining councils
The local government areas of Barcaldine Regional Council, 

Isaac Regional Council, Maranoa Regional Council, Banana 

Shire Council, Rockhampton Regional Council and the 

Woorabinda Aboriginal Shire Council surround the region.

Regional history
The Central Highlands was originally home to many 

Indigenous people who remain the Traditional Custodians of 

these lands.

Early European settlement in the region dates from the 

1850s. The first pioneers brought sheep from down south 

to the region. Growth continued into the late 1800s with the 

inland expansion of the railway line west from Rockhampton 

and the establishment of small ‘railway’ towns.

Significant growth occurred in the 1950s to 1980s with the 

introduction of beef cattle grazing, the building of Fairbairn 

Dam for agricultural irrigation, and coal mining.

Today, the region is defined by the diverse prospering 

economies that support its unique vibrant communities.

A coal mine near Blackwater.

Brisbane

Longreach Rockhampton

Bauhinia

Arcadia 
Valley

Rolleston

Springsure

Duaringa
DingoBluffComet

Tieri
Capella

Sapphire
Gemfields Emerald

Blackwater
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Spotlight on: Leichardt’s DIG Tree Park
Comet Tales and Walking Trails was an initiative of the 

Comet community, led by local historian Rosemary McLeod, 

to record and re-tell the fascinating story of the area since 

European settlement.

Featuring 16 historical sites, this self-guided walk starts at the 

Leichardt DIG Tree Park.

Prussian-born explorer Doctor Friedrich Wilhelm Ludwig 

Leichhardt and his party travelled through the Comet district 

in 1845 on their way from Sydney to Port Essington in the 

Northern Territory. 

In 1846, Leichhardt put together another expedition. This time 

he was endeavouring to travel to the Swan River settlement in 

Western Australia. It was Leichhardt’s plan to travel to the north 

over the same country he knew, and at some point turn west. 

By the time the party reached the Dawson River, the wet 

season had begun. Men and animals struggled on over the 

difficult terrain.

On 5 March 1847, Leichhardt and his party reached the 

confluence of the Comet and Nogoa rivers, where the  

2 rivers join to form the Mackenzie. All the rivers were in high 

flood and the party was unable to cross. 

It was here that Leichhardt scarfed a huge coolabah tree 

with the letters ‘DIG L’ and a downward pointing arrow. A 

powder canister containing letters to family and friends was 

buried at the base of the tree.

When the river had dropped sufficiently for the party and 

animals to make a crossing, they headed for the Peak Range. 

However, they felt they could go no further due to illness and 

exhaustion and turned back.

The tree was felled in the 1950s, fearing it would be 

lost to fire. The marked portion was sent to Brisbane for 

safekeeping. For some years it was housed in Newstead 

House, until it went into storage. It then moved to the Miles 

Museum.

The Rockhampton and District Historical Association placed 

a memorial at the site of the dig tree in 1975. Ten years later 

in 1985, Comet residents were invited by the association to 

visit the site and it was during this event they decided they 

wanted their tree back.

The Comet Leichhardt Tree Restoration Project committee 

was formed in October 1994 to raise the necessary funds 

to bring this goal to fruition. Land was sought and money 

raised for the brick building required to house this valuable 

historical artefact. 

A celebration to welcome the dig tree home was held on 30 

March 1997, with the official opening conducted by Paul Bell, 

former mayor of Emerald Shire Council.

Visitors can check out the Leichardt DIG Tree Park and 

explore more of the Comet Tales and Walking Trails at any 

time. For more information visit the Central Queensland 
Highlands website.

Community snapshot
The 2021-2022 year was steady for the 

local economy as the unemployment 

rate, rents and median house prices, 

and the number of building approvals 

showed little movement.

Housing

From the 2021 Census, 

there were 12,177 private 

dwellings in the region, of which 

85.75% were ‘separate house’, and 

5.4% were ‘flat, unit or apartment’. 

The median weekly rent for a 

house in Emerald is $300, while 

the median rent for a property in 

Blackwater dropped from $270 to 

$220 this year.

The median sale price in Emerald 

is $350,000 which has risen 5.01% 

in the last 12 months.

The number of new house approvals 

in the region during the year was 

37; a decrease of 15.91% from the 

previous year and more than double 

that of the 2016-2017 year. 

On 31 March 2021, the Queensland 

Valuer-General released land 

valuations for 12,373 properties 

with a total value of $4.38 billion in 

the CHRC area.

Industry

Our economy generates 

an estimated $10.7 billion 

output representing 24% of the 

$44.9 billion output generated by 

Central Queensland.

The top 5 industry sectors 

(generating gross revenue) in the 

Central Highlands are:

	� mining 

	� agriculture, forestry, fishing

	� rental hiring and real estate 

services

	� construction

	� manufacturing.

The Central Highlands region 

remains fully drought-declared 

The Long Paddock.

Culturally diverse

The top 5 countries of 

birth for Central Highlands’ 

residents include Australia, New 

Zealand, England, the Philippines 

and South Africa. In 2021, Aboriginal 

and Torres Strait Islander people 

made up 5.2% of the Central 

Highlands population.

Population

The 2021 estimated 

resident population was 

27,836 people. This represents a 

0.3% decrease from 2016 when the 

population on Census night was 

27,999 people. The 30-39 years 

cohort is the most common with 

4,358 people. 

Central Highlands 

visitor economy

The economic return to 

the region for tourism is around 

$235 million. According to the 2019 

figures (latest available), the region 

welcomed 65,000 interstate visitors 

and 312,000 intrastate visitors. The 

‘drive market’ accounts for most of 

the visitors to the Central Highlands. 

There are 255 tourism-related 

businesses in the region. The top 

3 international visitor markets are 

New Zealand, United States of 

America and the United Kingdom.

In 2019, 707,000 visitors stayed on 

average for 5 nights and spent an 

average of $91 per night.

Business is the primary reason 

people visit the region, followed by 

holiday-makers and visiting friends 

and relatives (2016-2019 data from 

Tourism Research Australia).

Left: The dig tree back home in Comet. Right: Ludwig Leichardt’s dig tree circa 1907.

Employment

Our top 3 employers 

are coal mining, beef cattle 

farming and primary education, 

accounting for more than 30% of jobs. 

The unemployment rate in the region 

at the end of the March 2022 quarter 

was 4%, directly in line with the 

Queensland rate of 4%. 

21.9% of employed people work in 

the mining industry and 11.8% work 

in agriculture, forestry and fishing. 

The labour force participation rate 

for Central Queensland is 70.3% 

compared to 70.9% at the same time 

in 2020 Queensland Government 
Statistician's Office.

Year Visitors Average 
nights

Spend 
p/night

2018 678,000 5 $95

2019 707,000 5 $91

Information supplied by REMPLAN, the Queensland 

Government Statistician’s Office, the Australian Bureau of 

Statistics 2021 Census data and RP Data.
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The Bauhinia Memorial Hall in Springsure.
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Report from the mayor Report from the CEO
The rapidly changing economic 

picture for the nation and its 

impact on costs of living are still 

very much the key influencers of 

council’s outlook and continuing 

performance.

Effects from the changes in 

COVID-related work practices 

and supply chains have also influenced our capacity and 

ability to deliver services and capital projects.

Our budgets have contingencies for significantly higher 

inflation that is both difficult to predict and erratic in nature.

Rates this year increased at the lower end of the spectrum 

when compared to other local governments, and our focus 

remained on providing value for our region’s communities.

Importantly, we are a region of opportunity, and it is critical 

that our organisation continues to deliver the promises we 

make and the expectations of the Central Highlands.

This year saw council adopt its new corporate plan under 

CEO Sharon Houlihan, within the first 6 months of her arrival. 

New management brings with it great perspective and 

awareness and our plan builds on our strengths, recognises 

our key challenges and is destination-focused.

Council business units have undergone significant 

investment to make sure our saleyards offer additional 

service capacity and our airport grows its passenger 

numbers. These assets are vital enablers to key industries, 

creating enterprise and critical access respectively.

2022 was an election year and we saw a change of the 

federal government in May. Our region was an ‘active’ part of 

the election process with our local government area being 

part of the notionally ‘in play’ Flynn electorate. There were 

some significant announcements related to water supply for 

the CQ Inland Port and the Queensland Beef Corridors road 

network. We are eagerly waiting for those projects to be 

confirmed by the new Labor government.

We farewelled Ken O’Dowd as the Member for Flynn after 

12 years in the role and had the opportunity to thank him for 

his significant representation of the people of the Central 

Highlands. Over that time, his government supported many 

key projects including the new Blackwater Aquatic Centre, 

CQ Inland Port and Roads of Strategic Importance (ROSI) 

funding for Springsure-Tambo Road – to name but a few.

Despite the most recent Queensland Grants Commission 

review resulting in a reduction of Central Highlands’ financial 

assistance grants, we have been advised of indexation that 

may offset those losses. Grants are an important component 

of our financial planning and budgeting, and as a council we 

are perpetually advocating for a more equitable share for the 

Central Highlands.

Many great community assets were opened this year. 

Minister Stirling Hinchliffe and Assistant Minister Nikki Boyd 

officiated events at the Blackwater Skate Park and the 

Emerald Airport extension. These are great projects and we 

thank the Queensland Government for funding with us.

Each year our council continues its drive to make the Central 

Highlands and all of its communities as liveable as they can 

be – not only for those who call it home, but for those many 

others we want to come here and share in the good things 

we have.

We have good plans, a great workforce and an even greater 

commitment to get our work done.

Councillor (Cr) Kerry Hayes

Mayor

Central Highlands Regional Council

In this, my first annual report as 

Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of 

the Central Highlands Regional 

Council, I’d like to acknowledge 

and thank our councillors, staff 

and the community for their 

warm welcome since arriving in 

November 2021 from Victoria. 

Central Highlands is a beautiful region and I have been struck 

by the pride of place that shines through from each of our 13 

unique communities, as well as the commitment and passion 

of our staff and councillors.

I was particularly attracted to the strength and stability of this 

council and inspired by the organisation’s clear commitment 

to a culture of accountability, innovation and progression.

Our 2021-2022 annual report speaks to this in volumes, 

highlighting the incredible ways in which our workforce has 

served and delivered for the region over the past 12 months.

As at 30 June 2022, we had expended $164 million in day-

to-day operations and close to $60 million in capital works. 

This represents 96.1% expenditure of our capital program 

which is an extraordinary achievement, especially given 

the challenges with workforce and supply of materials and 

equipment currently being experienced. 

Council’s capital projects are strongly focussed on renewal 

but also include new things, like the construction of a 

building or a park. We also invest in planning and design to 

access additional funding opportunities.

Family, youth and improved liveability were at the centre 

of a number of our key projects. The redevelopment of 

the Emerald Community Kindergarten was successfully 

completed in partnership with the federal government, 

allowing an extra 30 to 50 spaces for children. We also 

invested in our region’s skateparks, upgrading facilities in 

Sapphire, Capella and Blackwater.

In the infrastructure space, we replaced $2 million in council 

plant and equipment ensuring we can continue to deliver 

top-quality services to our communities. We also completed 

a $1.9 million resurfacing program and a $4.98 million gravel 

resheeting program to improve safety on our roads. 

After months of consultation and hard work under the Our 

Region, Our Resilience program, our amendment to the 

planning scheme for floodplain management was approved. 

This was a great achievement for council and the community, 

improving the management of our region’s floodplains, 

strengthening community resilience and overall reducing risk 

to people and property.

It was also a strong year for Emerald saleyards, with strong 

demand continuing in the livestock market. The facility 

underwent some major improvements, including a new tag 

scanner on the weighbridge, half-deck scale platform, front 

fence and grid entrance. We also commenced construction 

of additional spelling yards.

The 2021-2022 financial statements and sustainability ratios 

indicate that council is in a sound financial position with 

healthy cash balances and a community net worth in excess 

of $1.6 billion. This year we recorded an operating surplus 

of $2.5 million reflecting a positive short-term performance 

that’s expected to be maintained over the medium term. 

Council’s community infrastructure assets also increased by 

$75 million during the year as a result of the capital works 

program, depreciation, disposals, write-offs and revaluation 

adjustments. Long-term financial sustainability of the council 

remains a risk and key goal, with global changes to supply 

and demand for coal always on the horizon. Council's cash 

position is very important moving into the future and will 

impact our future budget.

Finally, we finished the financial year with the adoption of a 

new 5-year corporate plan, a key milestone in this council’s 

journey. The new plan outlines the vision, long-term goals, 

values and strategies that will underpin our decision-making 

as we keep a steady focus on the future. 

We look forward to the first year of this new plan, and strive 

to continue to grow, diversify and advance this region for you 

– our people. 

Once again, thank you to our staff for their dedication, our 

community for their faith and our leaders for their guidance. 

I hope you enjoy reading more about the year as you follow 

our journey through the pages of this report.

Sharon Houlihan

Chief Executive Officer 

Central Highlands Regional Council
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Spotlight on: New corporate plan marks start of 5-year journey
After months of planning and consultation, council adopted a 

new 5-year corporate plan in June 2022.

A corporate plan is council’s main planning tool, providing 

the basis from which specific council strategies, plans and 

policies are developed.

Mayor Kerry Hayes said this was the fourth corporate plan for 

the Central Highlands and the first under the current council.

‘This is an exciting milestone for us as a council and for our 

community,’ Mayor Hayes said.

‘This new plan provides a sense of ownership, clarity and 

inspiration for the direction and activities of council for the 

next 5 years.

‘A lot has changed since the last plan was prepared in 2017, 

both economically and socially. This plan seeks to build 

on previous plans to ensure it reflects the contemporary 

aspirations of our communities.’

Mayor Hayes said the overarching long-term vision for the 

Central Highlands had been refreshed, but the heart of it 

remained the same.

‘Our people have invited us to be bold, innovative, caring and 

to build on the wonderful lifestyle that our places provide,’ 

he said.

‘We look forward to now using this plan to guide and deliver 

our annual budget, capital works program and operational 

plan for the coming years.’

What we look after

The plan includes 7 long-term destination goals:

29,000 
residents

15,000 rateable
properties

13 
communities

Delivery of 60  
core services

60,000 square
kilometres

437 
current staff 

7 customer 
service centres

10 library 
locations

15 cemeteries

7 aquatic 
centres

5,163 km of 
council roads

1 saleyard

132 km of 
footpaths

(as at 30 June 2022)

1 airport

191 parks and 
open spaces

2 art galleries

426 km of 
water mains

17 resource 
recovery 
facilities

16 water and 
wastewater 
treatment 

plants

Reliable 

services 

for our 

community

A future-focused 

workforce to 

support council 

and the region

A low carbon 

future and 

adaption to a 

changing  

climate

Vibrant, 

resilient, safe 

and inclusive 

communities

A diverse and 

prosperous 

economy

A digital future 

for council and 

the region

A responsibly 

managed 

natural 

environment
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What we provide
A-Z of services
	� Advocacy

	� Art galleries

	� Airport and aerodromes

	� Cemeteries

	� Citizenship ceremonies

	� Community development and 

engagement

	� Community grants

	� Community housing

	� Cultural development – sister city 

relations, heritage and history

	� Customer service

	� Disaster management and planning

	� Economic development –  

business support

	� Environmental health – food 

licensing, personal appearance 

business licensing and mosquitoes

	� Events – commemorative  

and celebratory

	� Flood mitigation planning

	� Indigenous support

	� Library services

	� Major economic project 

development

	� Park and community hall bookings

	� Parks and gardens maintenance

	� Pest and weed control

	� Planning and building 

	� Playground maintenance  

and building

	� Plumbing inspections

	� Public relations – media, marketing, 

corporate communications and 

social media

	� Ranger services – animal 

management and biosecurity

	� Roads, bridges, culverts  

and footpaths

	� Saleyards

	� Sporting and recreation areas – 

planning and maintenance

	� Sporting and active recreation  

club support

	� Stock route management 

	� Street lighting and signage

	� Streetscape and tree management

	� Swimming pools

	� Swimming pool compliance

	� Waste (resource recovery)  

and recycling

	� Water and wastewater

	� Workplace health and safety

	� Youth development

Environmental Health Officer Rebecca Haddrick offers advice to a local food business owner.

Financial performance snapshot
Council is in a sound financial position. The financial year 

operating result reflects a positive short-term performance, 

and the 2022-2023 budget and long-term forecast indicates 

that council expects to maintain this favourable position over 

the medium term.

Council achieved an operating surplus of $2.5 million.

A net surplus of $11.3 million was recorded after adding 

capital revenue and deducting capital expenses from the 

operating surplus.

Where does the money come from?
Rates, sales and recoverable works, and fees and charges 

account for 85% of council’s $166 million operating revenue.

Rates, sales and recoverable works, and fees and charges 

account for 77% of combined operating and capital revenue 

of $184 million.

Where is the money spent?
$164 million was spent on day-to-day operations during 

the year.

What we own
Cash holdings increased from $78 million to $93 million, 

including term deposit investments of $3 million. 

Inventory held and money owed by ratepayers and other 

customers of council totalled $37 million.

The value of community infrastructure assets, including 

assets under construction, increased by $75 million to a total 

of $1.6 billion.

What we owe
Total borrowings at the end of the year were $72 million.

Amounts owed to suppliers and other creditors were  

$47 million.

Community worth
Community equity has increased from $1.54 billion to  

$1.62 billion which is equal to what we own less what we owe.

Operating surplus ratio
The operating surplus ratio is 1.5%, which reflects the 

operating surplus recorded in the current year and indicates 

that revenue has exceeded expenses. 

Asset sustainability
The asset sustainability ratio for this financial year is 76.95%, 

which is below the target of 90%. Over a longer 5-year 

period the average for this ratio is above the target reflecting 

efficient delivery of the capital works program and the 

continued investment in infrastructure replacement.

Net financial liabilities ratio
The net financial liabilities ratio is (6.8%); a negative result that 

indicates council continues to maintain a manageable level 

of debt. 

For further information and detailed explanations refer to the 

Community Financial Report and Financial Statements on 

page 161.

 

$1,734 M

$119 M

$1,615 M $ M

Assets (what we own)

Liabilities (what we owe)

Equity (community net worth)
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Here is a selection of some capital project highlights in the 6 key priority areas for 2021-2022.

Strong vibrant  

communities

Total actuals $6.82 million

Emerald Community Kindergarten redevelopment

Memorial Garden, Blackwater

Resurface of Anakie Tennis Courts

Upgrades to Capella, Sapphire and Blackwater skate parks

Building and maintaining 

quality infrastructure

Total actuals $43.23 million

Upgrade of Willies Creek Royles Road

Blackwater rehabilitation program

Replacement of Comet pier and pump

$1.9 million resurfacing program

$4.98 million gravel resheeting program

Emerald water reservoir roof replacement

Valve and hydrant replacement program

Supporting our  

local economy

Total actuals $4.12 million

Development of Master Plan for Emerald Airport Precinct

Commencement of construction of spelling yards at Emerald 

Saleyards

New front fence and cattle grid at Emerald Saleyards

Protecting our people  

and environment

Total actuals $1.52 million

Drainage upgrade of Capella Resource Recovery Centre

Leadership and 

governance

Total actuals $0.29 million

Refresh of kiosk technology and workstations

Our organisation

Total actuals $2.92 million

$2 million plant replacement program

Council depot upgrades

Capital performance snapshot
A capital project is one that helps maintain or improve a local government asset, often called infrastructure. It’s new 

construction, expansion, renovation, or replacement of an existing facility or facilities. 

This financial year, 84% of capital projects were completed on time or ahead of schedule, with 96% of the capital budget 

spent. This equates to $58.9 million.

84.0%

CAPITAL PROJECTS COMPLETED ON TIME OR 
AHEAD OF SCHEDULE

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE TO BUDGET

49.9%

53.1%

87.8%

91.3%

99.9%

101.6%Strong vibrant communities

Building and maintaining quality infrastructure

Protecting our people and environment

Leadership and governance

Supporting our local economy

Our organisation

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE BY KEY PRIORITY AREA

Strong vibrant communities 100.0%

84.0%

83.3%

81.8%

81.3%

50.0%

Building and maintaining quality infrastructure

Protecting our people and environment

Leadership and governance

Supporting our local economy

Our organisation

CAPITAL DELIVERY BY KEY PRIORITY AREA

96.1%
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Improvements and innovations
Throughout the year, we conduct surveys, consultations, research and various other activities, such as attending conferences 

and networking events, to come up with new and improved ways of doing things: not only to save money, but to make our 

operations more efficient. This is a snapshot of some of the ideas put into practice this year by key priority area.

Strong vibrant communities
	� Adopted an amendment to the planning 

scheme allowing better floodplain 

management

	� Installed 5 new flood and camera gauges at 

Graves Hill, Sapphire, Rubyvale, Panorama 

Creek and Comet River Overflow

	� Expanded online library services and 

programs to connect with isolated residents, 

including livestreaming of First5Forever 

sessions for children aged 0-5

	� First in Australia to install 2 new playground 

products at parks in Capella and Bauhinia

Building and maintaining quality 
infrastructure
	� Installed reservoir cooling system at 

Springsure to reduce temperature of potable 

water supply

	� Successful establishment of a specialist 

project management office to improve 

delivery of capital projects and ensure a 

consistent best practice approach

	� Upgraded to a chlorine gas dosing system 

and ultraviolet disinfection system at 

Sapphire Water Treatment Plant

Supporting our local economy
	� Worked with QCN Fibre to identify suitable 

locations to connect high-capacity 

broadband to Bluff, Dingo and Duaringa

	� Successful advocacy efforts for the 

Queensland Beef Corridors campaign and 

Yamala Enterprise Area water and road 

infrastructure

Protecting our people and 
environment
	� Use of several biocontrol tactics to combat 

weeds, including releasing salvinia weevil, 

mealy bugs and the Jewel beetle

	� Released the Central Highlands Residential 

Tree Guide to help residents select the right 

drought-tolerant plants for our region

	� Rolled out the Drop20 water conservation 

campaign, encouraging locals to drop 20% of 

their water usage

	� Created interactive game, Kan’s Lost Joey,  

to help kids prepare for natural disasters

Leadership and governance
	� Partnership with local high school students 

to use drone technology for council asset 

surveys

	� Consulted on and announced senior 

leadership restructure, including introduction 

of new Chief Financial Officer position

	� Launched new Vendor Panel platform to 

streamline procurement processes

	� Worked with Royal Flying Doctor Service to 

progress plans to construct a patient transfer 

pod at Emerald Airport

	� Established agreement with banking service 

provider The Capricornian to share council 

office space in Capella

Our organisation
	� Switched to Microsoft Teams as new unified 

communications platform, allowing virtual 

council meetings

	� Deployed 2 satellite internet services at a 

remote work camp and office as part of a 

pilot connectivity program

	� Launched a new eLearning platform, 

Damstra Learning

	� Rolled out Ignite Growth and Supervisor 

Toolkit training programs for leaders

Operational performance snapshot
The annual operational plan indicates what council will do during the financial year to respond to the priorities in its long-term 

planning documents, such as the 10-year financial plan and the community plan.

Each key priority area has activities expected to be completed in that financial year. In 2021-2022, a total of 100 activities were 

recorded.

Activity by key priority area

Key priority area
Number of activity 

measures

Strong vibrant communities 18

Building and maintaining 

quality infrastructure

20

Supporting our local 

economy

13

Protecting our people and 

our environment

20

Leadership and 

governance

17

Our organisation 12

Total 100

Overall activity status

Status Activities %

COMPLETED
80 80

CARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVED
20 20

NOT PROCEEDING
0 0

Total 100

Operational achievement highlights

1,571 library 
programs, events 

and activities 
delivered

1,161 tonnes of 
kerbside recycling 

collected

89% of calls 
received resolved 

at first point of 
contact

784 impounded 
animals

120 licenced 
food premises 

inspected

80,000 cattle 
through Emerald 

Saleyards

20 exhibitions 
across our  

2 art galleries

193 planning 
applications 

decided

160,000 
passengers 

through Emerald 
Airport

101 park booking 
requests lodged

1,400 domestic 
water meters 

replaced

For more highlights and statistics, please see each key 

priority area section.

chrc.qld.gov.auCentral Highlands Regional Council Annual Report 2021-2022



2524

Spotlight on: Interactive game helps kids prepare for natural disasters 
A new online game launched by council is helping kids 

learn all about preparing for natural disasters.

The interactive experience, Kan’s Lost Joey, uses local 

landmarks, native animals and information specific to the 

region to guide children through storms, floods, fires and 

pandemics.

The game is aimed at 8 to 13-year-olds and follows Kan, 

a mother kangaroo, as she encounters different disaster 

scenarios while looking for her lost joey.

‘Engaging our youth in disaster preparedness will prompt 

discussions for rural and remote families who can use the 

skills developed playing the game to commence plans for 

these types of events,’ Coordinator Disaster Management 

and Community Resilience Glenn Bell said.

‘While designing Kan’s Lost Joey, it was important to 

include the National Strategy for Disaster Resilience 

by clearly outlining how to assess risks and reduce 

exposure and vulnerability to hazards when preparing for 

extreme events.’

Mayor Kerry Hayes said training our youth in disaster 

preparedness helps improve our region’s response when 

these situations occur.

‘As we continue living with the COVID-19 pandemic and 

head into storm and bushfire season, the better prepared 

our community is, the more resilient we will be during and 

after disasters,’ Mayor Hayes said.

After successfully implementing disaster management 

software Guardian IMS in 2019, council partnered with QIT 

Plus to bring Kan’s Lost Joey to life.

The game led to CHRC receiving a Highly Commended 

in the Australian Institute for Disaster Resilience Resilient 

Australia Awards 2021.

The game is available via council’s Emergency 
Management Dashboard.

Top media stories by reach
1. Central Queensland residents flee rising 

floodwaters for the second time in 8 months 

(Gemfields flood event, November 2021)

2. Queensland roads closed due to widespread 

flooding (Queensland flooding, January 2022)

3. Queensland mum's fight to keep son’s memorial 

at park

4. New budget to help renew old resources: Budget 

breakdown for Central Highlands Regional Council

5. Capricorn School of Distance Education: 

Department gives Emerald’s The Station and The 

Shed a passing grade for use in December 2022

6. New tower for Duaringa to benefit Bluff, Rolleston 

and Dingo internet speeds

7. Colin Boyce Scott Buchholz announce further 

funding for Bonnie Doon Springsure Tambo Rd

8. Central Highlands Australia Day Awards for 2022

9. Regional Arts Development Fund (RADF) funding 

available for arts and cultural events in Central 

Highlands

10. Central Highlands Regional Council helps 40 

isolated rural families unite at special camp site 

(Distance education) 

11. Springsure welcomes Long Drive for Drought with 

family fun day

12. Central Highlands Regional Council approves new 

Metro Petroleum service station on Capricorn 

Highway at Blackwater

Top social media posts by reach
1. Cattle on the moooove from Capella to Emerald

2. Blackwater skate park opening

3. Final trainee intake for 2022

4. Flash flooding in the Gemfields

5. April road updates

E News 
	� 1,628 subscribers

	� Average open rate 38.4%

	� Average click rate 11.3%

	� 49% viewed on desktop

	� 51% viewed on mobile

Coordinator Disaster Management and Community Resilience Glenn Bell and Emergency Services Liaison Officer Michelle Bell with their highly commended in 
the Australian Institute for Disaster Resilience Resilient Australia Awards 2021.

Campaigns/projects 
	� Drop20 water conservation campaign

	� Volunteers Week 2022

	� Light Up CH

	� Trainee and apprenticeship intake 2021

	� 2022 Australia Day Awards

	� Buy Local, Grow Local – local procurement 

campaign

	� Corporate Plan 2022-2027

	� Draft Resource Recovery (Waste Management) 

Strategy 2022-2032

	� Central Highlands Regional Council Budget  

2022-2023

Top social media posts by engagement
1. Congratulations to all our new citizens 

2. Vandalism at Lions Park, Emerald

3. Light Up CH winners – regional Christmas light 

competition

4. Australia Day award winners

5. New playgrounds in Capella and Emerald 

Public relations
The public relations and events team manages council’s 

relationship with the community and stakeholders.

The team’s objective is to use traditional and digital 

media alongside other public relations practices to 

influence behaviour change (such as cleaning up after 

a dog); inform people about the day-to-day operations 

of the council (how people’s rates are being spent); 

enhance the reputation of council (tell good news stories 

and promote achievements) and response in times 

of crisis; and explain council’s policies, decisions and 

programs (what are the rules and regulations people 

need to know).

This is a snapshot of stories, topics and campaigns that 

were popular in 2021-2022. 
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Calendar of events
July 2021 	� Many Mobs Festival in Emerald

	� NAIDOC Week celebrations in Emerald and 
Blackwater 

	� Citizenship ceremony 

	� Blackwater teen Mitchell Richards’ book 
launch

	� Blackwater Emergency Services Open Day

	� James Laws exhibition at Emerald Art Gallery 

	� Understanding Flood community information 
session at Rubyvale 

	� Farm to Fine Dining 

	� Duaringa Bullarama

	� Christmas in July markets at Capella

	� Christmas in July markets at Springsure 

	� Dingo Hogs n Dogs 

August 2021 	� National Tree Planting Day 

	� CHRC Annual Art Awards - Emerald 

	� Checkpoint Centacare CQ Botanic Gardens 

	� Vietnam Veterans’ Day 

	� Emerald Neighbourhood Centre Curry Night

	� Dingo Races 

	� Bluff/Blackwater Races 

	� Blackwater Art Society art exhibition 

	� Long Drive for the Drought family fun 
afternoon in Springsure 

	� National Recovery/Resilience Agency 
community event in Blackwater

	� Duaringa Bull Ride

	� Jeans for Genes day

	� Cotton Awards Presentation 

	� Gemfest

	� The Mixed Tape Show in Bauhinia,  
Emerald and Dingo 

September 2021 	� National Recovery/Resilience Agency 
community event in Springsure

	� National Recovery/Resilience Agency 
community event in Bauhinia 

	� Our Lady of the Sacred Heart Annual Art Show 
in Springsure

	� R U OK? Day

	� Central Highlands Business Excellence 
Awards

	� Citizenship ceremony  
(Australian Citizenship Day) 

	� S’Wonderful – A Tribute to the Ladies of the 
40s, 50s and 60s in Blackwater 

	� Music of the 60s, 70s and 80s in Dingo 

	� Springsure Races 

	� Minerva Open Day and End of an Era 
celebrations

	� Official opening of the Emerald Airport 
Redevelopment Project 

	� Comet Rodeo fundraiser for Camp Quality 

	� Capella Pioneer Village Heritage Day

	� National Police Remembrance Day 

	� Flipside Circus

October 2021 	� Emerald 100 Race Day 

	� Seniors Month Luncheon in Emerald 

	� Queensland Mental Health Week wellness 
expo in Emerald

	� A Touch of Colour exhibition opening at 
Emerald Art Gallery

	� Emerald CRG Positive Aging Forum 

	� Day for Daniel 

	� Lochington Cricket Day

	� National Water Week 

November 2021 	� LGMA Rural Management Challenge 

	� Remembrance Day 

	� Melbourne Cup Luncheon

	� Launch of Comet Book Swap and Comet Tales 
and Walking Trails 

	� Garage Sale Trail 

	� Central Highlands’ school award  
presentation nights 

	� Emerald State School Christmas Craft Fair 

	� Youth Service Providers Summit

	� CHRC Length of Service dinners 

	� National Agriculture Day 

	� AgTech21 in Emerald

	� Queensland Rugby Union Reds to Regions 

December 2021 	� Light Up Central Highlands competition 

	� School community spirit award presentations

	� Emerald Rotary Club Carols by Candlelight 

	� CHRC Length of Service dinners 

	� Emerald Neighbourhood Centre Linking 
Alms Appeal 

	� Emerald State High School’s exhibition  
One Story Isn’t Enough opening at Emerald  
Art Gallery

	� Central Highlands’ school award 
presentation nights 

	� CHRC staff Christmas parties 

	� Blackwater Sister City student exchange 

	� Visitor Information Centre volunteers 
Christmas lunch 

	� Blackwater skate park official opening 

January 2022 	� Australia Day online award ceremonies 	� Citizenship ceremony 

March 2022 	� CHDC compliance board tour, lunch  
and dinner 

	� CHDC Economic Futures Forum 

	� Springsure Race Day 

	� Pink Stumps Day in Emerald

	� Emerald Country Hoedown 

April 2022 	� Closing celebration for Elena Churilova’s 
exhibition at Emerald Art Gallery 

	� Emerald Headspace opening 

	� Central Highlands Easter Sunflower Festival 

	� Easter Race Day 

	� Easter Rodeo 

	� CHRC Annual Art Awards - Springsure closing 
celebration 

	� Pop up Polo in Emerald 

	� ANZAC Day celebrations 

	� Have a Go – Community Connection event in 
the Gemfields 

	� Healthy Active Highlanders program

May 2022 	� Domestic and Family Violence  
Prevention Month 

	� Annual Mayoral Student Leaders Summit in 
Blackwater 

	� Positive Mental Health presentation in Emerald 
and Springsure

	� Exhibition opening of Camille Swallow’s Feel 
My Footprints at Emerald Art Gallery

	� Central Highlands Festival of Bands by St 
Patricks’ Primary School 

	� Springsure Mountain Challenge 

	� Camerata Queensland’s Chamber Orchestra 
with Emerald school students

	� Comet Regional Show

	� Capella Regional Show 

	� Fairbairn Dam 50th Year Anniversary 
celebrations

	� Springsure Regional Show 

	� Blackwater International Coal CH Stories 
Luncheon 

	� Noosa Films Academy Red Carpet Community 
Screening

	� National Volunteer Week 

	� Shitbox Rally 

	� National Reconciliation Week

	� Emerald Regional Show

June 2022 	� Emerald Regional Show

	� Queensland Day parkrun take-over and 
barbecue 

	� Citizenship ceremony 

	� Ag-Grow Field Days 2022

	� NAIDOC Week celebrations in Springsure 

	� CHRC Youth Art Awards opening and award 
presentation in Emerald

chrc.qld.gov.auCentral Highlands Regional Council Annual Report 2021-2022



2928

Awards and recognition
A list of awards and accolades we were proud to receive in 

2021-2022.

	� June 2022: Public relations and events team received 

the award for Best Social Media Campaign at the LGAQ’s 

(Local Government Association of Queensland) LGx 

conference.

	� April 2022: Infrastructure team members recognised for 

deployment to Brisbane City Council area to assist with 

February flood clean-up. 

	� January 2022: Emerald Airport was named Australia’s 

Large Regional Airport of the Year at the AAA National 

Airport Industry Awards 2021. 

	� December 2021: Manager for Connected Communities, 

Suzanne Poulter, was nominated as an LGAQ 2021 

Community Champion. 

	� October 2021: We received a highly commended in 

the Local Government Award category of the Australian 

Institute for Disaster Resilience Australia Awards 2021 for 

the online interactive experience Kan’s Lost Joey (see 

more on page 24). 

	� September 2021: Received silver in the Australasian 

Reporting Awards for the 2020-2021 CHRC annual report. 

	� August 2021: Infrastructure and utilities team nominated 

for an Excellence Award by Institute of Public Works 

Engineering Australasia (IPWEA) for our asset condition 

inspection program. 

	� July 2021: Cleo Barraclough, former asset management 

trainee and now business support analyst, was a state 

finalist in the Queensland Training Awards Bob Marshman 

Trainee of the Year.

Airport staff are recognised for their award by Mayor Kerry Hayes and General Manager Customer and Commercial Services Michelle Webster at a 
general council meeting.

Acting CEO Michael Parker with our silver award in the Australasian 
Reporting Awards 2021.

Council public relations officers pictured with the Best Social Media Campaign award at the LGx conference.
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Wurba Road, Minerva. 
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Australia Day Award Winners
Due to COVID-19 restrictions, the Australia Day award presentations went online for the first time, premiering on council’s 

YouTube Channel on 26 January 2022.

While not the same as our in-person celebrations, the virtual solution allowed people to tune in from anywhere and 

acknowledge our award recipients.

Volunteers
Volunteering has always played a large in the 

Central Highlands, and this year was no different. 

In 2021-2022, volunteers across the Central 

Highlands offered their time and commitment to 

many community programs and events. 

During National Volunteer Week 2022, we were 

proud to feature several local volunteers on our 

Facebook page and recognise their community 

commitment. From a year 6 student who 

volunteers every Sunday at the Sapphire markets, 

to a Comet resident of over 60 years who shares 

the region's rich history, volunteers are a vital part 

of our community. 

Some of the events and programs that local 

volunteers are involved with include:  

	� Queensland Seniors Month 

	� Australia Day

	� NAIDOC celebrations

	� State Emergency Service (SES)

	� National Tree Day

	� Youth Week

	� Healthy Active Highlanders

	� Arts around August

	� Central Highlands Arts and Cultural Advisory 

Committee (CHACAC)

	� Sports and Active Recreation Advisory Group

	� Central Highlands Easter Sunflower Festival 

	� Queensland Day Park Run 

All our volunteers receive a briefing about 

council’s expectations and their rights and 

responsibilities as volunteers, including health and 

safety requirements and code of conduct training. 

We recognised the contributions of all the 

region's unsung heroes through events and 

programs including:

	� National Volunteer Week celebrations

	� appreciation gifts

	� Australia Day Awards

	� community grants program

	� donations and sponsorship

	� access to clubCOACH resources for sport and 

recreation organisations.

Spotlight ON: Giving back makes 
Anakie student proud 
Amber Paulson proudly stands next to several bags of 

garbage she’s collected in her town of Anakie. 

Amber, a year 6 student and captain at Anakie State School, 

is forging the path for youth volunteerism in the Central 

Highlands. 

‘I love seeing my town clean and tidy,’ says Amber. 

‘It makes me feel so proud.’

Aside from her commitment to pick up rubbish,  

Amber also volunteers with her mum every Sunday at the 

Sapphire markets. 

‘I sell raffle tickets, chocolates and lucky number boards to 

fundraise for my school and the parents and citizens’ (P&C) 

association,’ says Amber. 

‘I love the warm fuzzy feeling you get in your stomach when 

you help others.

'I think volunteering is such a fun and positive thing to do and 

it makes me feel like a valued member of my community.’

Amber was a featured volunteer in council’s National 

Volunteer Week Facebook campaign for 2022, which 

received an award for best social media campaign at the 

LGAQ LGx conference. 

New citizenS

Emerald/Gemfields Blackwater/Duaringa Springsure/Rolleston Capella/Tieri

Community Event of 

the Year

Grease Musical, Emerald 

State High School

Dingo Race Day and 

World Trap Throwing

Rolleston State School 

150th Celebration

No nominees

Cultural Award No nominees Blackwater Golf Club St Peter’s Anglican 

Guild

Maureen Burns

Junior Sportsperson Gabi Williams Callum Denman Clancy Shrimp Ainsley Tasker

Senior Sportsperson/

Administrator

Andrew Finlay Kate Peters Springsure Cattle 

Camp Committee

Larinda Hill

Young Citizen of the 

Year

Madison Iles Duncan Head Chloe Pierce No nominees

Citizen of the Year Geoffrey Kavanagh Susan Olive Tiarni Ritchings Jill Francis

WHERE THEY CAME FROM:

India 25

1 Iraq

United Kingdom 6
1 Estonia

Myanmar 1

 1 Papua New Guinea

7 South Africa

2 Zimbabwe

1 Columbia

New Zealand 10

Fiji 3

Ireland 6

United States 3

Canada 2

Sri Lanka 4

22 Philippines
4 Thailand

3 Vietnam

2 Taiwan

1 Russia1 Denmark

School student Amber Paulson voluntarily 
picks up rubbish to keep her town tidy.

After a few quiet years due to COVID-19 impacts, the Central 

Highlands welcomed a record 106 new citizens in 2021-2022.
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Disaster management and preparedness
Council’s disaster management and community resilience 

team, assisted by all council areas, has undertaken and 

finalised many prevention, preparedness, response and 

recovery operations throughout 2021-2022.

Prevention
	� The final design for an excavated channel solution 

downstream of the Capricorn Highway at Bluff was 

completed.

	� Consultants were engaged to update the lower 

Mackenzie River flood model with high resolution Surat 

Basin terrain data, and to update the design flood event 

outputs. The updated model will investigate any impacts 

the proposed Rookwood Weir will have on flood extents.

	� Another automated river gauge and infrared camera was 

installed at Graves Hill at the Gemfields, adding to our 

network of cameras located at Sapphire, Panorama Creek 

(Dawson Highway) and Comet River Overflow (Carnarvon 

Highway). The cameras feed real-time visuals directly to 

our Emergency Management Dashboard and allow for 

more accurate advice and action during weather events.

	� A number of improvements were made to our early 

warning network, which includes rain gauges, river 

gauges and cameras.

	� Telstra/Simoco were engaged to design and construct 

a Digital Tier III Private Mobile Radio (PMR) solution 

for council, which will form an arm of our operational 

communication systems. It will ensure our mobile 

workforce is able to communicate efficiently during 

normal day-to-day operations and during times of 

disaster when cellular and other communication channels 

may be compromised.

	� We supported an annual coordinated agency operation 

called Cool Burn, which sees a range of government and 

community organisations work together to protect the 

community from bushfire risks.

Preparedness
	� The Local Disaster Management Plan was reviewed 

to align with the Emergency Management Assurance 

Framework, standards and revised guidelines. It was 

endorsed by the Local Disaster Management Group 

(LDMG) on 8 June 2022.

	� After securing external funding from the state and 

federal government, an evacuation route planning project 

commenced in August 2021. It is due to be completed by 

June 2023.

	� Council worked with external provider QIT Plus to 

upgrade our Emergency Management Dashboard to a 

new content management system.

	� The Central Highlands SES Unit was awared Unit of the 

Year for the Central Region at the SES Week Awards 

ceremony in Rockhampton, along with 3 volunteers who 

received SES Week certificates.

Response
	� Our disaster management team have continued to 

provide advice and support to state agencies and 

council’s internal crisis management and incident 

response teams regarding COVID-19.

	� The LDMG and the Human and Social Recovery Group 

(HSRG) provided assistance to impacted residents 

following a flash flood event in the Gemfields on 25 

November 2021. 

	� The LDMG was stood up on 9 May 2022 in response to a 

predicted severe weather event in the Central Highlands. 

As a precaution, SES floodboat crews were deployed 

from Rockhampton to the Gemfields and 2 Queensland 

Fire and Emergency Services (QFES) swift water teams 

were positioned in Emerald. However the event did not 

result in any emergency response and the LDMG was 

stood down on 11 May 2022.

	� Our local disaster coordinator and 3 Central Highlands 

SES volunteers were deployed to Gympie in March 2022 

to assist with the response following severe weather 

and flooding. The coordinator was also deployed to 

Newcastle to support disaster recovery operations.

Recovery
	� The LDMG and HSRG held a debrief with the Gemfields 

community in December 2021 following the November 

flash flooding event.

	� Under the Queensland Government Mental Health 

and Wellbeing Initiative, the following activities were 

delivered.

– 2 Seniors Neighbourhood Connect activities with 115 

partipants from 8 communities

– 120 patient packs were delivered to 3 hopsital 

emergency departments

– 8 participants attended a Conversations for Life 

workshop

– Have a Go – Community Connections event was held 

in Rubyvale in April 2022 (see more on page 70)

– Mountain Magic Creative Muster delivered 24 artistic 

workshops over 2 days with 100 participants

	� Council staff, HSRG members and community leaders 

completed Red Cross and QFES training. 

	� The Red Cross also held disaster recovery training in the 

Gemfields in June 2022 to build local capacity.

Local Disaster Management Group members meet at the Local Disaster Coordination Centre in Emerald.
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The mayor and councillors at the Emerald council office.

Our council
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HOW COUNCIL WORKS

The community elects the councillors and mayor 

and provides input through the community 

plan and consultations to determine the 

region’s priorities.

The audit committee 

provides an independent 

external review of our 

governance, financials and 

internal control framework.

Council establishes  

operational and strategic 

priorities that align with the 

community plan, corporate plan 

and operational plan.

The Australian 

and Queensland 

governments provide 

authority to council 

under the Local 

Government Act 2009 

and endow funding for 

various programs.

Governance 

principles.

The CEO and executive leadership 

team drive the business of council and 

offer councillors advice.

Kerry Hayes
MAYOR

Mayor Kerry Hayes served as a 

councillor on the Emerald Shire Council 

from 1997 to 2008 and then on the 

Central Highlands Regional Council 

from 2008 to 2012. He was elected 

as mayor in 2016 and re-elected 

unopposed in 2020.

He has owned and operated the 

Emerald Land and Cattle Company for 

over 30 years. 

Throughout his career, he has provided 

his management and agriculture skills 

to many committees and advisory 

groups, from saleyards and vegetation 

to town and disaster management. 

Mayor Hayes chairs the Queensland 

Beef Corridors advocacy group, the 

Central Highlands Development 

Corporation (CHDC), the Central 

Highlands Accelerate Agriculture 

Advisory Group, the Central Highlands 

(Qld) Housing Company and the LDMG.

Regionally, he has served as chair 

of the Central Queensland Regional 

Organisation of Councils (CQROC) and 

as a representative on the LGAQ’s 

Economic Development Advisory 

Group.

E: mayor@chrc.qld.gov.au

P: 0438 828 335

Christine Rolfe
DEPUTY MAYOR

Deputy Mayor Christine Rolfe is serving 

her second term with council and is 

thrilled to hold the position of deputy 

mayor – an achievement she ranks as a 

career highlight.

Deputy Mayor Rolfe moved to 

the Central Highlands region with 

her family in the early 1960s. A 

business owner, she is director of 

Birrong Grazing Company. She is a 

graduate of the Australian Institute 

of Company Directors (AICD) and 

holds qualifications in rural business 

management and agriculture.

She is passionate about making a 

positive difference to the region, in 

particular, exploring opportunities for 

economic growth.

Her achievements include serving 

as vice president/treasurer of 

state farming organisation AgForce 

Queensland and vice president of the 

National Farmers Federation.

E: crolfe@chrc.qld.gov.au 

P: 0438 444 618

Charlie Brimblecombe

Cr Charles (Charlie) Brimblecombe is 

serving his third term with council. 

An irrigation, dry land and grazing 

farmer, Cr Brimblecombe has called 

the Central Highlands home for more 

than 40 years. 

He is a first officer with Boolburra 

Rural Fire Brigade and a member 

of the Duaringa SES. He is also an 

instructor and president for the  

Traditional Shotokan Karate Federation 

Rockhampton and vice-president of the 

Traditional Shotokan Karate Federation 

Queensland. 

Cr Brimblecombe is a member of the 

Central Highlands Arts and Cultural 

Advisory Committee (CHACAC), CHDC 

Tourism Advisory Panel and the LGAQ's 

Water and Wastewater Management 

Advisory Group. 

He is proud of his community 

engagement contribution, particularly 

in the smaller communities, and has 

a strong interest in efficient, strategic 

asset management.

E: cbrimblecombe@chrc.qld.gov.au
P: 0417 758 819

Councillors and mayor

The Central Highlands 

Development Corporation 

manages the economic 

and tourism facets of the 

local government area. 

Board members comprise 

of councillors, the CEO and 

independent directors.

chrc.qld.gov.auCentral Highlands Regional Council Annual Report 2021-2022

mailto:crolfe@chrc.qld.gov.au


4140

Joseph Burns

Cr Joseph Burns is serving his first term 

with council. 

Born and raised in Emerald, Joseph has 

lived in the region for 37 years.

Cr Burns works in a supervisory/

trainer assessor role for Wolff Mining at 

Coronado Curragh Mine, Blackwater. 

Career highlights include studying law 

at James Cook University, his role as 

supervisor of Dozer Push Operations 

and being one of the first in Australia to 

learn and operate the Caterpillar Semi-

Autonomous Tracked Systems (dozers).

Cr Burns is chair of the Emerald 

Saleyards Coordination Committee and 

sits on the Emerald Airport Advisory 

Committee, the Central Highlands 

Community Grants Panel, CHACAC and 

the Central Highlands Resource Use 

Planning Project (CHRUPP).

E: jburns@chrc.qld.gov.au

P: 0419 017 968

Anne Carpenter

Cr Anne Carpenter is serving her first 

term in council.

She is passionate about her community 

and ensuring residents are well-

informed about what is going on in 

the area. She is especially interested 

in encouraging smaller communities 

to establish, promote and retain their 

unique identity. 

Cr Carpenter has lived in the Central 

Highlands region her whole life and 

now calls Springsure her home. 

She is currently chair of the Sport and 

Active Recreation Advisory Group. 

She hopes to achieve better childcare 

services in Springsure. 

E: acarpenter@chrc.qld.gov.au

P: 0418 870 985

Natalie Curtis

Cr Natalie Curtis is serving her first term 

with council. 

She has lived in the Central Highlands 

region for 26 years and is looking 

forward to using her expertise to 

improve the region’s liveability now and 

into the future.

Cr Curtis runs her own real estate 

business. She loves what she does 

and rates starting her own business 

and working for herself as a career 

highlight.

She has a Certificate IV in Real Estate 

and a Certificate IV in Agricultural 

Production.

Cr Curtis enjoys volunteering for 

the Queensland Country Women’s 

Association Capella Branch.

E: ncurtis@chrc.qld.gov.au

P: 0418 431 727

Megan Daniels

Cr Megan Daniels is serving her second 

term with council.

Cr Daniels holds a Bachelor of Business 

– Agriculture and is a graduate of 

the AICD.

She owns a cattle grazing business 

at Comet.

A long-term resident of the Central 

Highlands region, Cr Daniels has also 

lived and worked overseas and across 

the state.

Cr Daniels is passionate about her 

role with council and rates becoming 

a councillor and working with the 

community as a career highlight.

She is an active volunteer and donates 

her time and expertise to many 

organisations.

Cr Daniels is currently on the board 

of CHDC. 

E: mdaniels@chrc.qld.gov.au

P: 0436 629 053

Janice Moriarty

Cr Janice Moriarty is serving her first 

term with council.

She has lived in the region for almost 

28 years and runs her own small 

consultant business, specialising in 

community/social development and 

research projects.

Cr Moriarty’s career highlights include 

working at Central Queensland 

University Emerald campus, 

CHDC, the former Department of 

State Development, Trade and 

Innovation and Central Highlands 

Regional Council.

She has a Bachelor of Arts and Master 

of Business Administration.

Cr Moriarty is an Associate Fellow of 

the Institute of Managers and Leaders 

and a graduate of AICD.

Her greatest achievement is raising 

her 3 children and she is proud her 

grandchildren are fifth-generation 

Moriartys living in Emerald.

Cr Moriarty has worked with many 

volunteers over the years in sporting, 

school, church and community groups.

E: j.moriarty@chrc.qld.gov.au

P: 0418 145 317

 Gai Sypher

Cr Sypher is serving her third term 

with council. 

She believes it is a privilege to serve 

her communities and works diligently to 

listen, respond and achieve.

She has always had a strong focus on 

tourism and is an active participant on 

CHDC’s Tourism Advisory Committee. 

Cr Sypher is chair of CHACAC and is 

passionate about the heritage of the 

region. Over the past year, in partnership 

with the Queensland Museum, she has 

coordinated a heritage project that has 

seen 5 historical groups receive training 

and support.

She has a Bachelor of Arts with majors 

in Sociological Welfare and Aboriginal 

Studies, as well as a Master of 

Management (Human Resources). She 

is an experienced grant writer and works 

closely with her community to support 

them to grow and thrive. 

She enjoyed an 18-year career with 

Central Queensland University as an 

executive manager – an achievement 

she rates as a career highlight.

E: gsypher@chrc.qld.gov.au

P: 0499 322 121
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Councillor meeting attendance

General meeting

Mayor Kerry Hayes 22

Deputy Mayor Christine Rolfe 23

Cr Charlie Brimblecombe 22

Cr Joseph Burns 20

Cr Anne Carpenter 22

Cr Natalie Curtis 20

Cr Megan Daniels 18

Cr Janice Moriarty 16

Cr Gai Sypher 20

The mayor, councillors and council staff at a general council meeting in March 2022.
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Regional collaboration
Councillors and executive staff value the opportunity to represent council’s position on various issues and to add the Central 

Highlands’ perspective to the regional conversation.

This is a list of the groups and committees they met with during 2021-2022.

Group Representative(s)

Central Queensland Regional Organisation of Councils (CQROC) Mayor Kerry Hayes

Deputy Mayor Christine Rolfe

CEO Sharon Houlihan

Central Queensland Senior Officers Network Jason Hoolihan, General Manager 

Infrastructure and Utilities 

Central Queensland Region Engagement Committee Suzanne Poulter, Manager 

Connected Communities

LGAQ Climate Risk Management and Resilience Advisory Group Cr Megan Daniels

LGAQ Natural Assets and Natural Resource Management Advisory Group Cr Natalie Curtis

LGAQ Planning and Development Advisory Group Cr Janice Moriarty

LGAQ Regional Economic Development Advisory Group Mayor Kerry Hayes

LGAQ Roads and Transport Advisory Group Deputy Mayor Christine Rolfe

LGAQ Waste Management and Resource Recovery Advisory Group Cr Megan Daniels

LGAQ Water and Sewerage Advisory Group Cr Charlie Brimblecombe

Central Highlands Accelerate Agribusiness (CHAA) Mayor Kerry Hayes

Bowen Basin Regional Roads and Transport Group Mayor Kerry Hayes

Deputy Mayor Christine Rolfe (chair)

CEO Sharon Houlihan

Reef Guardian Executive Cr Megan Daniels

Cr Charlie Brimblecombe

Central Queensland Regional Waste Management and Resource Recovery 

Infrastructure Plan Working Group

Cr Megan Daniels

Cr Charlie Brimblecombe  

(as alternative)

Queensland Beef Corridors Steering Group Mayor Kerry Hayes

CEO Sharon Houlihan

Representing our region
Event Attendee(s)

Qldwater Annual Forum 

7 - 9 September 2021

Brisbane

Cr Charlie Brimblecombe

LGAQ Waste Forum

28 – 29 September 2021

Brisbane

Cr Megan Daniels 

LGAQ Annual Conference

25 – 27 October 2021

Mackay

Mayor Kerry Hayes

Deputy Mayor Christine Rolfe

Cr Charlie Brimblecombe

Cr Anne Carpenter

Cr Megan Daniels

LGAQ Natural Resources Forum

4 May 2022

Emerald

Deputy Mayor Christine Rolfe

Cr Anne Carpenter

Cr Charlie Brimblecombe

Cr Megan Daniels

Australian Local Government Association (ALGA) National General 

Assembly

19 – 22 June 2022

Canberra

Mayor Kerry Hayes

Deputy Mayor Christine Rolfe

Cr Joseph Burns

CEO Sharon Houlihan

LGAQ Civic Leaders Summit

29 – 30 June 2022

Sunshine Coast

Mayor Kerry Hayes

Deputy Mayor Christine Rolfe

CEO Sharon Houlihan

Mayor Kerry Hayes (far right) with other mayors from CQROC and former Deputy Prime Minister Barnaby Joyce 
at a funding announcement for the Queensland Beef Corridors campaign.
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Advisory committees
External and internal boards/committees Councillor representative(s)

Audit Committee Deputy Mayor Christine Rolfe

Cr Janice Moriarty

Emerald Airport Advisory Committee Mayor Kerry Hayes

Cr Gai Sypher

Cr Jospeh Burns

Blackwater Community Advisory Network Group Cr Janice Moriarty

Blackwater International Coal Centre Board Cr Natalie Curtis

Cr Charlie Brimblecombe (alternate)

CHACAC/Regional Arts Development Fund (RADF) Cr Gai Sypher

Cr Charlie Brimblecombe

Cr Joseph Burns (alternate)

Central Highlands Community Grants Panel Cr Janice Moriarty

Cr Joseph Burns

Central Highlands Resource Use Planning Project (CHRRUP) Cr Janice Moriarty

Cr Joseph Burns (alternate)

Central Highlands Sport and Recreation Advisory Group Cr Anne Carpenter (chair)

Cr Charlie Brimblecombe

Cr Gai Sypher

Community Reference Group (CRG) – Arcadia Valley Cr Joseph Burns

Cr Megan Daniels

CRG – Bauhinia Cr Gai Sypher

Cr Charlie Brimblecombe

CRG – Blackwater Cr Charlie Brimblecombe

Cr Janice Moriarty

CRG – Bluff Cr Janice Moriarty

Cr Charlie Brimblecombe

CRG – Capella Cr Natalie Curtis

Cr Gai Sypher

CRG – Comet Cr Megan Daniels

Cr Anne Carpenter

External and internal boards/committees Councillor representative(s)

CRG – Dingo Cr Charlie Brimblecombe

Cr Anne Carpenter

CRG – Duaringa Cr Charlie Brimblecombe

Cr Anne Carpenter

CRG – Emerald Cr Janice Moriarty

Deputy Mayor Christine Rolfe

Cr Joseph Burns

Cr Megan Daniels

CRG – Gemfields Cr Megan Daniels

Cr Natalie Curtis

CRG – Rolleston Cr Anne Carpenter

Deputy Mayor Christine Rolfe

CRG – Springsure Cr Anne Carpenter

Deputy Mayor Christine Rolfe

CRG – Tieri Cr Gai Sypher

Cr Natalie Curtis

Emerald Saleyards Committee Cr Anne Carpenter

Cr Natalie Curtis

Cr Joseph Burns

Local Buying Foundation Advisory Group Cr Gai Sypher

Springsure and Rolleston Community Advisory Network Committee Deputy Mayor Christine Rolfe

Tourism Advisory Panel Cr Gai Sypher

Cr Charlie Brimblecombe

(plus CHDC board members Deputy Mayor 

Christine Rolfe and Cr Megan Daniels)

Central Highlands Natural Spaces Advisory Group Cr Janice Moriarty (chair)

Cr Megan Daniels

Cr Charlie Brimblecombe

Central Highlands Gemfields Planning Study Project Steering Group Mayor Kerry Hayes

Cr Megan Daniels

Cr Janice Moriarty

Central Highlands Gemfields Planning Study Community and Engagement 

Stakeholder Project Reference Group

Cr Gai Sypher

Deputy Mayor Christine Rolfe
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Engagement and collaboration
Council engages with the Central Highlands community 

using a variety of methods. Established practices include 

meeting with Community Reference Groups (CRGs) 

and holding community consultations, which provide 

opportunities for people to connect with councillors and 

council staff. 

Have Your Say, Central Highlands 
During the 2021-2022 financial year, council’s online 

engagement platform Have Your Say, Central Highlands  

had 9,480 visits. A total of 1,518 people utilised the platform 

to engage on council projects during this year. 

In 2022, the environment and waste team consulted with 

the community on the draft Resource Recovery (Waste 

Management) Strategy to collect community feedback.  

This engagement involved an online component (survey 

through Have Your Say, Central Highlands) and a face-to-

face component (11 drop-in sessions across the region). 

Paper copies of the survey were also available at council 

offices, transaction centres and libraries. A total of 225 

responses were received for this consultation with 409 views 

of the project page.

Other popular projects this year were Central Highlands 

Water Security Project and the Council News Delivery 

Survey. Findings from these surveys are being considered by 

the appropriate departments to inform future planning and 

decision-making.

Special project engagement
Following targeted stakeholder engagement regarding the 

development of our new corporate plan in 2020-2021, further 

broad-based consultation occured this financial year with 

community and staff.

In May 2022, we commenced work with the state 

government to inform the Gemfields Planning Study. 

Recognising the uniqueness of this area, we took a 

new approach that reflected local knowledge as expert 

knowledge. A tailored governance method was established 

made up of a project steering group and a community and 

stakeholder project reference group (PRG). A first for the 

region, the PRG have been working collaboratively with 

council to provide insights and inform the best approach 

for the study going forward. The study is expected to take 

around 12 months to complete.

Interagency networks
Interagency networks have continued to connect service 

providers operating in the Central Highlands, with networks 

for Emerald and Blackwater. The networks include 

members from government, not-for-profit, health, youth, 

senior, Indigenous, disability and other community service 

organisations. This information-sharing network creates 

opportunity for service providers to gather and exchange 

essential information or information for community benefit. 

This information is exchanged during the 10 meetings held 

each year and email correspondence. 

Seniors Month 
In 2021, CHRC held the annual Seniors Luncheon in Emerald 

on 12 October. The luncheon was thoroughly enjoyed with 

entertainment for the more than 200 people in attendance. 

Seniors unable to attend the luncheon could register for a 

gift bag to be delivered to their home. Six-hundred gift bags 

were prepared and delivered across all corners of the region 

with assistance from councillors. 

Over the month of October, activities were also held in each 

library branch across the region to bring seniors together and 

provide the opportunity to connect over a cuppa and craft 

activities.

Community Reference Groups

CRG meetings continued as normal for the second half of 

2021. In early 2022, the groups adapted due to an increased 

risk of COVID-19 transmission in the region. As a result of this, 

in quarter one 2022, 2 meetings were held online, 4 cancelled 

and 5 were held face-to-face with social distancing 

measures in place. Where possible, face-to-face meetings 

also had a dial-in option for those who wished to join online. 

Quarter 2 meetings in 2022 resumed to face-to-face, with 

dial-in options in some communities. 

A number of sub-committees have been formed to progress 

projects of importance to various CRGs, including Ageing 

in Our Place in Blackwater, Positive Ageing Group Emerald, 

Gemfields Community Event Planning Committee and the 

Tieri 40th birthday planning group. 

Facebook events and posters have been created to promote 

the CRG meetings to the broader community and encourage 

new members. The meeting minutes are shared on the Have 

Your Say, Central Highlands website for the public to access.

Councillor remuneration 

Name of councillor  Allowances  Superannuation Total remuneration 

 $  $  $ 

Mayor Kerry Hayes 133,196.09 16,956.99 150,153.08

Deputy Mayor Christine Rolfe 83,247.12 10,597.94 93,845.06

Cr Charlie Brimblecombe 70,759.00 9,008.13 79,767.13

Cr Joseph Burns 70,759.00 9,008.13 79,767.13

Cr Anne Carpenter 70,759.00 9,008.13 79,767.13

Cr Natalie Curtis 70,759.00 9,008.13 79,767.13

Cr Megan Daniels 70,759.00 9,008.13 79,767.13

Cr Janice Moriarty 70,759.00 9,008.13 79,767.13

Cr Gai Sypher 70,759.00 9,008.13 79,767.13

TOTAL 711,756.21 90,611.84 802,368.05

Councillor other expenses

Name of councillor Travel, 
accommodation and 
meal costs (includes 

deputations and 
hospitality) 

Seminar, 
conference 
and course 

fees 

Mobile 
devices and 

miscellaneous 
accessories

Miscellaneous 
expenses

Total other 
expenses 

Pool vehicle 
access 

available

Vehicle 
allocated for 

exclusive use

 $  $  $  $ 

Mayor Kerry Hayes 10,015.34 5,134.53 1,215.29 795.34 17,160.50 Yes

Deputy Mayor Christine Rolfe 7,580.10 4,447.91 1,226.61 - 13,254.62 Yes

Cr Charlie Brimblecombe 2,483.38 3,159.34 552.36 - 6,195.08 Yes

Cr Joseph Burns 3,176.23 2,103.89 977.71 - 6,257.83 Yes

Cr Anne Carpenter 1,017.86 4,290.17 977.71 - 6,285.74 Yes

Cr Natalie Curtis 371.04 2,276.52 977.71 - 3,625.27 Yes

Cr Megan Daniels 1,958.45 2,781.21 1,321.72 - 6,061.38 Yes

Cr Janice Moriarty 156.98 1,119.79 736.06 - 2,012.83 Yes

Cr Gai Sypher 661.87 1,224.34 874.15 - 2,760.36 Yes

TOTAL 27,421.25 26,537.70 8,859.32 795.34 63,613.61
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CRG identified priorities 

Arcadia 

Valley

Improvements to Mulcahys Road and 

Arcadia Valley Road

Air strip for Flying Doctors

Telecommunications

Biosecurity

Bauhinia Community hall upgrades

Tennis court upgrades

Swimming pool advocacy

Skate park advocacy

Blackwater Bedford Weir beautification

Continuation of the community newsletter 

Blackwater Banter

Aging in our place, project for age care 

facilities in Blackwater

Road safety for parking at Blackwater North 

State School 

Road maintenance program 

Lions Park area development including 

community garden and community hub

Bluff Shade over skate park

Main street beautification

Flood mitigation implementation

Ohl Park watering system 

Rural addressing improvements 

Capella Water security

Photography exhibition

Capella Cultural Centre maintenance and 

upgrades

Closed Circuit Television (CCTV) advocacy

Repair of showgrounds fence

Comet Comet beautification planning

Recreational vehicle (RV) facility 

improvement 

Advocacy for a turning apron at Capricorn 

Highway – Olive Vale Road turn-off

Over the last financial year, the community development and engagement team supported 48 CRG meetings.

Number of CRG meetings held in each townDingo Dingo Cemetery beautification

Beautification of Normanby Street

Dingo Hall access to toilet 

Lifestyle blocks town planning allowance

School bus stop route signage 

improvement

Electric car charging station 

Promoting the library and museum

Duaringa Rural road maintenance

Waste facility operations

Flying fox and bat impact mitigation 

Creating new geocaches 

Emerald Engaging local youth

Health care services

Positive Ageing Group Emerald (PAGE)

Winter wonderland project

Gemfields Gemfields beautification planning

Anakie 10,000 Steps project

Advocacy for toilet facilities between the 

Gemfields and Emerald 

Signage installation and upgrades

Willows water security

Willows dump point advocacy

Visiting dietitian 

Springsure Springsure streetscape 

Springsure childcare project

Rail trail

Mountain bike track

Aquatic centre improvements including 

heated pool

Rolleston Photographic art boards project

Pedestrian crossing from school to 

transaction centre

Road safety from school to Beazley Park

Street beautification project

Tieri Footpath advocacy

Youth group 

Tieri 40th birthday event

Advocacy for basketball courts 

4 Arcadia Valley 3 Bluff4 Blackwater3 Bauhinia

4 Capella 4 Emerald3 Duaringa4 Dingo4 Comet

4 Springsure 4 Rolleston 4 Tieri3 Gemfields

Location Date

Willows Gemfields and Bogantungan 7 July 2021

Clermont-Rubyvale Rd and Rubyvale 8 July 2021

Gindie and Fernlees 20 July 2021

Comet and Yamala 2 Aug 2021

Lochington 17 Aug 2021

Rolleston, Carnarvon Gorge,  

Toprain and Arcadia Valley

31 Aug 2021

Duaringa and Bluff 2 Sept 2021

Emerald 8 Sept 2021

Dingo 10 Sept 2021

Location Date

Tieri 13 Sept 2021

Bauhinia 16 Sept 2021

Emerald (North) 14 Oct 2021

Springsure 20 Oct 2021

Emerald (South) 28 Oct 2021

Bauhinia and Duaringa 1 March 2022

Buckland/Tresswell 16 March 2022

Blackwater 25 May 2022

Dingo and Bluff 9 June 2022

Councillor community consultations
Each year, councillors and senior employees travel throughout the region to meet face-to-face with people where they live, 

work and play. In 2021-2022, consultations were held at:

The mayor, councillors and council staff at a consultation with Orion locals.
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Asset and Maintenance Officer Kris Stefaniuk on the job.

Our organisation

chrc.qld.gov.auCentral Highlands Regional Council Annual Report 2021-2022



5554

Michael Parker PSM

ACTING CEO

(UNTIL NOVEMBER 2021)

After 2 years of lending his extensive 

local government experience to 

council’s projects in the infrastructure 

and utilities space, Michael re-joined 

the executive leadership team as 

acting CEO in June 2021.

Michael has undertaken management 

positions in central and southern 

Queensland councils over the past 20 

years and, early in his senior leadership 

experience, was deputy CEO with the 

Peak Downs Shire Council at Capella.

Michael has also worked and lived 

in Duaringa whilst with the former 

Duaringa Shire Council. 

Sharon Houlihan

CEO

(COMMENCED NOVEMBER 2021)

Sharon commenced her career with 

Stonnington City Council, Victoria in 

1994. Her early work as a building 

surveyor spanned 10 years in local 

government and private sectors 

including establishing her own practice. 

Sharon joined the Victorian public 

service in 2002 and in 2014 she 

re-entered local government at 

Wellington Shire Council.

She has worked in a variety of roles 

and departments such as building fire 

safety, human resources management, 

corporate services, ministerial liaison, 

policy and planning, information 

technology, community engagement 

and development, regional economic 

development, capital delivery, sport 

and leisure services, emergency 

management, arts and culture and 

facilities management.

Sharon holds tertiary qualifications 

in building surveying, fire safety 

and risk engineering, organisational 

development and a Master of Business 

Administration. She has also held 

numerous board positions including 

as a member of the Victorian Building 

Appeals Board.

Sharon became CEO at CHRC in 

November 2021, moving to Central 

Queensland with her husband. She 

is passionate about the role local 

government plays in communities 

across Australia.

John McDougall

GENERAL MANAGER COMMUNITIES

John joined council in December 2019 

after 4 years with Banana Shire Council 

where he fulfilled several director roles.

He has 16 years local government 

experience in both large coastal and 

small regional organisations and also 

held a senior management role in the 

mining industry for 5 years.

His communities department portfolio 

includes connected communities, 

planning and environment, public 

relations and events, disaster 

management and parks and recreation.

John has completed a Bachelor 

of Health Science and is an active 

member of LGMA and Environmental 

Health Australia. John has a keen desire 

to improve our communities through 

collaboration and communication.

Our CEO and executive leadership team (ELT)

Jason Hoolihan

GENERAL MANAGER 
INFRASTRUCTURE AND UTILITIES

(APPOINTED MARCH 2022)

(ACTING JULY 2020 – MARCH 2022)

Jason has lived and worked in the 

Central Highlands since 2003, joining 

council in April 2015.

He has more than 28 years of 

experience in civil engineering, 

working in consultancies and for the 

Department of Transport and Main 

Roads (TMR) before gaining experience 

internationally in the United Kingdom.

Jason has experience in all areas of civil 

engineering including planning, design 

and construction. His portfolio includes 

project management, infrastructure, 

water utilities, fleet workshops and 

depots.

He has completed a Master of 

Engineering Practice (Civil) and 

is a member of the IPWEA and a 

Registered Professional Engineer 

Queensland. 

Margaret Gatt 

GENERAL MANAGER  
CORPORATE SERVICES

With more than 28 years of experience 

and service to local government in 

southeast and central Queensland, 

Margaret has a range of contemporary 

leadership skills. 

She is passionate about leading 

and developing people, improving 

systems and processes, and is a strong 

advocate for good governance. 

In 2021-2022, Margaret led a substantial 

portfolio including information 

communication and technology, 

finance, people and culture, 

procurement, asset management and 

governance. She was responsible 

for the implementation of the new 

corporate software that saw all 

financial functions transferred to one 

consolidated platform. 

Margaret has a Diploma of Local 

Government, qualifications in project 

management and has completed a 

Post Graduate Certificate in Financial 

Leadership with the University of 

Queensland.

Michelle Webster 

GENERAL MANAGER CUSTOMER AND 
COMMERCIAL SERVICES

Michelle has 27 years of experience 

in Queensland local government 

with 11 years at an executive level. In 

2021-2022, she led a diverse portfolio 

which included the Emerald Saleyards, 

Emerald Airport, property services, 

native title and customer service. 

The department continues to have 

a strong focus on customer service 

improvement including efficient end-to-

end customer process outcomes and 

first point of resolution for enquiries.

Michelle has qualifications in 

accounting, management, business 

and planning. She also holds a 

Bachelor of Commerce degree, is a 

graduate and member of AICD and an 

associate member of accounting body 

CPA Australia.
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OUR organisation

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (CEO)

Michael Parker PSM (acting until 26 November 2021)

Sharon Houlihan (from 29 November 2021)

SAFETY AND WELLNESS

	� Financial services

	� Governance

	� Information 
communication and 
technology

	� Information 
management

	� People and culture

	� Strategic contracts 
and procurement

	� Fleet, workshops and 
depots

	� Infrastructure

	� Project management 
office

	� Water and utilities

	� Arts and cultural 
services

	� Building and 
plumbing

	� Cemeteries

	� Community planning 
and development

	� Disaster management

	� Development 
assessment

	� Emergency services

	� Environmental health

	� Facilities management

	� Flood mitigation

	� Libraries

	� Public assets and 
facilities

	� Public relations and 
events

	� Ranger services

	� Sports and recreation

	� Town planning

	� Waste management

	� Youth and indigenous 
development

GENERAL MANAGER 
COMMUNITIES

John McDougall

GENERAL MANAGER 
INFRASTRUCTURE  

AND UTILITIES

Jason Hoolihan 

GENERAL MANAGER 
CORPORATE SERVICES

Margaret Gatt

	� Customer service

	� Emerald saleyards

	� Emerald airport

	� Property services

GENERAL MANAGER 
CUSTOMER AND 

COMMERCIAL 
SERVICES

Michelle Webster
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Senior management remuneration
Remuneration package Number of contracted senior employees

$100,000 - $200,000 -

$200,000 - $300,000 4 (3 male, 1 female)

$300,000 - $400,000 1 (female)

Workforce statistics
Total workforce

Year 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Internal 223 221 241 241 260 260

External 225 197 188 188 197 177

Total 448 418 429 429 457 437

Recruitment

Year 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Internal moves - - - - - 63

New hires - - - - - 76

Total 102 79 103 110 109 139

Gender balance

Year 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Male 293 (65%) 253 (61%) 247 (57%) 247 (58%) 258 (56%) 229 (52%)

Female 164 (35%) 165 (39%) 182 (42%) 182 (42%) 199 (44%) 209 (48%)

A view of Minerva Hill National Park in Springsure.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander employees

Year 2021-22

% of employees 2% (9 staff)

Terminations

Year 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Total 108 121 105 96 90 112

Employee turnover

Year 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

% of employees 19 22 20 19 18 24

Age demographics

Age (years)

Year 15-24 25-35 36-45 46-55 56-65 65+

2016-17 39 98 88 115 100 8

2017-18 36 83 86 99 108 6

2018-19 33 91 95 93 110 7

2019-20 35 92 90 89 115 8

2020-21 42 84 99 102 123 7

Generations

Year
Gen Z  

(born 1997 – 2012)

Millennials
(born 1981 – 1996)

Gen X 
(born 1965 – 1980)

Boomers 
(born 1946 – 1954)

2021-22 36 132 162 108

Aging workforce trend (56 years and over)

Year 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Total 108 114 117 123 130 128
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Children enjoy a visit to a playground in the Emerald Botanic Gardens.

Strong vibrant  
communities

RESPECTING OUR CULTURES

ACTIVE AND INCLUSIVE COMMUNITIES

SUPPORT DIVERSE COMMUNITIES

KEY PRIORITY AREA 1
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Summary of key activities
	� Provide and maintain accessible community services 

and facilities

	� Implement an effective open space and recreational plan

	� Position the community at the heart of an advocacy 

strategy

	� Manage libraries that offer relaxing hubs, connect people 

and offer learning resources, information, recreational 

materials and skill development

	� Listen to the community and prioritise actions that 

support a sustainable future for our region

	� Promote the art, culture and heritage of our communities

	� Lead and influence community participation in healthy 

and active lifestyles

	� Make opportunities for learning, social activities, 

community events, grants and funding programs

	� Ensure the region’s sustainability through integrated, 

well-planned development and continuous improvement 

of the planning scheme

Service areas
PUBLIC ASSETS AND FACILITIES LIBRARIES CEMETERIES

COMMUNITY PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT ARTS AND CULTURAL SERVICES

PARKS AND RECREATIONAL SERVICES

SPORT AND RECREATIONAL ENGAGEMENT AND FACILITIES

YOUTH AND INDIGENOUS DEVELOPMENT

Children enjoy Story Time with Library Officer Kakolee Kakati at the Emerald Library.

Highlights in 2021-2022
Community and corporate facilities
A special mural honouring local returned service men and 

women was unveiled at the Emerald Town Hall.

Painted across the Anakie Street side of the building, the 

striking artwork captures the ANZAC spirit and pays tribute to 

all Australians who have served their country.

The artwork was completed by talented CQ artists Bill and 

Luke Gannon, and was commissioned by council with the 

support of the Emerald RSL.

In April 2022, veterans, locals and council representatives 

also came together to plant a ‘lone pine’ tree at the upgraded 

ANZAC memorial in the Willows. The $5,000 facelift included 

the installation of stone cover to the ground, signage and 

sandstone blocks around the memorial.

These projects further strengthened the important 

relationship between council, the RSL and our veteran 

community.

Additionally, we replaced the roller doors at the Willows 

Recreation Centre with full glass panel swing doors. This 

has increased airflow to the facility and created a cooler 

environment for local clubs to convene in. 

We invested in significant painting and maintenance 

upgrades at a number of facilities across the region as 

well, through the Australian Government’s Local Roads and 

Community Infrastructure funding program. These included:

	� Bauhinia Memorial Hall, Springsure

	� Bogantungan Railway Station and tearoom 

	� Sapphire Hall 

	� Rubyvale Hall

	� Blackwater Civic Centre 

	� Capella Cultural Centre 

	� Anakie Railway Station 

	� Emerald Town Hall supper room. 

Libraries
The library service rolled out a new program called Vintage 

Sessions across all 9 branches, designed for adults and 

seniors to relax, learn, connect and discover. There were 38 

Vintage Sessions held this financial year incorporating crafts, 

robotics, computers, local history and more.

Through partnership with the State Library of Queensland 

and LinkedIn, we launched free access to the LinkedIn 

Learning database and app through our libraries. 

The Blackwater Library branch underwent a facelift, getting 

new carpet tiles. While the flooring was being installed a 

temporary library was set up at the Blackwater Civic Centre, 

allowing the community to continue accessing services and 

programs.

Wheeled shelving was installed at the Blackwater and 

Emerald branches - the final stage of a rollout across 

the region. This has transformed the libraries into 

multipurpose areas.

Twenty-eight of our library program sessions were held 

virtually this year, including First5Forever and the Vintage 

Sessions. Participants had the option to grab complementary 

takeaway packs from their local branch as well. 

We also started livestreaming StoryTime each week from the 

Emerald branch via the libraries Facebook page. 

Community engagement
Forty-three grants were approved through our community 

grants program, with a total of $330,000 allocated (see pages 

141-143 for more). 

The annual Seniors Month Luncheon was held on 12 October 

2021 (see page 49 for more).

The Emerald CRG initiated a Positive Ageing Forum with 

locals and service providers to discuss and advocate for 

support for our ageing residents.  

Other successful CRG events included Bluff Curry in the Park 

in June 2022, with over 50 attendees, and the community-led 

Have a Go – Community Connections day in Rubyvale (see 

page 70 for more).

The Comet CRG also completed 2 long-running projects. 

The Comet Tales and Walking Trails was officially launched, 

a self-guided walk featuring 16 historical sites, and an old 

telephone box was repurposed into a free book exchange in 

Whistle Stop Park. 
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Youth development
In partnership with CTM Links, the Capella Town Hall 

Committee, Capella schools and Queensland Police Service, 

we officially opened the Capella Youth Space.

The Youth Space is staffed by CTM Links community 

development officers and council’s youth development staff, 

and is supported by the Capella Stars youth advisory group.

The group had a successful year, following their formation in 

February 2021.

Their accomplishments include:

	� delivering a Mental Health Week activity at Capella 

primary and high schools

	� supporting the annual Seniors Lunch in Emerald

	� delivering a Halloween Disco to the community

	� supporting Capella school holiday activities provided 

by council.

Indigenous development
In 2021-2022, we continued to implement our Reflect 

Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP). 

A highlight was the special Walk on Ghungalu Country 

for National Reconciliation Week in May 2022, attended 

by council employees and families. The tour included a 

Welcome to Country and Smoking Ceremony by Ghungalu 

Elders, followed by a guided walk learning about the native 

plants, bushfoods and their medical, culinary and cultural use.

In June and July 2021, NAIDOC Week marches and flag 

raising ceremonies were held in Springsure, Emerald and 

Blackwater. The Many Mobs Festival at the Emerald Botanic 

Gardens was another fantastic NAIDOC event, organised 

by the Central Queensland Indigienous Development 

organisation and supported by council.

Arts and culture
The diversity of the region’s arts and culture sector was 

put on display with workshops, performances and activities 

during our annual Arts around August program. Highlight 

events included painting workshops, Quirky Wire Art 

workshops, musical performances by Melly Melody and 

Flipside Circus workshops. 

Another feature of the program was the Annual Art Awards 
– Emerald, judged by Art Collection Manager Sue Smith 

from the Central Queensland University. Over 250 people 

attended the exhibition opening at the Emerald Art Gallery 

on 4 August 2021. Jemma Ryan took home the prestigious 

$4,000 Acquisitive Award for her digitally altered photograph 

Too Much on her Plate. A youth section was also added to this 

year’s awards. 

Further south, the Annual Art Awards – Springsure opened 

on 5 March 2022 with a special walk-through led by 

Brisbane-based landscape artist and judge Naomi White. 

Sharon Kirk was awarded the $2,500 Acquisitive Award for 

her artwork Landscape Colours.

Based on the positive response of the added youth sections 

for the Emerald and Springsure Art Awards, the inaugural 

CHRC Annual Youth Art Awards was held in June 2022 at 

the Emerald Art Gallery. A total of 61 entries were received 

from young artists across 6 categories. Layla Davidson, the 

youngest entrant, took out the People’s Choice Award for her 

artwork Ellie the Elephant.

After a successful event in 2021, Metal in March was 

held again in 2022 and the Artists in the Spotlight series 

continued, celebrating local artists and groups.

The Emerald Art Gallery opened its doors during the Twilight 

Markets in September and December 2021, as well as March 

and June 2022. A total of 1,137 visitors came through the 

doors during the 4 events. 

Sport and recreation
We adopted the Central Highlands Sport and Open 

Space Plan.

Our free 8-week Healthy Active Highlanders program was 

held again in 2022, encouraging anyone over the age of 14 to 

come and try a range of fitness activities.

Due to COVID-19, the sports forum was unable to be held. 

Instead, the team developed a booklet for local clubs 

titled ‘The Run Down 2022’. The booklet featured key sport 

and recreation updates and resources, and is available on 

council’s website.

The team also supported a number of major events at our 

sporting facilities such as Reds to Regions, Pink Stumps Day, 

the agricultural shows and more.

Parks and gardens
Skate parks were a feature in this year’s capital works 

program. We built new skate parks in Blackwater, Capella 

and at Beazley Park in Rolleston, and added a drinking 

fountain and shade shelter to the Sapphire facility.

The Blackwater Memorial Garden was upgraded with a 

flat grassed area, landscaping and cemented undercover 

tables. These improvements formed stage one of ongoing 

beautification works in the town.

We also upgraded irrigation in a number of parks in 

Blackwater.

Kids make a splash at the Emerald Aquatic Centre. Plant Operator Labourer Leslie Turner trims hedges.

Opening of the Capella Youth Space.
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Challenges in 2021-2022
Community and corporate facilities
Plumbing unexpectedly failed at a former Blackwater 

pool kiosk building, which had been repurposed as an 

administration building for council staff. This resulted in the 

closure of the building for several months and significant 

repair costs. 

Budget limitations were an ongoing challenge, particularly 

in light of inflation and increases to the price of construction 

materials. Some project quotations came in significantly 

higher than budgeted costs, resulting in project delays.

Another challenge for the facilities team was an increase in 

users breaching facility hire conditions and leaving facilities 

in unsanitary and unsatisfactory conditions. The mistreatment 

of these spaces affects the life of the buildings and as a 

result council is required to spend more on contract cleaners 

and damages.

Community engagement and youth 
development
In early 2022, the community engagement and youth teams 

had to adapt to the increased risk of COVID-19 transmission 

in the community. Extra hygiene and safety precautions 

were implemented at events and meetings to protect the 

vulnerable and set an example for the rest of the community.

Arts and culture
Due to vaccination requirements, restrictions had to be put 

in place at both art galleries. This limited attendance to 

exhibitions and opening events. To counteract this, online 

galleries were created for several exhibitions and the Have 

Your Say, Central Highlands platform was used for people’s 

choice award voting. Restrictions were lifted in April 2022.

Sport and recreation
Similarly to the facilities team, the rising costs of materials 

and supply delays has placed restraints on budgets and the 

delivery of projects.

Parks and gardens
Budget limitations and rising material and equipment costs 

were also a challenge for the parks and gardens team. 

Another challenge was the ongoing vandalism at our parks. 

As a result, we have installed security cameras at several 

locations.

Outlook for 2022-2023
Community and corporate facilities
Next financial year, the facilities team plan to:

	� implement council-wide contracts for cleaning, fire, pest 

and test and tagging

	� review expired service contracts and update with 

established service agreements

	� review community-managed council facilities and 

develop agreements

	� develop an event venues strategy report 

	� define service levels across the business unit and 

produce a maintenance schedule

	� implement an online booking platform for venue hire.

Libraries
We will launch a library app empowering community 

members to access the library service online 24 hours a day, 

7 days a week.

Free self-service coffee bars will be installed at all library 

branches offering tea, instant coffee and hot chocolate.

PlayTime will be relaunched at the Emerald Library, 

before being rolled out in all other branches. PlayTime is a 

First5Forever program targeted at children aged 0-5 years.

Single-sided shelving and bay end panels are planned 

for installation in Duaringa, Sapphire Gemfields and Tieri 

branches. These shelves and bay ends will display resources 

more effectively and ensure our library service is up to date.

Community engagement
As part of the 2022-2027 corporate plan, a review of our 

engagement methods and a community long-term visioning 

project is scheduled to be complete in 2022-2023. 

We are improving our directory service with a subscription 

to My Community Directory, linking community members 

and visitors with groups and services in the area, including 

information on health care, clubs and not-for-profits, events, 

volunteering and more.

We will also implement the SmartyGrants software which 

will simplify the grant application process for community, 

particularly when applying for RADF and our community 

grants program. 

The Blackwater Positive Ageing Forum is planned for 

October 2022.

Arts and culture
Both the Emerald and Springsure galleries are fully booked 

for the rest of 2022 and 2023, with proposals already being 

sought for exhibitors for 2024. 

Plans are in place to develop 2 ‘pop-up’ exhibition spaces at 

the Blackwater Library and the Capella Cultural Centre by 

the end of 2022.

A number of RADF projects will run in the coming year, 

including arts and craft in the Emerald Art Gallery, Twilight 

Markets, Flipside Circus workshops, Art in the Park 

workshops led by the Emerald YouthInc 1825 group and 

crafts across library branches during Seniors Month.

The Arts around August program will be held again and 

improvements to the Emerald Arts Precinct behind the 

Emerald Library will be progressed.

Sport and recreation 
Parks and gardens
In 2022-2023, the sport and recreation and parks and 

gardens teams will continue to provide and improve on their 

services and support the region’s clubs and organisations. 

Youth development
We will commence youth and community engagement to 

inform the creation of the next youth strategy and action 

plan, which is scheduled to be in place from July 2023 to 

June 2028.

Indigenous development
We plan to conduct another Walk on Country to connect to 

this beautiful region that encompasses the many Traditional 

Custodian groups across the Central Highlands.

We will implement the Weavr program to assist in capturing, 

tracking, managing and sharing council’s reconciliation 

journey. It will facilitate reporting of council’s RAP 

deliverables. 

We will continue to track and report against the existing 

Reflect RAP until the new RAP (currently in draft phase) has 

been endorsed by council and Reconciliation Australia. 

The Comet book exchange.

The Bauhinia Bicentennial Art Gallery in Springsure.

The new Blackwater skate park.
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Strategies, plans and policies 
adopted or updated
	� Community halls and facilities – general conditions of hire

	� Venue hire fee waiver request process

	� Library Strategic Action Plan 2021-2026  

(endorsed June 2021)

	� Contractor Engagement Framework

	� Creative Cultural Futures and Heritage Action Plan  

2022-2024

	� Sport and Active Recreation Advisory Group Terms of 

Reference

Statistics and trends
	� 48 CRG meetings held

	� 10 interagency meetings held (6 in Emerald and 4 in 

Blackwater)

	� 9,480 visits to the Have Your Say, Central Highlands 

website

	� $17,560 paid in prize money through the 3 annual art 

awards

	� 320 entries received in the 3 annual art awards

	� 7 CHACAC meetings

	� 13 RADF grants awarded for a total of $77,380.15 

	� 20 exhibitions across our 2 galleries

	� 3 exhibitions published on council’s digital gallery

	� 7,340 visitors to the Emerald Art Gallery

	� 101 park booking requests lodged

	� 129 youth events delivered face-to-face and 16 online

	� 83 YouthInc meetings held in Blackwater, Capella, 

Emerald and Springsure

	� 7 Regional Youth Alliance Network (RYAN) meetings 

hosted by CHRC youth team

	� 50 attendees at NAIDOC celebrations in Emerald, 150 in 

Springsure and 850 in Blackwater

	� 19 staff participated in cultural awareness training with 

BlackCard

Libraries

Year 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

New members 833 1,046 928 1,090 657 909

Total loans 70,869 56,705 54,495 73,775 59,579 59,718

Click and collect loans - - - 1,223 4,389 4,484

Physical loans - - - 46,919 38,556 37,868

Digital loans - - - 26,856 21,023 21,850

Attendees to programs, 

events and activities

15,985 3,662 9,763 10,580 6,895 10,900

Programs, events and 

activities delivered

- - - - 1,424 1,571

Total visitors - - 92,474 72,540 15,742 61,669

Community grant applications

Year 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Received

Successful

47

28

68

30

62

29

61

36

78

42

79

40

73

39

53

39

51

37

59

43

Mayor Kerry Hayes with award-winning artist Jemma Ryan and judge Sue Smith at the CHRC Annual Art Awards - Emerald exhibition opening night.

Sport and Recreation Officer Georgia Down with trainee Emily Turner.NAIDOC Week flag raising ceremony.
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On 30 April 2022, council held the Have a Go - 

Community Connections event in Rubyvale. 

The intention of the event was to connect 

community and encourage positive mental health 

and wellbeing, following 2 flood events in the 

Gemfields in 2021. The event had 379 attendees.

The event was planned and hosted in 

collaboration with the Gemfields CRG. A 

committee was formed to assist in planning, and 

this group worked together to co-design the event 

to ensure that it met the needs of each of the 4 

communities of the Gemfields. 

There were a number of free workshops and 

activities on offer, including meditation sessions, 

yoga, craft activities and musical workshops. 

Community groups, clubs and service providers 

were also invited to have a promotional stall. 

There was free food from Blue Gem Tourist Park, 

the Rotary Club of Emerald and Mr Whippy, 

rides, performances from the Yeppoon Ukulele 

Movement and an African drumming workshop 

delivered by Happy Africa Art. 

This event was funded by the Queensland 

Government Localised Mental Health Initiative and 

RADF. The rides were funded by council.

Case Study Have a Go – Community Connection event

Hi! I am Madonna Nelson-Bamford and I am the 

supervisor of parks and gardens in the east of 

our region.

I started with council in 2018 as a plant operator 

and labourer for parks and gardens, having come 

from an administrative and hospitality background. 

I was the tuckshop convenor at Blackwater State 

High School prior to starting with council.

With my youngest child finishing high school, I felt 

it was time to do something for myself – I needed 

a career. 

I had always been interested in gardening and 

the science behind it, so when the opportunity 

came up with council I felt I had to apply. I was in 

for a huge learning curve. What I thought the job 

entailed didn’t quite line up with reality, so when 

the chance came to sign up for an apprenticeship, 

I jumped at it.

I started a Certificate III in Parks and Gardens in 

late 2019, completing that in mid-2021 and then 

went on to complete a Certificate III in Horticulture.

In July 2022, I was honoured to be awarded 

apprentice of the year for the Central Queensland 

region in the Queensland Training Awards. Making 

it to the state finals is a big achievement and I 

am blessed to have family and a work team who 

support and believe in me.

In May 2022, I was successful in securing the 

role as supervisor for my work group. No 2 days 

are ever the same. I enjoy the challenges and 

problem-solving that this role throws my way. 

Parks and gardens are a very visual representation 

of council. The work we do ensures safe play, 

recreation and relaxation areas for the community 

and visitors.

Staff profile Madonna Nelson-Bamford

Event goers enjoyed African drumming workshops from Happy Africa Art. 
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Performance Report 
Key performance indicators

NOT PROCEEDINGCARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVEDCOMPLETED

Strong diverse communities

	� Deliver programs that directly 

target health and wellbeing needs 

of young people

	� Facilitate growth of the YouthInc 

group model

	� Implement key actions of the 

liveability strategy for the region

Respecting our cultures

	� Preserve and provide access to 

local heritage collections

	� Increase awareness of Aboriginal 

and Torres Strait Islander peoples’ 

culture

	� Develop the Central Highlands 

Regional Galleries

	� Deliver art competitions within the 

region

	� Maintain current sister city 

relationship with Ichinoseki, Japan

	� Promote RADF program

Active and inclusive 

communities

	� Engage with community through 

events

	� Promote the CRGs

	� Deliver community programs and 

events that promote active and 

healthy lifestyles

	� Implement year one of Libraries 

Action Plan

	� Report on community participation 

in active recreation

	� Facilitate online community 

engagement

	� Promote social influences 

awareness

NIL

NIL

Blackwater Memorial Garden.

Coordinator Libraries Kira Nuss helps a customer.Locals work their horses at the Bridgeman Park facility in Capella.
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Apprentice Diesel Fitter Will Hardy at the Emerald depot workshop.

Building and maintaining  
quality infrastructure 

KEY PRIORITY AREA 2

WELL-PLANNED AND CONNECTED COMMUNITIES

AFFORDABLE AND WELL-SERVICED INFRASTRUCTURE

chrc.qld.gov.auCentral Highlands Regional Council Annual Report 2021-2022



7776

Highlights in 2021-2022
Flood mitigation
The flood mitigation team was given the green light to 

deliver a $3.2 million project to implement a Digital Tier III 

Private Mobile Radio network covering the Central Highlands 

region. This will provide staff the ability to communicate 

independently of cellular networks and provide 

communication certainty during times of disaster.

Project management
In 2021-2022, we developed a draft 5-year capital program 

and council adopted a 3-year budget. The adoption of a 

forward budget allows for better planning of projects outside 

of the year one delivery program.

Water utilities
We delivered 53 capital projects to a total value of $12.5 

million, a significant increase in spend compared to previous 

years highlighting our commitment to the renewal of water 

and wastewater assets.

A water meter replacement program commenced and the 

network crews reduced customer requests to less than 40 

for a continuous period of time, a big achievement.

We submitted funding applications for several critical 

renewal projects associated with water assets. 

We successfully installed and commissioned an ultrafiltration 

(UF) plant at Capella and constructed new facilities for the 

network crews in Blackwater.

Fleet, workshop and depot operations
Some of the highlights this year for the recently formed fleet, 

workshop and depot operations team were:

	� improvements in card fuel and bulk fuel management

	� implementation of RACQ roadside assistance for all 

council and SES light vehicles

	� successful capital delivery

	� procedure reviews

	� recovery of under-recovered internal hire rates.

Infrastructure
We achieved third-party accreditation of our quality, 

environmental and safety systems for our construction team. 

This acknowledges the team’s ability to perform to the same 

standards as any top-tier contractor in the same fields. This 

is an important step in our journey to becoming prequalified 

contractors for TMR.

Summary of key activities
	� Provide contracted project development and delivery 

support for the best possible results for the communities 

	� Manage road corridor activities to ensure appropriate 

addresses are allocated 

	� Develop and implement robust infrastructure plans 

through effective long-term asset management practices

	� Plan and deliver essential infrastructure that supports a 

sustainable future

	� Develop a strategy for land and property assets

	� Develop efficiencies in water and wastewater operations

	� Develop a roads and transport strategy to ensure the 

efficient and effective use of resources

	� Implement energy efficient practices for assets and 

facilities

	� Manage one of the largest real-time, natural disaster early 

warning networks in Queensland

	� Provide flood risk and mitigation investigations and works, 

and land mobile radio communications

	� Centralised management, procurement and repair of 

council’s extensive fleet and depot assets 

	� Assist, advise and support the consistent rollout of asset 

management for all asset classes

Service areas

The East Nogoa Water Treatment Plant. Assistant Treatment Plant Operator Simone Miller tests our water quality.

CHRC traffic cones.

EMERGENCY SERVICES

QUARRIES/BORROW PITS

ASSET MANAGEMENT

FLOOD RISK AND MITIGATION MANAGEMENT

INFRASTRUCTURE SERVICESPROJECT DEVELOPMENT AND CONTRACT DELIVERY

WATER UTILITIES DISASTER MANAGEMENT
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Challenges in 2021-2022
Flood mitigation
Supply chain issues impacted the flood mitigation space, 

as well as continued wet weather in the second half of the 

financial year. This made it difficult to implement a number 

of projects.

Project management
Recruiting suitable staff to fill the newly created positions in 

the project management office was a challenge. However by 

the end of the year, there was only one vacancy remaining 

and deliverables were on track.

Water utilities
Vacant operations and supervisory roles placed significant 

strain on our water utilities team and budgets. The use of 

short-term contractors was needed to maintain service levels. 

Water supply issues in Capella, Dingo and Duaringa were 

a major concern and highlighted the need to prioritise 

upgrades to infrastructure in these areas. Repairs to the Tieri-

Capella pipeline, design work for filter upgrades at Capella, 

and filter upgrades at Dingo and Duaringa are scheduled for 

2022-2023.

The network crews were kept busy through the Christmas 

break with water quality concerns due to increased levels of 

manganese in the raw water supply.

The use of UF plant technology as a short-term solution at 

Dingo/Duaringa and Rolleston gave us an opportunity to 

own our own plants and provide a filtration buffer for the 

smaller water schemes. Unfortunately, delays in equipment 

availability postponed the commissioning of these plants 

until 2022-2023.

Fleet, workshop and depot operations
Global shortages of new vehicles, equipment and parts were 

a challenge, resulting in delays in replacing and sourcing 

parts for our fleet. This led to increased downtime following 

breakdowns and longer lead times from suppliers.

Infrastructure
Similarly to other teams, the infrastructure department 

were challenged to deliver external and internal works due 

to significant staff shortages, rapid input cost increases 

and substantially increased rainfall over work areas. The 

increased development of contract panels has improved the 

team’s ability to respond quickly to bolster on-site resources 

in an attempt to reduce the effect of staff shortages. 

Outlook for 2022-2023
Flood mitigation
Due to challenges outlined in the section above, some projects 

had to be carried over to the new financial year. This will impact 

on the planned capital expenditure for 2022-2023.

An early and extended wet season is forecast, with a 

possible increase in tropical cyclones. This could affect the 

ability to easily access flood warning stations for pre-season 

matinenance, as well as the construction of the radio network 

infrastructure.

Project management
The project management office will continue to work 

with capital project owners and further develop forward 

programs. We intend to adopt a draft 5-year budget by  

30 June 2023. 

Water utilities
Capital expenditure for both water and wastewater will 

increase from $12.5 million in 2021-2022 to $17.8 million this 

financial year. 

The non-potable scheme options review at the Willows will 

be completed and presented to council for direction.

The water utilities team will also embark on year 2 of the 

5-year strategic plan with a significant emphasis on asset 

management and master plans. 

Meeting our Environmental Authority condition will be a 

high priority.

Fleet, workshop and depot operations
In 2022-2023, the fleet, workshop and depot operations team 

aims to:

	� improve the replacement strategy for our diverse fleet of 

light vehicles, trucks, mowing and construction plant

	� implement an online pool car booking system linking to 

the existing NAVMAN vehicle monitoring system

	� review and implement improved operational reporting 

using the existing NAVMAN vehicle monitoring system.

Infrastructure
Next year promises to present similar challenges to this year. 

Forecasted increased spring rainfall, limited price relief for 

construction materials and a constrained employment market 

will mean we need to closely manage program delivery. 

Strategies, plans and policies 
adopted or updated
	� Draft Water Security Plan

	� Water Submetering for Community Title Schemes Policy

	� Water Supply for Sapphire and Rubyvale Mining Claims 

and Leases Policy

Statistics and trends
	� 2,317 National Heavy Vehicle Regulator (NHVR) 

applications assessed (44% for oversize/over mass 

movements and 34% for special purpose vehicles)

	� 114 applications approved for works by others impacting 

council road corridors 

	� 196 urban and rural addressed allocated or corrected

	� 22 operational works applications assessed

	� 45 applications submitted to 10 external funding providers 

seeking $48.8 million for capital projects with a combined 

estimated value of $68.5 million

	� 1,400 domestic water meters replaced 

	� 55 valves and hydrants replaced

	� $2 million of new fleet and plant equipment purchased 

	� 434 scheduled services of council fleet completed

	� 2,244 scheduled maintenance or reactive repairs of 

council fleet completed 

The Duaringa depot.

Roadworks at Lilyvale Road.
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Outlasting countless floods and droughts, Comet’s 

100-year old raw water pier was finally retired in 

2021-2022.

Due to the long-standing infrastructure reaching 

end of life, the removal and replacement of the 

defective system was completed this year as part 

of our capital works program.

The project included upgrading the pier, pumps 

and the line between the raw water source at the 

Comet River and the Comet Water Treatment Plant.

A new pier structure was constructed on piles 

driven in place in the river, as well as horizontal 

drilled pipework leading up to the plant. New 

pumps were also installed with custom outer 

casings to provide sturdy protection from floating 

branches and debris.

In line with the historical nature of this project, 

we engaged local archaeologists and Traditional 

Owners to find and protect various items such 

as stone artefacts, scar trees and other historical 

objects from the early 20th century.

Works commenced in late March 2022 and the 

new system was commissioned by principal 

contractor Pensar on 25 May 2022. Soon after 

the project was finished, flooding tested the new 

structure. However, it remained intact and the new 

pumps continued to work as normal. 

Case Study Comet raw water pier upgrade
Hi, I’m Brenton Judge and I’m the coordinator of 

council’s transport infrastructure program.

My background is in civil engineering, with 

many years’ experience in the state and local 

government sectors. 

I started with council in September 2021 in 

this new role under the newly formed project 

management office. The position promised some 

exciting opportunities to assist in the development 

of a project management framework and so far it 

certainly has delivered.

One of the projects I’ve been involved in is the 

design of the Nogoa River pedestrian bridge in the 

Emerald Botanical Gardens, replacing the existing 

floating bridge. 

There have been some great projects delivered 

in the last 12 months since I have been here, 

and I am looking forward to using the projects I 

have delivered for council to obtain my Register 

Professional Engineer Qualification (RPEQ). 

I am so excited to be here in the Central 

Highlands, at a council that has recognised and 

prioritised the importance of project governance. 

I’m proud to work for an organisation that is 

prepared to apply the appropriate resources to 

ensure that project delivery is well-managed, 

planned and understood, mitigating risks that 

could cost council and the ratepayer significantly. 

A core value for myself is to deliver the best 

quality outcome for our communities, for the best 

value for money, while future-proofing wherever 

practical. 

A highlight in my career so far is delivering the 

necessary infrastructure to meet the needs of our 

communities.

Staff profile Brenton Judge
Upgrade works are carried out at the 100-year-old Comet raw water pier.
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Performance Report 
Key performance indicators

NOT PROCEEDINGCARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVEDCOMPLETED

Well-planned and connected 

communities

	� Integrate asset management 

plans with the long-term 

financial plan

	� Progress the new Super Resource 

Recovery Centre

	� Develop beautification plans for 

Bluff, Comet and Springsure

	� Establish the project 

management office

	� Develop sport and recreation 

strategic action plan

	� Develop a centralised 

regional waste management 

facility strategy

	� Review water utilities business and 

asset management plans

	� Implement Clean Growth 

Choices program

	� Develop and implement 

a standardised project 

management system

	� Implement housing strategy

Affordable and well-serviced 

infrastructure

	� Implement adopted strategic 

water utilities business 

plan actions

	� Collaborate with local road 

user groups

	� Develop asset and facility energy-

efficient management strategies

	� Align asset sustainability ratio to 

asset base and service levels

Well-planned and connected 

communities

	� Beautification planning in 

Blackwater, Rolleston, Rubyvale, 

Tieri and Sapphire

	� Develop a water security strategy

Affordable and well-serviced 

infrastructure

	� Implement a grids and gates 

policy and process

	� Implement a waste recycling and 

reuse of resources strategy

NIL

Crews carry out road works.

Fitter and Turner Graham Siddins welding.
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Tourists give fossicking a go at the Sapphire Gemfields.

Supporting our  
local economy

KEY PRIORITY AREA 3

CENTRAL HIGHLANDS 
DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION

The Central Highlands Development 

Corporation (CHDC) partners with 

industry, business, government and 

community to drive growth, enable 

innovation, build capability and 

deliver economic outcomes.
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AGRIBUSINESS AND AGTECH

REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT

BUSINESS FACILITATION

Summary of key activities 
	� Actively partners with industry, business 

and government to drive growth, enable 

innovation, build capability and deliver 

economic outcomes

Service areas VISION
Driving economic opportunities to support the Central 

Highlands as a dynamic inland region of choice.

PURPOSE
We advocate for a sustainable region and economic 

growth by enhancing our workforce, promoting our 

region and supporting or businesses.

CHDC Board
	� Chairman – Mayor Kerry Hayes

	� Deputy Chair – Deputy Mayor Christine Rolfe

	� Company Secretary – Michael Parker PSM/Sharon 

Houlihan (as CEO of Central Highlands Regional 

Council)

	� Director – Cr Megan Daniels

	� Independent Director – The Honourable Paul Lucas

	� Independent Director – Ciarán Hallinan

	� Independent Director – Bronwyn Roberts

	� In 2021-2022, the board was supported by  

CHDC CEO Arjan Bloemer.

VISITOR ECONOMY DEVELOPMENT

Highlights in 2021-2022
It’s fitting that the year CHDC marked its 25th anniversary was 

also a year of resilience for the corporation. 

Pushing through the ongoing complexities of a global 

pandemic, and other localised challenges, CHDC maintained 

a high level of productivity to drive economic opportunity for 

the Central Highlands.

Business facilitation
A strong thread through 2021-2022 was the support of small 

business to build capability and capacity. From thousands of 

direct interactions with operators, to business workshops and 

forums, CHDC invested the attention this important sector 

needs to not just survive but thrive.

The Central Highlands Business Excellence Awards 

(CHBEA), held biennially since 2013, celebrate the efforts 

and achievements of the region’s diverse and dedicated 

business community. The 2021 awards attracted more than 

110 nominations from which 59 entries were received. Award 

winners were announced at the gala dinner, attended by 

almost 300 guests.

Country Allure was crowned Central Highlands Business of 

the Year. The business also took home the Fair Dinkum Fresh 

Retail Award and The Capricornian People’s Choice Award, 

beating 75 other nominees in a public vote.

Agribusiness and agtech development
Local agriculture has been a focus for CHDC since its 

inception and this unwavering commitment was exemplified at 

AgTech21, a massive undertaking, particularly during COVID-19. 

More than 270 attendees, including 23 students, took 

the opportunity to explore the future of agribusiness at 

AgTech21. The sold-out event focused on early-stage and 

commercial application of agtech. Participants had the 

opportunity to pose questions and challenges to interactive 

expert panels, visit over 40 trade displays, and view and test 

technology and machinery working in the field.

Visitor economy development
More than 12,800 visitors were welcomed at the Central 

Queensland Highlands Visitor Information Centre, which is 

manned by 20+ volunteers, 360 days of the year. CHDC also 

operated regional visitor service centres at the Blackwater 

International Coal Centre, Federation Woolshed in Springsure 

and the Duaringa Historical and Information Centre during 

the peak tourist season.

Bolstering the region’s growing visitor economy continued 

to be another important focus, with the consolidation and 

increased exposure of the Central Queensland Highlands, 

Explore More brand story.

Regional development
At a macro level, CHDC also made progress in advocating 

for the region, particularly through investor engagement, 

strategy input and industry development.

CHDC engaged with major projects Valeria (Glencore) and 

Blackwater South Coking Coal (BHP) to facilitate the business 

and community interests of the region. In addition, CHDC 

supported Robotics Australia Group’s Emerald Robotics 

Tech Park concept with an economic impact assessment 

and stakeholder and site briefings for state and federal 

investment programs.

In addition to the CHBEA and AgTech21, CHDC hosted a 

further 9 events and workshops, attracting more than 500 

attendees. Events included Farm to Fine Dining, an advocacy 

dinner targeted at industry and government decision 

makers, and the Economic Futures Forum, featuring keynote 

presenter Dr Amanda Cahill from Next Economy. Small 

business workshops covered topics such as digital marketing 

strategies and business structures.

Kayakers on Lake Maraboon near Emerald.

Panel members on stage at the AgTech21 event.

chrc.qld.gov.auCentral Highlands Regional Council Annual Report 2021-2022



8988

Challenges in 2021-2022
The annual Central Highlands Business Survey found 

that almost half (46%) of local businesses were negatively 

impacted by COVID-19 during 2021-2022, due to government 

restrictions and mandates, labour shortages and supply 

chain disruptions. Businesses also experienced rising costs, 

with 32% reporting the increase was ‘significant’.

Project delivery was impacted by vacant positions within the 

CHDC team.

COVID-related restrictions and precautions also added a 

new layer of complexity when delivering CHDC’s calendar 

of events. Delays caused by the pandemic meant that 2 

major events – the CHBEA and AgTech21 – needed to occur 

within weeks of each other, placing considerable pressure on 

resources, staff and subcontractors.

Outlook for 2022-2023
CHDC will continue to facilitate initiatives that provide 

valuable development, business support and outcomes. 

Additional projects include:

	� the renewal of the Central Highlands Economic 

Masterplan - Action Plan

	� a Workforce Attraction and Retention Strategy

	� investment attraction collateral

	� a new corporate logo

	� an upgrade of the corporate website.

Statistics and trends
CHDC
	� 290+ responses to the 2022 Central Highlands Business 

Survey

	� 1,000+ jobs posted on CQ Jobs Link

	� 1,100+ tender opportunities sent to 500+ local businesses 

through Tap into Tenders 

	� 20,400+ views of event listings on What’s On Central 

Queensland Highlands

	� 42,800 social media users reached per month

General
	� $6.87 billion gross regional product

	� $12.83 billion output generated

	� 3,334 businesses operating

Mining
	� 12 operating coal mines

	� Over 60 million tonnes of coal produced per annum

	� 60% of coal produced is for steel making

Agriculture
	� $729 million agribusiness economic value

	� Beef production ($491 million) is the key driver

	� 19% of Queensland’s Priority Agricultural Area (886,400 ha)

Visitor Economy
	� 587,000 domestic visitors per annum

	� 1.41 million overnight stays

	� $101 average spend per night

A national spotlight was shone on the Central 

Queensland Highlands when popular Australian 

cooking show, Taste of Australia with Hayden 

Quinn, showcased the region.

The show's star and crew spent a week filming in 

the Central Queensland Highlands at the invitation 

of CHDC and with the generous support of 

Capricorn Enterprise.

The Boomtown Pictures production was shot at 

Carnarvon Gorge, Lake Maraboon, Emerald and 

Comet and featured sponsors Breeze Holiday 

Parks - Carnarvon, Bar H Grazing, fruit grower 

Costa 2PH and Like Mum Used to Make, an artisan 

food business.

The TV episode aired to great acclaim, reaching 

a total audience of 382,500 across metro and 

regional. Socials surrounding the episode had a 

further reach of 950,000.

Case Study Taste of Central Queensland Highlands

Hayden Quinn films an episode of Taste of Australia with Sally Burnard from Like Mum Used to Make.

Country Allure won Central Highlands Business of the Year.
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Performance Report
Key performance indicators*

NOT PROCEEDINGCARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVEDCOMPLETED

Facilitate investment and 

employer opportunities

	� Deliver initiatives to support 

local business

	� Produce major projects 

development register and 

economic profile

	� Fulfill board governance 

obligations for the Central 

Highlands (QLD) Housing 

Company Ltd

	� Deliver initiatives to support 

local business and industry 

investment

Support local business and 

emerging industry

	� Complete business survey to 

measure business conditions 

and overall health of the Central 

Highlands economy

	� Promote council’s local 

purchasing principles to support 

local business

Facilitate investment and employment opportunities

	� Development of the CH Invest Study

	� Increase applications for REDI

NIL

A family checks out the view of Fred's Gorge in the Minerva Hills National Park at Springsure.

*Please note this performance report covers both CHDC and council deliverables.
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A dog is scanned for a microchip.

Protecting our people  
and our environment

KEY PRIORITY AREA 4

WELL-MANAGED AND PROTECTED COMMUNITIES

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
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Highlights in 2021-2022
Development assessment
We assessed 193 development applications and all were 

decided within the statutory timeframes. There was a 

noticeable reduction in turnaround, with applications being 

assessed within an average of 4 and a half days in the last 

half of the year. 

We received and responded to a total of 878 customer 

planning enquiries this financial year. 

We also adopted a Standard Development Assessment 

Condition Package, which has improved efficiency in the 

assessment and conditioning of development applications, 

and established a consistent philosophy for officers to refer 

to when preparing conditions. 

Building, plumbing and compliance
Our building, plumbing and compliance teams collectively 

received and responded to 615 customer requests. 

As part of council’s 2021 building audit, 75 building 

compliance matters were resolved and a further 101 building 

development permit applications/approvals were resolved. 

This represents a significant body of work for the team and 

provides the community with assurance their structures are 

compliant. 

We received and processed 141 applications for plumbing 

compliance permits and issued 86 final certificates. 

We also carried out a proactive pool safety education 

program for pool owners, as part of a mandatory 4-yearly 

education program. We didn’t receive any reports for 

notifiable pool safety incidents for the financial year. This is 

a 100% improvement from the previous financial year during 

which a number of notifiable incidents (including one fatality) 

were reported.

Strategic land use planning
After extensive community engagement, we adopted 

the Major Planning Scheme Amendment - Floodplain 

Management in May 2022 (see page 100 for more).

Six development applications for the Regional Economic 

Development Incentive (REDI) were received with 4 

approved by council for a total amount of $112,516.

We also started a review of the REDI policy, including an 

online survey with key stakeholders in March 2022 regarding 

the potential establishment of a new incentive policy 

framework.

We progressed planning scheme amendments for our draft 

urban design guidelines and heritage, scenic amenity and 

Indigenous interests that will address numerous actions 

under our liveability strategy. 

We continued developing a new strategy to reduce 

greenhouse gases titled Towards Net Zero Future Strategy 

and commenced drafting an environmental assessment 

report identifying local areas of high scenic amenity, 

environmental significance and degraded natural and open 

space areas. 

Service areas
STRATEGIC LAND USE PLANNING

RANGER SERVICES

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH WASTE MANAGEMENT

DEVELOPMENT ASSESSMENT

BUILDING, PLUMBING AND COMPLIANCE

TOWN PLANNING

Summary of key activities 
	� Ensure the region’s sustainability through 

integrated, well-planned development

	� Employ efficient development planning 

processes and practices

	� Promote community safety and wellbeing

	� Consult and collaborate with stakeholders 

to manage the built and natural environment

	� Ensure an effective regulatory role through 

education and enforcement of building and 

plumbing compliance

	� Facilitate opportunities for existing 

businesses and emerging industries to 

commence, consolidate and grow

	� Implement key actions of the liveability 

strategy for the region

	� Deliver waste, recycling and re-use 

strategies across the region

	� Manage all domestic and commercial waste 

generated in the Central Highlands 

	� Manage public health risks, including food 

safety and environmental nuisances

Managing food safety is one of council's key services. An aerial shot of residential areas in Emerald.

Resource Recovery Attendant Mosese Colaivalu recycles cardboard.
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Ranger services
Our ranger services team went along to many community 

events to share educational messages about responsible pet 

ownership, such as the Emerald Agricultural Show, Ag-Grow 

and NAIDOC celebrations.

Upgrades were completed to the Capella stock route 

reserve dam and the Maxwell stock route reserve pump.

We worked alongside the Department of Agriculture 

and Fisheries (DAF) to obtain and release biocontrols 

for combating weeds of significance in our region and 

onboarded a rural lands trainee.

Emerald also hosted the LGAQ Natural Resource 

Management Forum and our rural lands officer presented at 

the event.

Environmental health
This financial year was busy for our environmental health 

team, who conducted 133 food premise inspections, 5 public 

health inspections and 37 local law inspections. See more 

statistics from the team on page 98.

Waste management
We completed a number of capital projects in the waste area 

this financial year including:

	� Lochlees Landfill batter rehabilitation

	� Bluff Landfill rehabilitation

	� Bogantungan Landfill rehabilitation

	� Capella Resource Recovery Centre drainage upgrade

	� Lochlees Landfill fuel tank roof installation.

The waste team ran a successful school education program 

with Emerald North State and Capella State schools.

The draft Resource Recovery (Waste) Strategy was 

developed and released to the community for their 

feedback.

We also conducted a waste audit for both general waste and 

recycling.

Challenges in 2021-2022
Development assessment
Resourcing and filling vacant roles in the team is an ongoing 

issue, with the whole industry experiencing challenges in this 

space due to a skills shortage and COVID-19 impacts. 

Building, plumbing and compliance
Finding more flexible ways to continue delivering a high level 

of service through COVID-19 was a challenge, as a large 

amount of this team’s work is inspection based.

Strategic land use planning
The lengthy process to adopt the major planning scheme 

amendment presented a challenge to the team. 

Balancing and progressing multiple planning scheme 

amendments was difficult, particularly if feedback or 

community engagement warranted significant revisions.

We also experienced staff shortages, and a combination of 

COVID-19 restrictions and adverse weather delayed field 

investigations to inform recommendations for the revised 

Local Heritage Register.

Ranger services
Continued COVID-19 restrictions inhibited the rangers team 

attending and hosting some of our annual educational 

events.

Environmental health
Staff resourcing was also an ongoing challenge for this team.

Outlook for 2022-2023
Development assessment
We will continue to assess applications and respond to 

customer enquiries in an efficient and responsive manner.

A key focus for the team this financial year is being more 

present in the community. The reintroduction of our Planners 

in Town sessions will ensure the team, which is primarily 

based in Emerald, is visible across the region. These sessions 

will provide residents in our outer towns the opportunity to 

meet with a planner face-to-face without the need to travel 

into Emerald. These visits will align with CRG meetings or 

community consultation sessions where possible. 

Building, plumbing and compliance
We will continue to use an evidence-based approach to 

understand and streamline workloads and service delivery, 

and build our focus on community education in this 

department.

Strategic land use planning
In 2022-2023, we will undertake community engagement 

and progress the Major Planning Scheme Amendment for 

Business Improvement and Innovation. 

We will also advance planning scheme amendments for the 

urban design guidelines and heritage, scenic amenity and 

Indigenous interests to the state government for review. 

We plan to finalise the review of the REDI policy and 

commence several new development incentives under an 

expanded economic development policy framework.

We will review and update the Liveability Strategy and 

Action Plan and start preparing a draft Local Government 

Infrastructure Plan (LGIP).

As we continue moving forward with our Towards Net 

Zero Future Strategy, we will undertake a greenhouse gas 

emissions estimation.

Ranger services
We will be launching an exciting new educational program 

on responsible animal management (RAM), including school 

visits and a fun new mascot.

We’ll look to expand our Get Pet Active Expo event in 2023 to 

the outer areas.

A microchipping and desexing initiative will be implemented 

and we look forward to onboarding new ranger services 

trainees.

We will continue to assist the community with pest plant and 

pest animal management, with 1080 baiting and applications 

for grant funding. We will also complete some weed 

mapping.

Several of our facilities and assets will receive upgrades, 

including the Emerald and Duaringa washdowns, the dog 

park in Emerald, and the Emerald and Blackwater pounds. 

New dog parks in Springsure and Rolleston are on the 

horizon too.

Environmental health
The team are excited to recruit a senior environmental health 

officer in 2022-2023.

Waste management
The capital works program for the waste team features a 

number of important projects, such as:

	� relocating the Bauhinia bin station

	� purchasing tip face lids for the Lochlees Landfill

	� installing a new roof over the fuel tank at the Emerald 

Resource Recovery Centre and replacing the waste 

oil shed

	� rehabilitating the Springsure Landfill

	� installing a roof over the rear yard area of the Emerald 

tip shop.

A new senior waste and environment officer is also set to be 

recruited.

Strategies, plans and policies 
adopted or updated
	� Major Planning Scheme Amendment No. 6 (Floodplain 

Management)

	� Temporary Local Planning Instrument 02/2022

	� Charges Resolution No. 14

	� Pest Management Plan 2020-2025

	� Draft Resource Recovery (Waste) Strategy

Statistics and trends
	� 4 REDI applications approved totalling $112,516

Trash to Treasure manager John Dawson with 
Emerald Waste Facilities Attendant Des Walsh.
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Applications decided

Building 
Plumbing Planning Compliance 

Privately certified Council certified 

2020-21
257 decided

135 finalised 

76 decided

77 finalised 

201 decided 

195 finalised 

91

(only included material 
change of use and 
reconfiguring a lot)

36 

2021-22
223 finalised

(includes lapsed)

112 finalised 

(includes lapsed)

141 decided

86 finalised

193

(all planning applications)
163

Ranger services

Year 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Dog registrations - - 3,564 3,536 3,280 3,976 3,277

Attacks 109 89 58 45 61 100 76

Wandering animals 816 697 1,486 969 399 500 453

Overgrown allotments 398 519 266 260 223 424 226

Impounded animals - - - - - 633 784

Adopted animals 85 115 186 202 149 130 221

Released animals 180 310 320 226 184 294 286

Euthanised animals 126 100 118 94 126 229 230

Grazing permits 19 16 12 38 29 22 12

Travelling stock permits 38 15 20 34 49 9 18

Environmental health
2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Licenced food premises inspected 110 124 151 187 120 

Licensed food premises (fixed and mobile) 124 208 191 194 195

Routine food inspections 223 124 146 168 101

Follow-up food inspections 8 10 56 9 11

Improvement notices issued 1 0 4 0 0

Food complaints received 6 18 210 7 5

Food compliant inspections performed 10 17 25 10 8

Surrender of food licenses 10 9 1 10 16

Temporary caterer’s permits (assessed and approved) 100 69 39 32 60

Market stall licenses (assessed and approved) 6 4 1 4 8

Event food inspections (Emerald Agricultural Show,  
Ag-Grow and Gemfest)

20 28 1 20 13

Temporary entertainment events (assessed and approved) - - - - 53

Waste management
HOUSEHOLDS WITH KERBSIDE WASTE COLLECTION SERVICE

Year 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Households 9,572 9,760  10,022 10,050 10,110

WASTE AND RECYCLING VOLUMES

Year 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Waste to landfill (ton)  12,590 15,628 40,966* 49,377* 35,956

Waste diversion from landfill (ton)  - -  16,256 14,495 6,665

Kerbside recycling (ton) 1,298 1,252 1,112 1,138 1,161

*Note: The increase in waste to landfill figures for 2019-2020 and 2020-2021 are due to day cover tonnages received at Lochlees Landfill in particular. Prior 
to the levy introduction in 2019, day cover received was not required to be reported. The 2021-2022 figure has had soil day cover received removed.

Waste levy revenue

Incoming revenue 2020-21 2021-22

Waste levy prepayment (refund from state government) $1,000,874 $929,584

Waste levy charge received $796,153 $929,521

Gate fees $1,920,084 $2,100,836

TOTAL $3,717,111 $3,959,941

Waste levy payments

Payments 2020-21 2021-22

Waste levy pre-payment to the Department of Environment and Science $1,742,860 $1,931,051

An aerial shot of Springsure.
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The flood events of 2010-2011, coupled with the 

findings of the Queensland Flood Commission 

Report and changes to the state planning 

policy, have been major drivers to improve 

the management of our region’s floodplains, 

strengthen community resilience and reduce the 

risk to people and property. 

Subsequently, the primary purpose of the Draft 

Planning Scheme Amendment for Floodplain 

Management was to ensure that, wherever 

possible, new development would not increase 

the exposure of people and property to 

unacceptable flood risk. 

Some of the key elements which made this project 

a success were: 

	� a new flood portal and simulation animations 

enabling immediate, free community access 

to updated flood data pinpointed directly into 

their own backyard

	� the development of a project alignment 

framework under the Our Region, Our 

Resilience program to shed light across 

council’s 40+ flood-related projects 

	� a ‘new era’ engagement strategy, using an 

innovative mix of clever, immersive and 

comprehensive community engagement and 

communications methods. 

Benefits of this approach include: 

	� an unprecedented level of understanding by 

the community regarding flood risk and the 

planning scheme amendment process 

	� increased awareness of and ongoing access 

for the community to obtain free, up-to-date 

flood hazard and risk mapping through the 

online ePlanning platform and flood portal

	� greater confidence in the planning scheme 

to appropriately manage development to 

strengthen community resilience and reduce 

the risk to people and property 

	� widespread support of the draft amendment 

(including the flood risk mapping) by the 

community, councillors and state.

This led to the commencement of the Planning 

Scheme Amendment for Floodplain Management 

on 16 May 2022. 

Case Study Major Planning Scheme Amendment for Floodplain Management

Hi, I’m Rebekah McDonald and I am currently 

the acting coordinator for the development and 

planning team. My role prior to this was principal 

planner in the development assessment team.

I started working with council in November 2021 

after relocating to the Central Highlands with my 

family from South East Queensland. I’ve worked 

in the planning industry for 10 years, starting as a 

university student and working for a town planning 

and surveying firm on the Sunshine Coast. 

My background is primarily as a consulting 

town planner, but I have worked on a range of 

development and strategic planning projects 

for both the private sector and state and local 

governments across Queensland, New South 

Wales and Victoria. In 2021, I was definitely ready 

for a change of scenery and wanted to challenge 

myself in a new role and organisation. 

Since joining council, I’ve had involvement in a 

number of different projects working with teams 

across the organisation. This has taught me so 

much about the region, our communities and the 

people who we serve. 

The diversity of the development applications 

we assess and provide advice to customers on 

is unlike anywhere I’ve worked before, which 

definitely makes every day interesting. 

One of my favourite parts of my role so far has 

been travelling and talking to our communities 

about planning matters. As a new resident, it has 

been a great way to get to know the different 

communities and get a better understanding of 

those unique qualities and challenges that each 

one faces.

Staff profile Rebekah McDonald

Historic flood memorial markers in the Emerald Botanic Gardens.

chrc.qld.gov.auCentral Highlands Regional Council Annual Report 2021-2022

https://eplan.chrc.qld.gov.au/flood/?web=1&wdLOR=cBB2103B8-DC60-3569-B03B-37D9AEDB53C1


103102

Resource Recovery Attendant Mosese Colaivalu.

Flying foxes in flight at Mackenzie Park, Duaringa.

A CQ Pet Rescue volunteer collects a dog for rehoming from Ranger Jason May at the Emerald animal management facility.

Performance Report  
Key performance indicators

Well-managed and protected 

communities

	� Gazettal of the Planning Scheme 

Amendment (5) Flood Hazard

	� Achieve 100% compliance 

with development application 

processes

	� Deliver local disaster management 

collaborative regional strategy

	� Build and promote community 

resilience through preparedness 

and evacuation planning

	� Review all-hazards risk register in 

line with statutory amendments 

and changes in community 

context

	� Promote responsible pet 

ownership

Environmental sustainability

	� Deliver pest management control 

initiatives

	� Increase in responsible pet 

ownership compliance across 

the region

Well-managed and protected 

communities

	� Gazettal of the Planning Scheme 

Amendment (6) Business 

Improvement and Innovation

	� Development of Major Planning 

Scheme Amendment Urban 

Design Guidelines and Heritage, 

Scenic Amenity and Indigenous 

Interests

	� Development of Planning Scheme 

Amendment, Revocation of 

Blackwater and Blackwater East 

Priority Development Areas

	� Completion of comprehensive 

audit of 8 SES facilities and 

associated plant and equipment

	� Promotion of a community 

education program to improve 

community resilience when 

dealing with mosquito infestations

Environmental sustainability

	� Facilitation of events to promote environmental awareness

NIL

IMPACTED BY COVID-19 RESPONSE NOT PROCEEDINGCARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVEDCOMPLETED
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Service Desk Officer Conor Quinn-Fitzgerald helps a customer.

Leadership and  
governance

KEY PRIORITY AREA 5

FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY

LEADERSHIP AND COMMUNICATION ADVOCATE FOR THE REGION

ACCOUNTABILITY AND INTEGRITY

chrc.qld.gov.auCentral Highlands Regional Council Annual Report 2021-2022
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Highlights in 2021-2022
Public relations and events
A professional photographer spent 4 days taking a range 

of stock images of the region and council staff, providing 

high-quality photographs for use on our platforms and in our 

marketing material.

We completed an audit of our social media channels to 

better understand their purpose, engagement rates and our 

audiences.

We refreshed the look and feel of council’s public website 

and launched an internal staff e-newsletter to connect staff 

and build a positive workplace culture.

45 employees also attended public speaking and messaging 

workshops delivered by former broadcast journalist Kim 

Skubris from Peak Services. During the training, they learned 

how to hone their communication skills, share a message 

in a compelling way and what to do when communication 

breaks down.

Information, communications and 
technology
Our ICT team ran a successful pilot of satellite technologies 

to improve connectivity at council work camps and address 

employee welfare issues.

We improved mobility for field staff with further deployment 

of shared tablets and transitioned council’s unified 

communications platform from Skype for Business to 

Microsoft Teams.

We upgraded the OneCouncil platform to the 2021B release 

and also conducted an annual disaster recovery full fail-over 

test of upgraded infrastructure.

Looking to the future, we developed scopes for online 

service initiatives, including a customer ePortal and online 

bookings.

Other highlights were the audit of our closed-circuit 

television (CCTV) services and the creation of a CCTV master 

plan, as well as cross-team collaboration on improvements 

to council’s water meter reading process.

Governance, risk and information 
management
Our governance team coordinated and developed the 

Corporate Plan 2022-2027 as well as the Operational Plan 

2022-2023 and quarterly performance reporting regime.

We facilitated the review of 57 council policies, completed 

a project to digitisate physical council records, delivered 16 

ECM training sessions and completed 1,087 service desk 

tickets.

Procurement
In the procurement space, we implemented the NEXGEN 

Ecosystem across the organisation, consisting of Vendor 

Panel, Contracts Monitor and Arc Blue.

We established a probity group with key council 

stakeholders, enabling a forum to discuss all aspects of 

procurement processes and procedures, probity matters, 

best practices and collaboration opportunities.

We also developed new procurement training packages 

and a 12-month advanced training schedule for our staff and 

rolled out the Buy Local Grow Local marketing campaign 

internally.

Finance
In the finance team, we continued to achieve efficiencies in 

the area of accounts payable through the implementation of 

the oneCouncil integrated corporate application system. We 

processed over 25,000 invoices in 2021-2022 and improved 

the timeliness of payments to suppliers.

We also proactively managed debt through the payout of  

$5 million in borrowings during 2021-2022.

Service areas

Summary of key activities
	� Champion good governance and coordinate risk 

management, policy and compliance frameworks 

	� Manage council’s insurance portfolio and supervise the 

internal audit function through the audit committee

	� Practice effective internal and external communication

	� Advocate for improved services and infrastructure

	� Ensure transparency and accountability through 

integrated performance management reporting

	� Ensure the long-term financial sustainability of the region 

through prudent financial management and budgeting

	� Support organisational users of the council’s corporate 

systems and computing network 

	� Provide leadership in the delivery of flexible and 

responsive information and communication technology 

services aligned to business goals and expectations

	� Engage and facilitate the improvement of existing 

systems and implement new technology initiatives

	� Ensure agile and innovative procurement processes 

to deliver compliance and achieve sound contracting 

principles

Former journalist Kim Skubris delivers public speaking training to staff.

PUBLIC RELATIONS AND EVENTS (PRE)

INFORMATION COMMUNICATIONS AND TECHNOLOGY (ICT)

GOVERNANCE AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROCUREMENT

FINANCIAL SERVICES

INFORMATION AND RECORDS MANAGEMENT
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Challenges in 2021-2022
Public relations and events
The PRE team were faced with several vacancies during the 

year, impeding project delivery.

As always, the ever-changing landscape of public relations 

also presented a challenge as we strived to keep up with 

trends and meet community expectations.

Information, communications and 
technology
Availability of information technology hardware was a 

challenge due to global distribution shortages. Early planning 

and procurement for asset replacements and technology 

projects requiring hardware is being undertaken to allow for 

extended lead times.

There was also an increase in cyber security threats. We 

are implementing a 5-year cyber security master plan to 

uplift our cyber security maturity and protect our digital 

information and systems. 

Recruiting specialty technical roles proved difficult too.

Governance, risk and information 
management
Raising awareness of compliance, fraud and corruption, 

and conflict of interest throughout the organisation is 

always challenging, but crucial to the governance of our 

organisation. 

Good record-keeping practices and the use of ECM is also 

an area for improvement.

Finance
In December 2021, the Queensland Grants Commission 

advised that council’s allocation of the financial assistance 

grant from the 2023 financial year would be reduced. 

The impact of this reduced grant revenue was a major 

consideration in the development of the 2022-2023 budget.

Outlook for 2022-2023
Public relations and events
After a lot of behind the scenes work this year, we will roll out 

the brand management tool Canva to the business.

We will launch a printed council newsletter early in 2022-

2023, offering another channel for people to connect with us.

The PRE team will also work closely with customer service to 

explore a more fit-for-purpose website platform.

Information, communications and 
technology
We will develop a digital roadmap as per our new corporate 

plan to drive council and the region towards a digital future.

We will enhance our online services through the delivery of 

initiatives such as an ePortal and online bookings.

Another upgrade of the OneCouncil platform to the 2022B 

release will take place and we will deliver year 4 of our cyber 

security master plan.

The team will continue cyber protective activities and we will 

upgrade our electronic document management system ECM 

to SaaS (software as a service).

Centralised CCTV infrastructure will be installed and 

expanded, and we will also upgrade our meeting room 

audio/visual technologies to facilitate improved online 

meeting experiences.

Governance, risk and information 
management
In 2022-2023, we will commence an audit of our business 

continuity plans as part of a broader project to provide an 

overarching plan to align with existing council plans.

We will review all operational and financial delegations to 

reflect our new organisational structure, which sees the 

property services team merge with the governance and 

information management team.

On top of this, we will review our Governance and Enterprise 

Risk Management frameworks and the team will complete 

the ECM transition project with ICT.

Finance
We will reinstate recovery action for overdue rates and water 

charges, which was placed on hold due to the COVID-19 

pandemic.

Strategies, plans and policies adopted or updated
	� Central Highlands Regional Council Corporate Plan 2022-2027

Statistics and trends
Average number of monthly website users for www.chrc.qld.gov.au 

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

7,456 8,856 8,328 9,850 9,570 13,501 10,629

Average number of media releases/public notices prepared each month

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

11 14 14 14 16 16 17

Average number of posts to the CHRC Facebook page each month

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

49 55 31 24 40 42 30

 

Local spend

Outside spend $70.57 million

Local spend $71.56 million

Excluded $13.63 million

Total spend $155.76 million

An audit of council CCTV was completed this year.
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Working with council is now easier than ever, with 

the launch of a new single source procurement 

platform – Vendor Panel.

The new platform was rolled out in December 

2021 and replaced the LG Tenderbox and APET 

360 systems.

Vendor Panel is more robust, auditable and 

compliant for all council procurement activities.

The signup process is quick and easy, with the 

software being a complete, configurable online 

procurement solution.

Suppliers are able to source tenders and 

quotations, all from the same dashboard. We hope 

this will facilitate more work with local industry and 

business, continuing to support our commitment 

to buying and spending local wherever possible.

The launch also complements our rollout of 

ArcBlue internally, a one-stop shop for staff 

procurement needs, including information on local 

buy, analytics and reporting, and access to useful 

resources.

To learn more about the Vendor Panel software, 

visit our website.

Case Study Launch of Vendor Panel

Hi, I’m Sanjay Narayan and I am an information 

technology solutions officer.

My background is in IT services and support, 

having spent over 6 years with James Cook 

University and close to 4 years in the local 

government sector. 

I started with CHRC in October 2018. The position 

has certainly lived up to my expectations, with my 

duties being many and varied.

One project that I’ve been involved in was the 

Multifactor Authentication (MFA) rollout across 

council. The results from this were very successful 

and rewarding, improving the organisation’s 

security and protecting users from cyber criminals. 

The project was completed before the COVID-19 

pandemic, so we were fortunate to be able to offer 

all council employees safe access to resources 

and the ability to work from home.

Another very import task I do is IT system 

administration, which includes the upkeep, 

configuration and operation of client computer 

systems, servers and networks systems. This 

is a challenging role ensuring the needs of 

our customers are met. We are always striving 

to ensure IT infrastructure and networks are 

upgraded and maintained so users have access to 

vital services. 

A highlight from the year was the upgrade of our 

print management software to Papercut Solution, 

which enabled us to track, manage and do secure 

printing including, copying, scanning to emails and 

scanning to OneDrive for larger files. 

Working for council has given me the opportunity 

to learn, grow and develop a path towards my 

career progression.

Staff profile Sanjay Narayan

Vendor Panel
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Council chambers at the Capella office.

Performance Report 
Key performance indicators

Leadership and 

communication

	� Review the internal and external 

communications plan

Advocate for our region

	� Develop a CHRC Advocacy 

Strategy Action Plan

	� Advocate for improved regional 

transport network infrastructure 

in collaboration with the Bowen 

Basin Regional Road and 

Transport Group

	� Develop raw water pricing 

framework

Accountability and integrity

	� Review and align council strategic 

documents with the corporate 

planning process

	� Develop a new 5-year 

corporate plan

Financial sustainability

	� Implement year 2 of Airport 

Strategic Business Plan actions.

	� Airport compliant with legislative 

safety obligations

	� Implement year 2 of Saleyards 

Strategic Business Plan actions

	� Saleyards compliant with 

legislative safety obligations

	� Strengthen stakeholder 

communication and engagement 

for commercial businesses

	� Maintain Queensland Treasury 

corporate credit rating

	� Report finance information 

and plans to council and state 

government

Leadership and 

communication

	� Deliver the service level 

planning project

Accountability and integrity

	� Facilitation of council and elected 

members self-assessment 

surveys

	� Implementation of a new 

corporate planning and 

performance reporting 

management software

NIL

NOT PROCEEDINGCARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVEDCOMPLETED
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Senior Advisor Safety Infrastructure Kim Willard carries out an inspection.

Our organisation
KEY PRIORITY AREA 6

A LEADING CULTURE LIVING OUR VALUES A GREAT PLACE TO WORK

chrc.qld.gov.auCentral Highlands Regional Council Annual Report 2021-2022
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Highlights in 2021-2022
Safety and wellness
The lost time injury duration rate (LTIDR) is the average 

number of days lost per lost-time injury. In 2021-2022, our 

LTIDR was 18.81 days compared to the LGW scheme average 

of 28.94.

The lost time injury incident rate (LTIIR) is the number of lost-

time injuries and illnesses for every 100 workers employed. 

This financial year, our LTIIR was 1.82 compared to the LGW 

group average of 1.94 and the LGW scheme average of 2.36. 

We have demonstrated a 50% decrease in lost-time 

injury incidents and claims in 2021-2022, compared to the 

previous year,.

Another highlight was the Office of Industrial Relations 

support in providing a mock court trial for leaders to 

reinforce the application of due diligence in the workplace. 

The mock court was followed by a question and answer 

session with the regulator and our leaders.

Customer service
This financial year, our customer service team achieved a 

customer satisfaction rate of 98%, according to our annual 

customer satisfaction survey.

People and culture
We developed 2 bespoke programs aimed at uplifting the 

capability of our leaders. 

The Ignite Growth program was designed to challenge and 

strengthen our team leaders’ and managers’ leadership skills. 

Over 50 employees attended the program which commenced 

in March 2022 and will conclude in November 2022. 

The Supervisor Toolkit program targets frontline supervisors 

with 2 tailored courses per month helping supervisors to face 

unique challenges and navigate systems and processes to 

lead teams effectively. 

To encourage more people from our local community to 

apply for positions with us, our recruitment team hit the road 

for the Career Chats in Our Community sessions. Together 

with employees from a range of teams, they met with locals 

in Emerald, Blackwater, Capella and Springsure to talk about 

career opportunities and pathways with council. 

In 2022, we had 2 nominations in the Queenlsand Training 

Awards progress to the Central Queensland Region finals. 

CHRC was nominated in the category of Large Employer 

of the Year. Madonna Nelson-Bamford (Certificate III in 

Parks and Gardens) was nominated in the category of Harry 

Hauenschild Apprentice of the Year and was selected as a 

state finalist. 

Service areas

Summary of key activities
	� Provide excellent customer service to ensure professional 

service delivery

	� Continuously advance work practices and business 

systems to ensure a skilled, motivated and community-

focused workforce

	� Create and sustain a positive and future-focused 

organisational culture that demonstrates and supports 

council’s values

	� Sustain a productive, efficient and safe workforce that is 

responsive to council and community needs

Customer Experience Officer Rachael Deer helps someone over the phone.

The Blackwater council office.

CUSTOMER SERVICE AND CALL CENTRE PEOPLE AND PERFORMANCE

RECRUITMENT TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT SAFETY AND WELLNESS

PAYROLL

Our safety values
What we all strive for  
Start Safe, Work Safe. Home Safe.
	� All incidents are preventable.

	� Everyone has a right to come to work, do their jobs 

effectively and go home safely.

	� Every person has the authority to stop the job.

	� No job is more important than my ‘Top 4’.

	� I am responsible for safety.

	� I will not walk past an unsafe act or condition.

chrc.qld.gov.auCentral Highlands Regional Council Annual Report 2021-2022
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Challenges in 2021-2022
Safety and wellness
Supporting all levels of the organisation in clarity of roles 

and responsibilities including meeting the compliance 

requirements of our workplaces, continues to be a focus.  

Staff are encouraged to speak up when witnessing unsafe 

acts or unsafe conditions learning from the frontline and 

acting upon the concerns raised in a timely manner. 

Customer service
Onboarding a brand new team in the Emerald branch took 

time as there was a lot of knowledge to transfer and skills 

to develop. COVID-19 impacts, specifically quarantine and 

isolation periods, affected staff numbers and resulted in the 

activation of the our COVID-19 Business Continuity Plan to 

ensure services could be maintained.

People and culture
Our apprenticeship and traineeship program for 2021-2022 

was delayed due to COVID-19 impacts. As a result, we 

provided mid-year opportunities to counter this loss of talent.

The Australian job market boomed in 2021-2022, contributing 

to a higher employee turn-around and difficulties in attracting 

new applicants to Central Queensland. This resulted in 

increased vacancy rates and recruitment timeframes. As a 

consequence, council is reviewing alternative recruitment 

and attraction strategies to compete in the current labour 

market conditions. 

Outlook for 2022-2023
Safety and wellness
We will continue to build clarity on roles and responsibilities 

to provide a safe work place at CHRC. Encouraging timely 

reporting to enable support for the injured worker and 

learnings from the incident to be applied promptly continue 

to be the focus.  Extensive consultation has occurred with 

CHRC leaders and elected health and safety representatives 

to develop a strategy going forward to progress the maturity 

of safety and wellness at CHRC.  This strategy will take an 

integrated approach focusing on consultation, collaboration, 

effective safety management systems and proactive health 

and wellness forward to help achieve the safety values, 

compliance and that everyone starts safe, works safe and 

can go home safe. 

Customer service
Customer service will work with the ICT team to enhance our 

online services available to the public, including a ‘registered 

user’ portal. 

We will also continue work on a customer experience project 

to create a deeper understanding of who our customers are 

– their personal attributes and behavioural characteristics 

such as needs, motivations, attitudes and pain points. This 

will be critical in ensuring decisions are customer-focused.

People and culture
The people and culture department’s theme in 2022-2023 is 

‘connect and collaborate’.

In this space, we will endeavour to:

	� develop a Strategic Workforce Plan to support our 

corporate plan initiatives

	� consider competitive attraction and retention strategies

	� redefine people and culture’s policies and procedures

	� integrate a 90-day onboarding plan for new employees.

Statistics and trends
	� 22,460 calls received to our 1300 number

	� 89% of calls resolved at first point of contact

	� 18,985 customer requests lodged

	� 638 after-hours calls received

	� 1,528 eLearns completed

	� 969 compliance and corporate training items delivered

	� 122 high-risk work licences, plant and equipment 

competencies completed

	� 181 competency assessments verified

	� Workforce statistics can be found on page 58

Following the expiry of the previous agreement, 

the Central Highlands Regional Council Certified 

Agreement 2021-2024 was approved by the 

Australian Industrial Relations Commission in 

September 2021.

Certified agreements are a type of industrial 

instrument. Industrial instruments set the minimum 

standards of employment for the group of workers 

which they cover. Certified agreements are read in 

conjunction with the related award.

The endorsement by the commission followed 

months of consultation with our staff and union 

representatives, including face-to-face and online 

information sessions across the region, a central 

hub on our intranet with updates and resources, 

and a dedicated email inbox for questions and 

comments.

Council and union representatives met regularly 

to discuss feedback as part of the negotiation 

process, and in August 2021 the proposed new 

agreement was put to the vote.

Of the 289 votes cast, 92.04% of our staff were in 

favour of the agreement.

This was an excellent result and demonstrated 

confidence by employees in the conditions of their 

workplace and the direction of the organisation. 

Case Study Certified Agreement 2021-2024 approved

Council staff count the certified agreement ballot vote.
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Hi, we are the training and development team. 

Together, we have been with the CHRC family for 

a little over 10 years. 

We have a broad range of skills, knowledge 

and experience gained in a variety of roles and 

industries. We use all of this to provide quality 

training and development programs and events 

for our workforce.

We are passionate champions of growth and 

are focused on helping others to reach their 

full potential! Our team supports students to 

get a taste of local government through work 

experience and our apprentice and trainee 

program. 

We ensure our workforce remains safe 

and effective to perform their roles through 

compliance and corporate training events. Our 

trainer and assessor is always willing to lend 

a hand, working with our crews in the field to 

develop and maintain their skills operating plant 

and equipment.

Despite the challenges of COVID-19, our small 

team has delivered a significant volume of training 

(see statistics in above section).

We were excited to launch two unique leadership 

development initiatives this year - the Ignite 

Growth program and our Supervisor Toolkit. 

We recognise the need to continue to improve 

our systems, processes and tools. In the past 

year we successfully launched our new learning 

management system Damstra Learning. This 

platform supports new starters with inductions 

and all employees with training about our systems, 

processes and the services we offer. To date, more 

than 2,200 courses have been completed.

We’ve also enabled registration for training events 

online through OneCouncil and developed a 

suite of resources such as our apprentice and 

trainee guide, supervisor and mentor handbook 

and guides on a range of topics including 

LinkedIn Learning, traffic management, Individual 

Development Plans and more.

Staff profile Training and development team General Manager Communities John McDougall chats to a potential employee.

Customer service team members Nicky Frisch and Jennifer Green assist a woman.

Coordinator Training and Development Sheree Chant, Training and Development Officers Marie White,  
Shani Caruana and Sarah Bates, and Trainer and Assessor Plant and Equipment Shaun George.
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Performance Report 
Key performance indicators

Living our values

	� Achieve greater than 90% 

community customer service 

satisfaction

Continuous improvement 

culture

	� Implement OneCouncil enterprise 

business system phase one

	� Review and adopt workforce 

planning strategy

	� Implement 95% of human 

resources strategy action plans

	� Achieve 90% leadership 

development program attendance

	� Reduce staff turnover rate through 

attraction and retention initiatives

	� Conduct regular staff surveys

One team approach

	� Provide annual review of 

enterprise risk management 

report to audit committee

	� Develop a crisis management plan

	� Conduct elected member 

inductions

	� Encourage elected member 

professional development

Working safely

	� Provide bi-monthly workplace 

health and safety report to council

Continuous improvement culture

	� Implementation of 90-day 

employee onboarding program

	� Implementation of an audit actions 

management system solution

One team approach

	� Implementation of the risk 

management system solution

NIL

NOT PROCEEDINGCARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVEDCOMPLETED

The windmill in Rich Park, Springsure.
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Commercial services 
STABILITY CONFIDENCE ACCOUNTABILITY

The Emerald Airport.
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Highlights in 2021-2022
Property services
As part of our capital works program, the septic system at 

Anakie was upgraded. The gardens and concrete paths to 

assist the elderly tenants in accessing their property also 

received a facelift.

We resolved to sell our aged housing assets as it is no longer 

economically viable nor in the communities’ best interest to 

retain older housing stock. However, in some instances, we 

are unable to sell these assets and this has led to upgrades 

to some existing properties.

One of these was a house on Elizabeth Street in 

Duaringa, which has been upgraded to provide employee 

accommodation.

In 2021-2022, we sold 17 houses across the region including:

	� 2 houses to Woorabinda Aboriginal Shire Council by 

applying the government agency exception

	� 5 houses to employee tenants who were directly 

impacted by the disposal of employee housing by 

applying the Ministerial exception.

Airport
The Emerald Airport was named the Large Regional Airport 

of the Year in the AAA National Airport Industry Awards 2021.

The COVID-19 pandemic significantly affected passenger 

numbers during the year as it did the previous year. However, 

the proactive implementation of the Emerald Airport 

Business Continuity Plan ensured that the airport remained 

open throughout the year. 

Careful management of the operational budget for the 

airport and landing strips resulted in a final spend within 1% of 

the committed budget. 

The next phase of building the Emerald Airport Master Plan 

was a focus during the year. The southwest precinct will 

focus on better supporting car rental providers at the airport 

with overflow parking lots and detailing facilities.

Saleyards
We commenced the construction of spelling yards at the 

Emerald Saleyards at the end of May 2022 after an appeal 

process against the development ended in December 2021. 

Extensions have been granted by the 2 funding bodies 

allowing completion prior to December 2022.

The livestock market continues to experience 

unprecedented demand and additional new benchmarks in 

returns to producers. The cattle market remains at record 

highs with strong demand on the eastern seaboard for all 

descriptions. Recent rain events have added to this and the 

general confidence within the industry, flowing on to high 

values for grazing properties and increases for dipping and 

spelling services. 

Major projects competed at the saleyards include:

	� the installation of a National Livestock Identification 

System (NLIS) scanner to the half-deck weighbridge

	� a new half deck scale platform

	� a new front fence and grid entrance.

Service areas

Summary of key activities
	� Ensure council’s commercial activities are managed well and provide benefits to our community

The Emerald Airport Cafe will re-open in 2022-2023.

PROPERTY SERVICES EMERALD SALEYARDSEMERALD AIRPORT

Cattle at the Emerald Saleyards.
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Challenges in 2021-2022
Property services
Council manages approximately 94 units associated with 

community housing, of those 15 are entirely council-owned 

and controlled. The remaining 79 units are managed 

through the Queensland State Regulatory System for 

Community Housing Providers under 9 capital funding 

agreements. These agreements were entered into by the 

pre-amalgamated councils between 1987 and 2005. They 

continue to impact on the running of council’s community 

housing assets and provide onerous reporting regimes and 

obligations on council.

In addition to the reporting regimes, the contingent liability 

liable to the state for these properties (approximately $2.9 

million) increases if we expend capital funding on the 

upgrade of these properties.

Saleyards
We experienced some logistical problems at peak times 

for the placement and holdings of various mobs of cattle 

due to an increase in throughput for both dipping and 

spelling services.

Airport
The COVID-19 pandemic resulted in varying activity and 

passenger throughput at the airport, as well as significant 

operational challenges. The second half of the financial 

year showed a steady increase of passengers returning to 

domestic flights.

The continuing rollout of new and amended federal 

regulations for safety and security at regional airports added 

further complexity. The team met all deadlines, audits and 

documentation requirements. 

COVID-related travel restrictions heavily impacted on 

the private operator of the Emerald Airport Café, which 

unfortunately closed during the financial year. A decision was 

made to reopen the café as an airport service. The relevant 

capabilities had to be established, licenses sought, and 

suppliers and staff engaged during the year. 

Outlook for 2022-2023
Property services
We will progress the final year of housing disposals in  

2022-2023.

We will also deliver community housing and employee 

housing upgrades across the region, and construct new 

employee housing in Duaringa.

Saleyards
We will complete the spelling yard project, which is both 

state and federal government funded. This will give the 

facility greater flexibility and allow for better outcomes of the 

various consignments of stock using the facility. 

Airport
The reopening of the Emerald Airport Café will be an 

opportunity to provide an increased service to travellers, 

visitors and the community. 

The commencement of the construction of the southwest 

precinct at the Emerald Airport will be a big focus of the 

capital expenditure during 2022-2023. 

Statistics and trends
Council housing occupancy rates %

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Staff housing 66 78 83 73 76 78 68 78

Community housing 83 71 85 88 84 88 80 97

Cattle numbers through Emerald Saleyards

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

116,772 90,234 102,462 109,182 95,086 87,745 80,008

Passenger numbers at Emerald Airport

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

216,107 208,284 206,748 204,073 173,284 156,707 159,717

Old council housing stock is removed for the Emerald Retro Street Kindergarten redevelopment project.
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During a biosecurity standstill operation, it was 

identified that due to the location and many users 

of the Emerald Saleyards a lockdown of the facility 

was not achievable. 

This led us to develop plans to upgrade the 

front fence and grid entrance as part of our 

capital works program for 2021-2022. Funding to 

complete the project was also secured through 

the state government’s Works for Queensland 

program. 

The upgrades are now complete and the facility 

can now be fully lockdown with controlled entry 

via the 18-metre main entrance grid. 

The construction phase presented some 

challenges as transport diversions needed to be 

put in place to allow ongoing 24-hour access to 

the facility for receiving and despatching livestock, 

and normal sales operations. 

This project was very timely, as Foot and Mouth 

Disease and Lumpy Skin Disease outbreaks 

in nearby Indonesia pose a threat to Australia. 

The project gives us and the community the 

security and peace of mind that should state or 

federal biosecurity agencies require lockdown or 

restricted movement, we can implement those 

controls. 

Case Study Emerald Saleyards front fence and grid upgrades
Hi, my name is Tami Gray and I am a senior 

saleyards officer at the Emerald Saleyards. I have 

worked with council for the past 11 years.

I grew up on a cattle and cropping farm in 

Condamine that I often return to. I have a degree 

in childcare but followed my roots and heart 

back to farming, which brought me to work at the 

saleyards.

Currently, my day is spent mostly in front of the 

computer, requesting invoices, paying invoices, 

recording stock movements and communicating 

with stakeholders, livestock agents, vendors, 

buyers and truck drivers. I engage with all of our 

contractors, report to the Department of Primary 

Industries, partake in livestock audits, book in 

private sales, distribute market reports and sale 

information and the list goes on and on. 

I oversee every cattle sale and operate the 

2 weighbridges simultaneously. I have also 

completed on-the-ground tasks, such as yard 

building and cleaning, lawn maintenance, drafting 

cattle, dipping cattle, feeding cattle, repairing 

troughs, gates and scanning every head of cattle 

into the yards like little parcels of joy you wait to 

collect from the post office.

A project from the year was having the half deck 

weighbridge replaced and a larger overhead NLIS 

tag reader installed eliminating our only confined 

space on site and improving our infrastructure. 

This has resulted in a safer workplace and 

improved productivity. 

Staff profile Tami Gray
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Performance report 
Key performance indicators

NOT PROCEEDINGCARRIED OVER/NOT ACHIEVEDCOMPLETED

	� Review of CHHC constitution object and facilitation of quarterly board meetings

	� Complete airport strategic business plan actions

	� Complete saleyards strategic business plan actions

	� Achieve 100% legislative compliance at airport and saleyards

NIL

NIL

The Lighthorse sculpture in Capella
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Legislative disclosure  
requirements 

The Emerald Botanic Gardens.
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Annual Report Compliance Checklist
Local Government Act 2009 (LGA). Local Government Regulation, 2012 (LGR)

Requirement Legislative reference Page reference/link

A list of all the beneficial enterprises that the local government conducted 

during the financial year.

LGA s41 138

A list of all the business activities that the local government conducted 

during the financial year.

LGA s45 138

Identify the business activities that are significant business activities. LGA s45 138

State whether or not the competitive neutrality principle was applied to 

the significant business activities, and if the principle was not applied, the 

reason why it was not applied.

LGA s45 148

State whether any of the significant business activities were not 

conducted in the preceding financial year.

LGA s45 138

The total of all remuneration packages that are payable (in the year to 

which the annual report relates) to the senior management of the local 

government.

LGA s201 58

The number of employees in senior management who are being paid 

each band of remuneration.

LGA s201 58

The general purpose financial statement for the financial year, audited by 

the auditor-general.

LGR s183 166

The current-year financial sustainability statement for the financial year, 

audited by the auditor-general.

LGR s183 216

The long-term financial sustainability statement for the financial year. LGR s183 220

The auditor-general’s audit reports about the general purpose financial 

statement and the current year financial sustainability statement.

LGR s183 212-219

The community financial report for the financial year. LGR s184 162

A copy of the resolutions made during the financial year under s250(1) of 

the LGR (adoption of an expenses reimbursement policy).

LGR s185 138

A list of any resolutions made during the financial year under s206(2) 

of the LGR (threshold for non-current physical asset to be treated as 

an expense).

LGR s185 138

The total remuneration, including superannuation contributions, paid to 

each councillor during the financial year.

LGR s186 48

The expenses incurred by, and the facilities provided to, each councillor 

during the financial year under the local government’s expenses 

reimbursement policy.

LGR s186 48

The number of local government meetings that each councillor attended 

during the financial year.

LGR s186 43

The total number of orders made under section 150I(2) of the LGA. LGR s186 139

The total number of orders made under section 150AH(1) of the LGA. LGR s186 139

Requirement Legislative reference Page reference/link

The total number of decisions, orders and recommendations made under 

section 150AR(1) of the LGA.

LGR s186 139

The name of each councillor for whom a decision, order or 

recommendation under section 150(I(2), 150AH(1) or 150 AR(1) of the LGA 

was made.

LGR s186 140

A description of the unsuitable meeting conduct, inappropriate conduct or 

misconduct engaged in by each of the councillors.

LGR s186 140

A summary of the decision, order or recommendation made for 

each councillor.

LGR s186 140

A statement about the local government’s commitment to dealing fairly 

with administrative action complaints.

LGR s187 140

A statement about how the local government has implemented its 

complaints management process, including an assessment of the local 

government’s performance in resolving complaints under the process.

LGR s187 140

The number of administrative action complaints made to the 

local government.

LGR s187 140

The number of administrative action complaints resolved by the local 

government under the complaints management process.

LGR s187 140

The number of administrative action complaints not resolved by the local 

government under the complaints management process.

LGR s187 140

The number of administrative action complaints not resolved by the local 

government under the complaints management process that were made 

in a previous financial year.

LGR s187 140

Information about overseas travel made by a councillor or local 

government employee including name, position, destination, purpose, 

and cost.

LGR s188 141

Expenditure for the financial year on grants to community organisations. LGR s189 (former 

version) and LGR s354

141

Expenditure from each councillor’s discretionary fund, including the name 

of each community organisation to which an amount was allocated from 

the fund and the amount and purpose of the allocation.

LGR s189 (former 

version) and LGR s354

NA

The chief executive officer’s assessment of the local government’s 

progress towards implementing its 5-year corporate plan and annual 

operational plan.

LGR s190 15

Particulars of other issues relevant to making an informed assessment of 

the local government’s operations and performance in the financial year.

LGR s190 19-23

Annual operations report for each commercial business unit. LGR s190 125
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Requirement Legislative reference Page reference/link

Details of any action taken for, and expenditure on, a service, facility or 

activity supplied by another local government under an agreement for 

conducting a joint government activity for which the local government 

levied special rates or charges for the financial year.

LGR s190 145

A summary of the number of invitations to change tenders under section 

228(7) of the LGR during the financial year.

LGR s190 145

A list of the registers kept by the local government. LGR s190 145

A summary of all concessions for rates and charges granted by the local 

government.

LGR s190 145

The report on the internal audit for the financial year. LGR s190 152

A summary of investigation notices given in the financial year under S49 of 

the LGR for competitive neutrality complaints.

LGR s190 145

The local government’s responses in the financial year on the Queensland 

Competition Authority's recommendations on any competitive neutrality 

complaints under S52(3) of the LGR.

LGR s190 145

Local Government Act 2009
Identifying beneficial enterprises (s41)
No beneficial enterprises conducted this year.

Identifying significant business activities (s45)
Council conducted 2 significant business activities during 

2021-2022 – water services and sewerage services.

The competitive neutrality principle was applied to these 

significant businesses. There were no other significant 

business activities commenced during the reporting period.

For a full list of business activities refer to Note 27 ‘National 

Competition Policy’ of the financial statements on page 208.

Senior management remuneration (s201) 
Refer to page 58.

Local Government Regulation 2012
General purpose financial statements
Refer to page 166.

Community financial report 
Refer to page 162.

Particular resolutions (s185)
On 20 October 2021, the Expenses Reimbursement and 

Provision of Facilities for Mayor and Councillors Policy 

CHRCP0042 and Asset Accounting Policy CHRCP0051 

were adopted with minor amendments (Resolution 

2021/10/20/007 – Carried 9-0).

Councillors (s186)

Councillor remuneration (LGR 2012 s186)

Refer to page 48.

Councillor expenses and facilities (LGR 2012 s186)

Refer to page 48.

Councillor meeting attendance 2021-2022 

(s186(c)) 

Refer to page 43.

Complaints in accordance with Section 186f 
of the Local Government Regulation 2012
In accordance with the requirements of section 186(1)(d) and 

(f) of the Local Government Regulation 2012, council advises 

that for the period 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022 the statistics 

below were reported.

The total number of orders made in 
accordance with s186(1)(d) of the Local 
Government Regulation 2012

Number

Orders made under s150I(2) of the Act 0

Orders made under s150AH(1) of the Act 0

Decisions, orders and recommendations 

made under s150AR(1) of the Act

0
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Complaints in accordance with s186(1)(f) of 
the Local Government Regulation 2012

Number

Complaints referred to the assessor under 

s150P(2)(a) of the Act by local government 

entities for the local government

0

Matters, mentioned in s150P(3) of the 

Act, notified to the Crime and Corruption 

Commission

0

Notices given under s150R(2) of the Act 0

Notices given under s150S(2)(a) of the Act 0

Decisions made under s150W(1)(a), (b) and (e) 

of the Act

4

Referral notices accompanied by a 

recommendation mentioned in s150AC(3)(a) of 

the Act

0

Occasions information was given under 

s150AF(4)(a) of the Act

0

Occasions the local government asked 

another entity to investigate, under chapter 

5A, part 3, division 5 of the Act for the local 

government, the suspected inappropriate 

conduct of a councillor

0

Applications heard by the conduct tribunal 

under chapter 5A, part 3, division 6 of the 

Act about whether a councillor engaged in 

misconduct or inappropriate conduct 

0

In accordance with s186(1)(e) of the Local Government 

Regulation 2012, council must report on the following during 

the financial year.

	� The name of each councillor for whom a decision, 

order or recommendation mentioned in paragraph (d) 

was made

	� A description of the unsuitable meeting conduct, 

inappropriate conduct or misconduct engaged in by each 

of the councillors

	� A summary of the decision, order or recommendation 

made for each councillor

Council has no matters to report for s186(1)(e) of the Local 

Government Regulation 2012. 

Administrative action complaints (s187)
Council is committed to a complaint management process 

that ensures the transparent, fair and effective resolution 

of complaints. Council has adopted a request ethos where 

customer contact raising an issue that does not include a 

decision or action will be raised as a request for service. 

Complaints may be lodged by an affected person either in 

writing, by phone, in person, letter, fax or email. 

Council manages complaints through its general complaints 

management policy and administrative action complaints 

procedure. If a complainant is dissatisfied with the outcome 

of the investigation undertaken by the department, they 

may appeal for an internal review to the CEO or another 

departmental general manager. If the complainant is not 

satisfied with the internal review, they may lodge a complaint 

with the Queensland Ombudsman or use other external 

review processes through the courts were appropriate. 

There has been a reduction in the number of complaints 

compared to last year. All complainants were acknowledged 

within 7 days and council was able to finalise 100% of 

administrative action complaints received this financial year. 

This financial year an internal audit was conducted of the 

complaints management process. Council has committed to 

implementing the recommendations of that internal audit in 

the 2022-2023 financial year. 

Outcome of administrative action complaints

Number of complaints made under the 

administrative actions complaints process

3

Number of administrative action complaints 

resolved under complaints management process

3

Number of unresolved complaints under the 

administrative actions complaints process during 

the financial year

0

Number of unresolved complaints under the 

administrative actions complaints process from 

2021-2022 (previous financial year)

0

Overseas travel (s188) 
There was no overseas travel in 2021-2022.

Grants to community organisations (s189) 

Organisation Project  Grant category
Amount 

(to nearest 
whole $)

Round 2, 2021 (endorsed by council 6 October 2021)

Blackwater Pony Club Extend stable complex Sport and Recreation 4,855

Blackwater Powerboat and Ski 

Club 

Education and training in strategic and 

operational planning

Sport and Recreation 5,000

Borilla Community Kindergarten 

Association 

Safety upgrade of Borilla Kindergarten Community Improvement 20,000

Capella Cattledogs Rugby Union Clubhouse cold room upgrade Community Improvement 20,000

Central Highlands Music Festival Sheet music for the Central Highlands 

Festival of Bands

Community Assistance 4,600

Rotary Club of Emerald (auspice 

for Daniels Family Reunion Group)

Gindie and Daniels family historical sign Community Assistance 4,964

Dingo Rodeo Club Upgrade of toilet and shower facilities 

(stage one)

Sport and Recreation 5,000

Emerald Basketball Association New scoreboards and shot clocks Community Improvement 15,000

Emerald Brothers Cricket Club Shed and scorebox upgrade Sport and Recreation 5,000

Emerald Lions Futsal Club 

Incorporated

Start-up equipment (balls, goals and bibs) Sport and Recreation 5,000

Emerald Patchwork and Quilting 

Group 

Airconditioner and chairs Community Assistance 4,500

Epic All Sports Water use efficiency project Community Improvement 20,000

Gindie State School P&C 

Association

Yarning circle for Gindie State School Community Assistance 5,000

Lochington Recreation Club Weatherproof patio and pool equipment 

storage area

Sport and Recreation 4,999

Maraboon Powerboat and Ski Club Commercial kitchen equipment Sport and Recreation 3,880

Orion Primary P&C Association Tennis wall shade Community Assistance 5,000

Police-Citizens Youth Club 

Blackwater

Blackwater boxing room upgrade Community Improvement 16,215

Springsure Working Horse 

Association 

Arena surface leveller Sport and Recreation 2,750

St Vincent de Paul Society 

Queensland

Vinnies Emerald painting and floor 

covering 

Community Improvement 12,167

TOTAL 163,929
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Organisation Project Grant category
Amount 

(to nearest 
whole $)

Round 1, 2022 (endorsed by council 13 April 2022)

Arcadia Valley Recreation Association Improvements to recreation hall Community Assistance 5,000

Bauhinia Polocrosse Club Incorporated Upgrade clubroom kitchen Community Improvement 20,000

Blackwater and District Rugby League 

Football Club Incorporated

Construction of referee rooms at 

grounds

Community Improvement 20,000

Blackwater Clay Target Club Incorporated Purchase canteen fridge Sport and Recreation 5,000

Blackwater Tiny Tots Centre Incorporated Purchase of fridge and picnic 

tables 

Community Assistance 2,064

Callide Dawson Branch of the Australian 

Stock Horse Society Incorporated

Medical providers (ambulance) at 

annual Stock Horse Show

Sport and Recreation 3,000

Central Highlands Agricultural Show 

Society

Australian School of Etiquette 

professional and personal 

development for teens and adults

Community Assistance 4,688

Central Highlands Junior Rugby Union 

Incorporated

Multi-code junior football precinct 

master plan

Community Improvement 20,000

Central Highlands Triathlon Club Trailer maintenance and purchase 

of computer for events

Sport and Recreation 3,370

Dingo Tennis Club Incorporated Upgrade clubhouse flooring Sport and Recreation 5,000

Emerald and District Athletics Association 

Incorporated

Equipment replacement Sport and Recreation 5,000

Emerald Gymnastics and Trampoline 

Club Incorporated

Training equipment Sport and Recreation 3,645

Emerald Junior Tigers Rugby League 

Incorporated

Portable public announcement 

system 

Sport and Recreation 3,508

Emerald Police and Community Youth 

Club

RUBY – Rise Up Be Yourself Community Assistance 1,185

Emerald Show Society Incorporated Light up the HIA pavilion Community Improvement 11,000

Gemfields Community Garden Group 

Incorporated

Battery-operated garden 

equipment

Community Assistance 2,000

Gindie Tennis Club Incorporated Replacement of broken glass on 

beverage fridge

Sport and Recreation 4,342

Outback Exploratorium Byte Wise exhibition Community Assistance 5,000

Playgroup Queensland Limited - Tieri 

Possums Playgroup

Purchase of new equipment Community Assistance 4,585

Sagittarius Creek Golf Club Incorporated 

(Blackwater Golf Club)

Blackwater Golf ProAm 

tournament

Community Assistance 5,000

Organisation Project Grant category
Amount 

(to nearest 
whole $)

Springsure Gun Club Shed construction Community Improvement 20,000

Springsure Junior Cricket Club Spinfire Pro-1 ball machine Sport and Recreation 3,183

Springsure Lions Club Incorporated Instant marquee for community 

events

Community Assistance 4,500

Springsure State School P&C Association Upgrade school bore Community Assistance 5,000

TOTAL 166,071

A car travels towards Blackdown Tablelands National Park.
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Regional Arts Development Fund grants 

Applicant Project title Project summary
Amount  

(to nearest whole $)

Emerald Patchwork 

and Quilting Group 

Traditional meets 

contemporary

A series of workshops in traditional quilting 

methods resulting in each participant 

completing a quilt

3,927

Noosa Film Academy Gindie community song 

and film clip

125 Year Anniversary Celebrations of Gindie 

through development of a short music film

5,607

Gindie P&C Group Red carpet community 

event

Film and screen workshops at local 

highschools resulting in a red-carpet film 

premiere at Emerald Cinemas

4,300

Blackwater 

Patchwork Group

Deerfield embroidery Workshops in Deerfield embroidery, which 

will then be assembled into a needle case or 

handbag

1,740

Springsure Working 

Horse Association

Springsure students’ 

theatrical performance

A musical tribute and theatrical performance 

by local students about the development and 

history of the Australian Campdraft Association

9,391

Emerald Pottery Club Autumn wheel-throwing 

workshops

Workshops to develop wheel-throwing skills 

for participants and result in the completion of 

a mug

3,180

Emerald Art Group International Year of 

Glass workshops

Workshops in glass bead making and glass 

fusing during the International Year of Glass

5,360

Emerald Lions Club Lions 75th anniversary 

mosaic emblem

Construction of a piece of public art in Lions 

Park, Emerald to commemorate the 75th 

anniversary of the Lions Club

16,000

CHRC on behalf of 

CHACAC

Flipside Circus Flipside Circus acrobatic and circus workshops 

in Emerald and Blackwater, along with a 

training opportunity for local gymnastics 

coaches

7,000

CHRC on behalf of 

YouthInc 1825

Art in the Park A series of art workshops for youth held in the 

Emerald Botanic Gardens

8,092

CHRC Seniors Month in CHRC 

libraries

A series of craft workshops across the region in 

CHRC library branches and outreach to aged 

care facilities

1,964

CHRC on behalf of 

Gemfields CRG

Happy Africa rhythm 

workshops

Drumming and dance workshops with Gabriel 

Otu in Emerald and at the Have a Go – 

Community Connection event in the Gemfields

6,287

CHRC Emerald Art Gallery 

crafts

Craft activities hosted in the Emerald Art 

Gallery during 2022, including special openings 

during the Emerald Twilight Markets

4,532

TOTAL 77,380

Donations to community organisations

Name of organisation Details Amount 
 (to nearest whole $)

Blackwater State High School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200

Arcadia Valley State School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200

Anakie State School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200

Bluff State School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200 

Blackwater State School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200

Dingo State School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

Denison State School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

Capella State School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

Emerald State High School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

Emerald North State School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

Emerald Christian College 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

Duaringa State School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

Orion State School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

Marist College 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

Lochington State School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

Gindie State School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

Emerald State School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

Tieri State School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

St Brigid’s Catholic Primary School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

Springsure State School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

Rolleston State School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

Blackwater North State School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

St Patrick’s Catholic Primary School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

Comet State School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

Capella State High School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

Bauhinia State 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

Our Lady of the Sacred Heart School 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

Borilla Street Kindergarten Epic Christmas Hamper Fundraiser               200  

Capricorn School of Distance Education 2021 Annual Awards and Presentation Night               200  

Operation Rudolph Christmas parade               219 

Dingo Tennis Club ANZAC Day breakfast               250 

Duaringa State School ANZAC Day breakfast               250 

CQ University CHRC prize               275 

Emerald Historical Association Sponsorship of 2023 calendar               300

Springsure Jockey Club Sponsorship Springsure Cup Races 2021               500

Comet Campdraft Sponsorship Comet Campdraft 2021               500 
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Name of organisation Details Amount 
 (to nearest whole $)

Comet Benefit Rodeo Donation               500 

Springsure Tennis Club 2021 Senior Tournament sponsorship               500

Springsure Mountain Challenge Gold sponsorship               500

Springsure Golf Club Sponsorship 2022               500

Duaringa Rural Town Fire 2022 Duaringa Bullarama               500

Emerald Neighbourhood Centre Donation 2021 Linking Alms Appeal            1,500 

Blackwater Combined Churches Combined Churches and Community Christmas Appeal            1,500 

Emerald Show Society 2022 show sponsorship            2,500 

Emerald Tennis Club 2021 Emerald Tennis Tournament            3,000

Comet Show Society Sponsorship Comet Show 13 -15 May 2022            3,000

Capella Show Society 2022 show sponsorships            3,000

Springsure Show Society 2022 show sponsorships            3,000 

Central Highlands Easter Sunflower Festival Sponsorship            5,000

Heart of Australia 2021-2022 annual donation            7,500

Royal Flying Doctor Service 2021-2022 annual donation            7,500

Capricorn Helicopters 2021-2022 annual donation            7,500 

Anakie Hall and District Committee 2021 Annual Anakie Hall Insurance (in-kind payment)                 3,480 

Arcadia Valley Recreation Association Cash donation                    455 

Emerald Amateur Swimming Club Inc Sponsorship of Emerald Seals                   500 

Retreat Creek Campdraft Association Inc Sponsorship of campdraft                 1,818 

Comet River Agricultural Society Incorporated 2021 show sponsorship                3,000 

Bauhinia Polocrosse Club Inc Donation for Polocrosse Carnival                3,000 

Emerald Jockey Club Cash donation for New Year’s event                3,000 

Springsure Amateur Swimming Club Donation for club coaching clinic                   600 

Rural Fire Support Donation Rural fire services group donation                2,000 

Comet Rural Fire Brigade Rural fire services group donation                2,000 

Dingo Rural Fire Brigade Rural fire services group donation                2,000 

Willows Rural Fire Brigade Rural fire services group donation                2,000 

Rolleston Rural Fire Brigade Rural fire services group donation                2,000 

Bluff Rural Fire Brigade Rural fire services group donation                2,000 

Duaringa Rural Fire Brigade Rural fire services group donation                2,500 

Iona Rural Fire Brigade Rural fire services group donation                5,000

Rural Fire Support Donation Rural fire services group donation                2,500 

Total $93,447

Other contents (s190) 
Chief Executive Officer’s report on page 15.

Council has no commercial business units.

There was no joint government activity supplied by another 

local government for which special rates or charges 

were levied.

Invitations to change tenders (190(e)) 
There were no invitations to change tenders this year under 

s228(8) of the Local Government Regulation 2012.

List of registers (s190(f)) 
	� Asset register

	� Conflicts of interest register

	� Corporate investigations register

	� Councillor conduct register

	� Financial delegations register

	� Local laws

	� Register of interests for councillors and their related 

persons

	� Register of interests for senior executive employees and 

their related persons

	� Register of delegations of authority – council to CEO and 

CEO to officers and/or contractors

	� Register of gifts and benefits

	� Register of pre-qualified suppliers

	� Register of roads

	� Register of cost recovery fees

	� Register of leases

	� Register of council owned/managed land

	� Strategic and operational risk register

	� Town planning – existing uses, subdivision approvals, 

consent approvals, permitted developments
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Concessions for rates and charges (s190(g))
Expenditure on a service, facility or activity for which special 

rates were levied during the financial year.

Council provided the following concession for rates and 

charges for the 2021-2022 financial year.

PENSIONERS

A 50% remission is granted to pensioners that are legally 

liable to pay rates providing that an owner of the premises 

meets council’s definition of a pensioner and the premises 

for which they are claiming a rebate is their principal place of 

residence. This is in addition to the 20% that is given by the 

Queensland Government. The remission does not apply to 

special rates, special levies and water consumption.

ENTITIES WHOSE OBJECTIVES DO NOT INCLUDE MAKING 
A PROFIT

Concessions equivalent to 100% of general rates may be 

allowed to certain eligible entities whose objects do not 

include making a profit. All rebated rates are initially levied 

and a rebate provided automatically when rates are levied 

so that each organisation can assess the level of council 

rebate provided. Eligible entities include community groups, 

churches, other community organisations and sporting clubs.

OTHER CONCESSIONS

Mining claims – upon application council may consider a 

refund of the net general rate for a mining claim overlapping 

a residential tenure.

Quarries – concessions may be available to ratepayers 

within quarry categories relating to development approval, 

development contributions and actual vs approved level of 

production.

OTHER REBATES

Consideration may be given by council to grant a class 

concession in the event that all or part of the local 

government area is declared a natural disaster area by the 

Queensland Government and/or where an extreme event 

occurred that affected all or part of the property.

External audit
The annual external audit of council’s financial statements 

was conducted by BDO on behalf of the Queensland 

Audit Office in 2021-2022. The external auditors attend 

audit committee meetings to present findings and 

recommendations. The external audit management letter 

and responses are also provided to the audit committee.

Competitive neutrality (s190(i) and (j)) 
There were no investigation notices given in the financial year 

under s49 for competitive neutrality complaints.

Internal audit (s190)
An internal audit provides independent, objective 

assurance and advice, and is designed to add value to 

and improve council’s operations. It helps council by 

bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and 

improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and 

governance processes. It operates in accordance with the 

Internal Audit Charter, which sets out the mandate, roles and 

responsibilities of the internal audit function.

Council engages an external professional service provider, 

Crowe Australasia, to perform the internal audit function.

The internal audit activity over the medium term is managed 

via a Strategic 3 Year Internal Audit Plan, while the specific 

internal audit activities performed each year are outlined in 

the Annual Internal Audit Plan. These plans are developed in 

consultation with executive management, endorsed by the 

audit committee and adopted by the elected council.

The following internal audits were completed and reported 

during the financial year:

1. Differential Rating Practices and Compliance

2. Payroll Function and Human Resources

3. Business Continuity Plans

4. Development Applications

At each meeting, the audit committee monitor progress 

against the internal audit plan, including reviewing the 

outcomes of completed audits, management’s responses, 

progress and timeliness in addressing recommendations. 

The minutes and recommendations of committee are 

reported to council. 
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Capital and operating grants received
We receive a number of grants each year from the state and federal governments to enable us to deliver many programs, projects and services to the community. In 2021-2022, we received just over $33 million in grants. 

Capital grants

Project Funding program Funding department Amount (to the nearest whole $)

Blackwater new skate park Active Community Infrastructure EOI01 Department of Housing and Public Works 250,000 

2021-2022 Road To Recovery Road to Recovery Program Department of Industry, Science, Energy and Resources 2,165,138 

Emerald Retro Kindergarten redevelopment Building Better Region Fund R04 Department of Industry, Science, Energy and Resources 1,018,825

Bauhinia Sports Ground hard cover shade shelter Local Road Community Infrastructure Phase 2 Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Communications 40,000

Blackwater Memorial Garden landscaping upgrade Local Road Community Infrastructure Phase 2 Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Communications 100,000

Capella Skate Park shade shelter Local Road Community Infrastructure Phase 2 Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Communications 115,000

Springsure Showgrounds pavilion roof replacement 2021-2024 Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 40,000

Rolleston Pool new shed 2021-2024 Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 50,000

Emerald Showgrounds rodeo fencing upgrade 2021-2024 Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 100,000

Springsure Showgrounds electrical upgrade 2021-2024 Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 180,000

Anakie tennis court and amenities upgrade 2021-2024 Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 180,000

Beazley Park Rolleston new playground 2021-2024 Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 225,000

Rubyvale Flats amenities refurbishment 2021-2024 Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 100,000

Emerald Depot new auto 2021-2024 Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 170,000

Capella Depot new switchboard 2021-2024 Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 80,000

Concrete slab for Capella Depot 2021-2024 Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 40,000

Springsure workshop slab and picnic structure upgrade 2021-2024 Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 80,000

Emerald Saleyards replace half deck scale platform 2021-2024 Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 120,000

Emerald Saleyards security front fence 2021-2024 Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 282,000

Footpath missing link 2021-2024 Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 359,000

Valve and hydrant replacement 2021-2024 Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 388,000

Town hall tile flooring and doors 2020-2021 COVID Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 7,599

Bauhinia Community Hall compliant 2020-2021 COVID Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 17,000

Bluff-Duaringa Waste load bay R-wall 2020-2021 COVID Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 6,000

McIndoe Park and Botanic Gardens pump 2020-2021 COVID Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 5,000

Blackwater Rotary Park rubber stall 2020-2021 COVID Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 51,000

Springsure Lawn Cemetery 2020-2021 COVID Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 10,677

Electricity switchboards replacement 2020-2021 COVID Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 23,800

Raw water pump/switchboard 2020-2021 COVID Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 8,500

Pump station BG-W repairs 2020-2021 COVID Works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 34,124
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Project Funding program Funding department Amount (to the nearest whole $)

Emerald State High School bus stop School Transport Infrastructure Program Department of Transport and Main Roads 246,250

Gregory Highway, Campbell Ford Drive to Emerald Botanic Gardens, design 

shared path

Cycle Grant Network Department of Transport and Main Roads 33,750

Opal Street and Rifle Range Road shared path Cycle Grant Network Department of Transport and Main Roads 262,060

Road Transport Infrastructure Development Scheme Transport Infrastructure Development Scheme Department of Transport and Main Roads 16,250

Robert Street and Opal Street intersection design active transport facilities Cycle Grant Network Department of Transport and Main Roads 37,500

Willies Creek Royles Infrastructure Investment Program Department of Transport and Main Roads 3,000,000

Mulcahys Road pave and seal Transport Infrastructure Development Scheme Department of Transport and Main Roads 225,846

Glenlee Road pave and seal Transport Infrastructure Development Scheme Department of Transport and Main Roads 565,339

Community safety education trailer Community Information and Education Queensland Reconstruction Authority 1,250

Flood warning network improvements Queensland Resilience and Risk Reduction Fund Queensland Reconstruction Authority 32,481

Isaac regional flood model Natural Disaster Resilience Program 2017 Queensland Reconstruction Authority 33,191

Flood warning network improvement 2019-2020 Queensland Resilience and Risk Reduction Fund Queensland Reconstruction Authority 351

Total capital grants     10,700,931

Operating grants

Project Funding program Funding department Amount (to the nearest whole $)

Queensland pest initiative Queensland Feral Pest Initiative R06 Department of Agriculture and Fisheries 5,482

Education and training Apprenticeships and traineeships program Department of Education 211,041

Skilling Queenslanders For Work Skilling Queenslanders for Work - First Start Program Department of Education, Small Business and Training 120,000

Nature refuge landhold Landholder Grant Program Department of Environment and Science 9,450

Recycling project Regional Recycling Transport Assistance Department of Environment and Science 17,364

Regional Arts Development Fund Regional Arts Development Fund Department of Environment and Science 39,500

CQ Intermodal Terminal Industrial Regional Jobs and Investment Packages Department of Industry, Innovation and Science 1,061,723

Regional airports screening infrastructure Regional and Remote Airport Security Awareness Program Department of Industry, Science, Energy and Resources 680,543

Arcadia Valley Road replacement and repair Local Road Community Infrastructure Phase 2 Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Communications 150,000

Buckland Road Culvert Replacement and Repair Local Road Community Infrastructure Phase 2 Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Communications 125,000

Mungabunda Road culvert replacement and repair Local Road Community Infrastructure Phase 2 Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Communications 278,942

Various external painting Local Road Community Infrastructure Phase 2 Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Communications 125,000

Bogantungan Hall external painting and repair Local Road Community Infrastructure Phase 2 Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Communications 65,000

Capella Culture Centre Painting and Refurbishment Local Road Community Infrastructure Phase 2 Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Communications 100,000

Domestic airports security costs support Domestic Airports Security Costs Support Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development and Communications 1,130,001

Capella water reserve Capella Water Facility Department of Resources 26,707

2021-2022 general purpose financial assistance Financial Assistance Grant Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 9,576,427

Capital grants (cont.)
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Project Funding program Funding department Amount (to the nearest whole $)

2021-2022 roadworks financial assistance grant Financial Assistance Grant Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 4,301,451

Yamala Enterprise Area water infrastructure and design study Building Our Regions Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 96,829

2020-2021 COVID Works for Queensland 2020-2021 COVID works for Queensland Department of State Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning 39,300

Black Spot Program Black Spot Program Department of Transport and Main Roads 19,250

Australia Day Australia Day Community Grants Program National Australia Day Council 11,200

Annual State Emergency Service State Emergency Service Support Grant Queensland Fire and Emergency Services 20,300

Get Ready Queensland Get Ready Queensland Queensland Reconstruction Authority 18,128

Evacuation route planning in Central Highlands 2020-2021 Queensland Resilience and Risk Reduction Fund Queensland Reconstruction Authority 24,000

Bluff Flood Mitigation Study Queensland Disaster Resilience Queensland Reconstruction Authority 36,000

First 5 Forever subsidy First 5 Forever Literacy State Library of Queensland 31,042

State Public Library Grant Public Library Grant State Public Library 163,972

Waste levy payment Annual advance payments 2023-2026 Department of Environment and Science 3,969,096

Total operating grants     22,452,748

Operating grants (cont.)

An aerial view of Capella looking towards the Peak Range.
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Central Highlands Regional Council Audit Committee Report 2021-2022 
The Central Highlands Regional Council Audit Committee 

is established in accordance with Section 105, Local 

Government Act 2009, and Section 210, Local Government 

Regulation 2012. 

By any objective measurement, the council and the 

committee, professionally, enthusiastically and proactively 

meet the objectives of the legislation and council policies.

The committee does not have executive powers and 

operates within the adopted council authority, objectives and 

the Audit Committee Charter to promote good corporate 

governance through the provision of independent assurance, 

oversight and advice to council on matters relating to:

	� internal and external audit

	� financial statements and reporting

	� risk management

	� internal controls

	� legislative and organisational compliance. 

Membership
I was appointed chair of the committee in 2018 for a 3-year 

term starting in 2019. On 8 December 2021, council resolved 

to extend this for a further 12 months to 28 February 2023. 

Independent member Geoff King’s term was also extended 

for a further 12 months, with Geoff’s term to end on 16 

December 2022. The charter provides for a maximum term of 

6 years, and therefore Geoff’s outstanding contribution to the 

committee will conclude in December 2022.

The committee membership remained unchanged for the 

2021-2022 financial year, with a composition of 4 members:

	� 2 external members appointed by council – Graham 

Webb (chair) and Geoff King

	� 2 internal members – Councillors Christine Rolfe and 

Janice Moriarty. 

Mayor Kerry Hayes, as permanent invitee and ex-officio, 

continues to maintain his interest in attending our meetings. 

As a former member, Cr Charlie Brimblecombe has attended 

our meetings as an observer.

Acting CEO Michael Parker attended the first 2 audit 

committee meetings of 2021-2022. After this, the incoming 

CEO Sharon Houlihan attended the balance of meetings 

for the financial year. Other permanent invitees provided 

recommendations and assisted the committee in decisions 

reported to council through their comprehensive reports. 

Throughout the year, council managers and officers also 

reported on governance, financial management, risk 

management, compliance with the Audit Committee Work 

Plan, valuation and asset management processes, people 

and culture, safety and wellness, disaster management and 

business continuity.

On behalf of the committee, I extend my appreciation for the 

excellent reporting and professional guidance provided by 

the CEO, council management and Crowe Australasia, and 

representation, reporting and oversight by BDO and the QAO. 

Meetings and key milestones
The committee held 5 meetings during the year. Meetings 

were held in Emerald or virtually via Microsoft Teams. 

Meetings were held on 3 September 2021, 27 October 2021, 3 

December 2021, 11 March 2022 and 13 May 2022.

The committee considered well-presented reports from the 

CEO, management and internal and external auditors, as well 

as QAO briefing papers on a range of topics. 

Agenda topics were expansive, although consistent within 

the responsibilities of the charter. 

The committee’s role is not limited to the traditional paths of 

accounting compliance and fraud prevention. Over the year, 

the committee continued to review reports on information 

systems upgrades, business continuity plans, and oversight 

of procedures followed in council’s disaster management. 

In early 2021, the committee adopted the report and 

recommendations by Crowe for the Strategic Internal Audit 

Plan for 2019-2020, 2020-2021 and 2021-2022.

The committee maintains a clear and transparent 

commitment to impartiality, objectivity and thoroughness in 

carrying out its work. 

Accountability for the actions of our independent committee 

were further measured by the comprehensive minutes and 

recording of each audit committee meeting. Once received 

by the council, these were posted to council’s public website. 

Representation at briefings of audit 
committee chairs
As chair of the committee, I participated in the half-yearly 

briefings of audit committee chairs by the Auditor General 

and other Senior QAO Executives in December 2021 and 

May 2022. 

Information discussed at these forums included:

	�  information systems that are vulnerable and open to 

cyber-attacks

	�  a need to strengthen local government internal controls 

and governance processes

	�  improving valuation and asset management practices

	�  financial sustainability, particularly in rural, remote and 

indigenous areas.

Response to cyber security risks
To ensure council has appropriate internal controls, 

governance and risk management processes, a Cyber 

Security Master Plan was endorsed in June 2021. 

At the September 2021 committee meeting, and subsequent 

meetings, progress reports were tabled on the master plan 

actions and planned steps, including rolling out a cyber 

awareness program. 

Council performance measured against 
other Queensland local governments
Local government annual reports and audited financial 

statements identify statutory compliance, financial reporting 

and long-term financial sustainability. As well, the QAO reports 

annually to Parliament on the audit results for Queensland’s 

77 local governments and the entities they control.

Key performance measures for Central Highlands Regional 

Council revealed: 

	� council received an unqualified audit

	� controlled entities, CHDC received an unqualified audit 

and the Central Highlands (Qld) Housing Company Ltd an 

(E) Emphasis of matter

	� council received an effective and low financial 

sustainability relative risk assessment

	� there is a lower risk of concerns about financial 

sustainability based on current income, expenses, assets, 

investments and debt financing policies

	� on financial governance, assessment of internal 

controls rated as effective with no significant (high risk) 

deficiencies.

With the many competing priorities and challenges 

facing Queensland local governments, the above results 

represented a positive outcome for council.

Audit committee self-evaluation
At the December 2021 committee meeting, in accordance 

with the charter, it was decided to undertake a self-

evaluation process under the guidance of the audit 

committee chair. The self-evaluation is conducted at least 

once every 2 years.

The chair presented the results of the self-evaluation 

process to the 11 March 2022 committee meeting. Four 

committee members and the mayor (ex-officio) considered 

the assessment of the committee activity and all 

respondents: 

	� strongly agreed that the audit and risk mandate is 

appropriate 

	� agreed or strongly agreed that the audit activities cover 

key priorities, risks and areas of concern

	� agreed or strongly agreed the information and reports 

meet the needs of the audit committee

	� agreed council’s assessment of risks and controls 

is reliable.

Appreciation
As a committee we continually look for opportunities to 

gain experience about our craft. The QAO is a fundamental 

stakeholder in the field and source of valuable intelligence. 

Issues raised in QAO annual reports to Parliament, QAO blog 

postings and circulars provide guidance to the committee 

beneficial in addressing gaps or weaknesses in our own 

environment and ensuring compliance with our legislative 

responsibilities. 

The committee’s role and responsibilities are assisted greatly 

by the commitment and focus of the mayor, councillors, CEO, 

management and an organisation committed to long-term 

financial sustainability, the need for good asset management, 

project procurement and procurement culture, actively 

and successfully pursuing grant funding for operational 

and capital works from state and federal sources, with 

accountability a key value for council. 

All wisdom does not rest with the committee. The support 

provided, as recognised here, against a backdrop of 

challenges over the last year, including the COVID-19 crisis, is 

appreciated. 

GRAHAM WEBB PSM 

CHAIR, CENTRAL HIGHLANDS REGIONAL COUNCIL 
AUDIT COMMITTEE
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Glossary of terms
AAA / Australian Airport Association

AICD / Australian Institute of Company 

Directors

Annual report / An overview of 

the activities of council for the 

financial year. This report gives a 

comprehensive easy-to-read summary 

of what your council has been doing 

within the community, including a 

comprehensible community financial 

report and a complete financial 

summary.

ALGA / Australian Local Government 

Association

Asset / An item that has potential or 

actual value to an organisation.

Asset management / A systematic 

approach to managing assets through 

all lifecycle phases. This involves 

applying a combination of engineering, 

financial and other technical practices 

to the management of infrastructure, 

costs, opportunities, risks and 

performance.

Audit / An examination of the records, 

statements, systems and procedures of 

an organisation together with its stated 

claims for performance

Budget / Refers to the Central 

Highlands Regional Council Budget for 

2021-2022

Capital expenditure / Represents 

expenditure on a capital project.

Capital works / Works undertaken 

to create a new asset or space, or to 

change the use, function or layout of an 

existing asset or space

Central Highlands 2022 Community 

Plan / A 10-year plan providing a 

long-term ‘road map’ for the Central 

Highlands, setting out goals, priorities 

and aspirations for our 13 unique place 

communities as well as the whole region

Central Highlands Regional Galleries 

/ Refers to the council-managed art 

galleries in Emerald and Springsure

CEO / Chief Executive Officer

CCTV / closed circuit television

CHAA / Central Highlands Accelerate 

Agribusiness

CHACAC / Central Highlands Arts and 

Cultural Advisory Committee

CHDC / Central Highlands 

Development Corporation, a not-for-

profit organisation that is the lead 

economic and tourism development 

agency for the Central Highlands region

CHRC / Central Highlands Regional 

Council

CHRRUP / The Central Highlands 

Regional Resources Use Planning 

Cooperative is an independent 

community-owned organisation 

dedicated to increasing the 

sustainability of natural resources

Council / Refers to Central Highlands 

Regional Council

Community / The people living, 

working and visiting the Central 

Highlands.

Community engagement / Expands 

on community consultation to include 

wider processes of education, 

advocacy, communication and 

participation that also contribute to 

council decision-making

Corporate plan / Sets out the council’s 

strategic direction for the coming five 

years and is based on the outcomes 

and goals in the Central Highlands 2022 

Community Plan. It’s the tool we use 

to consider the priority of projects and 

services and balance their delivery with 

available resources.

COVID or COVID-19 / Refers to the 

coronavirus pandemic

CQROC / Central Queensland 

Organisation of Councils

CRG – Community Reference Group / 

A group of community representatives 

established in each of the region’s 

thirteen townships under the Central 

Highlands 2022 Community Plan. 

The aim of these groups is to engage 

with their communities and develop 

individual action plans to advance their 

own communities as well as the Central 

Highlands. 

CRM / Refers to a request logged 

in council’s customer request 

management (CRM) system.

DAF / Department of Agriculture and 

Fisheries

ECM / Enterprise Content 

Management, council’s document 

management system

E-news / Electronic newsletter

Governance / The system by which 

council business is controlled and 

directed, especially with regard 

to regulation of decision-making 

procedures

Have Your Say, Central Highlands 

/ Council’s online community 

engagement platform

ICT / Information communication 

technology

Infrastructure / The physical and 

organisational structures and facilities 

(roads, buildings, water treatment 

plants) needed for the operation of 

Central Highlands’ communities

IPWEA / Institute of Public Works 

Engineering Australasia

LDCC / Local Disaster Coordination 

Centre

LDMG / Local Disaster Management 

Group

LGAQ / Local Government Association 

of Queensland

LGIP / Local Government Infrastructure 

Plan

LGMA / Local Government 

Management Association

NAIDOC / National Aborigines and 

Islanders Day Observance Committee

NHVR / National Heavy Vehicle 

Regulator 

OneCouncil / A corporate software 

solution designed by TechnologyOne 

for local government.

Operational plan / The operational 

plan is the detail of the corporate plan. 

It shows what projects, services and 

activities are current for the financial 

year and the progress of each as at the 

end of each quarter (3-month period).

Operational expenditure / Money 

spent on the ongoing costs of running 

council and its services

P&C / Parents and citizens

PMO / Project management office

Policy / A statement formally adopted 

by council or the chief executive officer 

that describes the council’s position on 

a particular issue

PRE / Public relations and events

RADF / Regional Arts Development 

Fund

RAP / Reconciliation Action Plan

REDI / Regional Economic 

Development Incentive

REMPLAN / A web-based tool 

providing detailed demographic, 

economic and community data for 

businesses and community groups

ROSI / Roads of Strategic Importance

RYAN / Regional Youth Alliance 

Network

SaaS / Software as a Service

SES / State Emergency Service

Stakeholder / A person or organisation 

with an interest in the outcome or 

output or is affected by services, 

activities, policies, services, programs, 

or strategies

Stock route / A designated route used 

for moving livestock on foot, pasture 

for emergency agistment and long-

term grazing

TMR / Department of Transport and 

Main Roads

YouthInc / Council’s youth 

development service
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Financial statements 

Crops near Capella.
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Community financial report
The community financial report provides details of the 2021-2022 financial statements in a plain readable way that is easy for 

the community to understand. The full financial statements are provided at the end of the annual report.

The financial statements are audited by the Queensland Audit Office. For 2021-2022, the auditor has issued an audit opinion 

stating that the financial statement report complies with local government legislation, the Australian accounting standards and 

that they give a true and fair view of council’s financial performance and position.

Simplified statement of comprehensive income 
The statement of comprehensive income is one of the key statements forming part of the financial report. It is often referred 

to as the profit and loss statement. 

It details what council has earned (revenue) and what costs (expenses) council incurred in operating and maintaining assets to 

deliver services to the community during the financial year.

How did council perform?
2021-22 2020-21

$000 $000

Revenue    

What we levied our ratepayers  107,356  100,894 

What we invoiced our customers  34,352  26,913 

What we received as grants and subsidies  19,529  17,788 

Interest received on our investments  1,336  1,202 

Our other miscellaneous revenue  3,555  3,249 

Council’s total recurrent revenue  166,128  150,046 
     

Expenses    

What we spent on our staff  (46,022)  (44,121)

What we paid our suppliers  (76,294)  (67,834)

What we paid our bankers  (3,620)  (3,446)

What we set aside for renewal of assets  (37,029)  (37,266)

Our other miscellaneous expenses  (640)  (774)

Council’s total recurrent expenditure  (163,605)  (153,441)

Council’s operating surplus/(deficit)  2,523  (3,395)
     

Capital revenue and expenses    

Grants and contributions to build/upgrade community assets  18,308  20,385 

Write off/disposal of community assets renewed or replaced  (9,539)  (26,580)

Council’s capital surplus/(deficit)  8,769  (6,195)

Council’s net earnings/(loss)  11,292  (9,590)

Council made an operating surplus of $2.5 million in 2021-2022 and our long-term forecasting and planning indicates that this 

favourable position will be maintained over the medium term.

How we raised our revenue
Council raises about 77% of revenue from its own sources 

- rates, sales, recoverable works and fees and charges. 

This indicates that council has control over its financial 

sustainability and is not reliant on government grants.

REVENUE CATEGORY AS % OF TOTAL REVENUE  

How we spent our revenue 
The largest cost item for council is materials and services 

(44%) for the maintenance of key community assets and 

expenditure related to contract work carried out for the 

Department of Transport and Main Roads (TMR). The next 

largest cost items are payments to staff (27%) and funds set 

aside as deprecation to renew community assets (21%).

EXPENDITURE CATEGORY AS % OF TOTAL REVENUE

Rates and levies 

Interest incomeSales and recoverable works 

Other operating revenueFees and charges

Capital grants and subsidiesOperating grants

Other capital income

58.2%

15.9%

2.7%

10.6%

Sale proceeds of developed land

0.3%

0.7%
1.7% 9.7% 0.2%

26.6%

44%

2.1%

21.4%

Right of use assets

0.1%

Cost of developed land

0.3%

5.5%

Employee costs 

Materials and services

Finance costs

Depreciation

Capital expenses

Carnarvon Gorge National Park.
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Simplified statement of financial position
The statement of financial position is another major statement in the financial report and is often referred to as the balance 

sheet. It shows what we own (assets) and what we owe (liabilities), with the difference being the net worth of council 

(community equity). 

Council’s community net worth at the end of the financial year is $1.62 billion placing council in a good position to continue to 

provide essential services to the community.

What is council’s net worth
2021-22 2020-21

$000 $000

Assets    

Assets we own 1,603,855 1,529,360 

Money we have in the bank 93,034 77,935 

Money owed by ratepayers 

and customers

31,660 42,281 

Inventory we hold 5,836 6,278 

Council’s total assets 1,734,385 1,655,854 

     

Liabilities    

What we owe our suppliers 17,587 18,233 

What we owe our lenders 71,649 72,512 

What future commitments 

we have 

 29,963  23,300 

Council’s total liabilities 119,199 114,045 

     

Council’s community wealth 
or net worth

 1,615,186 1,541,809 

Council’s major asset is community infrastructure of $1.6 

billion. The sealed and unsealed road network accounts 

for 58% of infrastructure assets. The water and sewerage 

networks make up the next largest asset groupings at a 

combined 20%. Council has had significant capital works 

programs over the last few years, and this is reflected in the 

$67 million of assets under construction (work in progress). 

These costs will be allocated to the relevant asset group 

once the projects are completed.

What are council’s community 
infrastructure assets

2021-22 2020-21

$000 $000

Roads, bridges and drainage 

network

929,676 862,698 

Water infrastructure 184,639 185,152 

Sewerage infrastructure 132,172 146,809 

Buildings 106,817 120,810 

Site improvements 70,138 56,222 

Airport 56,876 52,763 

Land 28,643 29,166 

Plant and equipment 25,188 25,427 

Office furniture and fittings 2,251 2,232 

Heritage and cultural 186 187 

Work in progress 66,936 47,250 

Council’s total community 
infrastructure assets

 1,603,522 1,528,716 

Council’s community infrastructure assets have increased 

by $75 million during the year. This reflects the net 

impact of a number of factors such as the capital works 

program, depreciation, disposals, write offs and revaluation 

adjustments. Council undertook comprehensive revaluations 

of the water, sewerage, buildings, and site improvement 

asset classes during the year. All other classes were subject 

to a desktop indexation.

The valuation process accounted for $67 million of the 

increase in the value of community infrastructure assets this 

financial year. 

Total community infrastructure assets

Council’s financial sustainability indicators
Financial sustainability indicators provide an insight into the ability of council to maintain its community assets and to provide 

services to the community in the short to medium term.

Each year we measure our performance using 3 financial sustainability ratios. These performance indicators measure our 

performance against industry benchmarks to ensure we remain financially sustainable in the long-term.

Indicator Definition Target range
2021-22 2020-21

$000 $000

Operating 

surplus ratio

Measures the extent to which operating revenue exceeds 

operating expenditure in order to provide surplus funds 

for investment in community infrastructure, and for the 

repayment of borrowings.

0% to 10% 1.5% -2.26%

Asset 

sustainabiltiy 

ratio

Measures whether council is spending enough each year to 

keep community infrastructure assets in good condition.

greater than 90% 76.95% 87.54%

Net financial 

liabilities ratio

Measures whether council’s liabilities can be serviced by 

its operating revenue and indicates how well debt is being 

managed.

less than 60% -6.8% -8.22%

All indicators, except for the asset sustainability ratio are within the target benchmark. This short-term result is not a concern 

due to the good condition of council’s predominately long-life infrastructure assets which are being renewed at a standard to 

ensure service levels are maintained. 
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Central Highlands Regional Council
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Consolidated Council
Restated * Restated *

2022 2021 2022 2021
Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Income
Revenue

Recurrent revenue
Rates, levies and charges 3(a) 107,356      100,894       107,356      100,894        
Sales of contract and recoverable works 3(b)(i) 18,834        13,407         18,834        13,407          
Sales of goods and major services 3(b)(ii) 10,427        9,366           10,427        9,366            
Fees and charges 5,145          4,140           5,091          4,140            
Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations 3(c)(ii) 20,007        18,652         19,529        17,788          
Sale proceeds of developed land 469             571              469             571               

Total recurrent revenue 162,238      147,030       161,706      146,166        

Capital revenue
Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations 3(c)(iii) 17,842        20,299         17,842        20,299          

Total capital revenue 17,842        20,299         17,842        20,299          

Lease rental and levies 1,366          1,290           1,142          1,093            
Interest received 1,337          1,209           1,336          1,202            
Other recurrent income 1,955          1,702           1,944          1,585            
Other capital income 4 471             97                466             86                 

Total income 185,209      171,627       184,436      170,431        

Expenses
Recurrent expenses

Employee benefits 5 (47,496)       (45,663)        (46,050)       (44,121)         
Materials and services 6 (75,082)       (66,882)        (76,294)       (67,834)         
Finance costs 7 (3,667)         (3,475)          (3,620)         (3,446)           
Depreciation and amortisation:

   Property, plant and equipment 14 (36,958)       (37,192)        (36,905)       (37,142)         
   Intangible assets 15 (124)            (124)             (124)            (124)              
   Right of use assets 17 (260)            (214)             (182)            (102)              

Cost of developed land (458)            (672)             (458)            (672)              
Total operating expenses (164,045)     (154,222)      (163,633)     (153,441)       

Capital expenses 8 (9,539)         (26,580)        (9,539)         (26,580)         
Total expenses (173,584)     (180,802)      (173,172)     (180,021)       

Net result 11,625        (9,175)          11,264        (9,590)           

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to net result

Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus 22 62,113        (10,228)        62,113        (10,228)         
Total other comprehensive income for the year 62,113        (10,228)        62,113        (10,228)         

Total comprehensive income for the year 73,738        (19,403)        73,377        (19,818)         

Central Highlands Regional Council
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2022

* In accordance with AASB 108, Council has made a retrospective restatement as a consequence of a change in accounting policy 
and a correction of error. Details are disclosed in note 30 and 31. 

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and policies.
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Restated * Restated *
2022 2021 2022 2021

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9 92,169        55,243       89,883        53,295          
Term deposit investments 13 3,151          24,640       3,151          24,640          
Receivables 10 21,346        31,755       21,288        31,729          
Inventories 11 5,855          6,294         5,836          6,278            
Contract assets 16(a) 2,045          688            2,045          688               
Other assets 12 8,352          9,797         8,300          9,752            

132,918      128,417      130,503      126,382        

Non-current assets
Other assets 12 27               112            27               112               
Equity accounted investments 32 11               16              11               16                
Property, plant and equipment 14 1,604,717   1,529,950   1,603,522   1,528,716     
Intangible assets 15 5                129            2                 126               
Right of use assets 17 914             1,174         320             502               

1,605,674   1,531,381   1,603,882   1,529,472     
TOTAL ASSETS 1,738,592   1,659,798   1,734,385   1,655,854     

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 17,253        18,162       17,201        18,052          
Contract liabilities 16(b) 376             168            376             168               
Lease liabilities 17 240             237            190             177               
Provisions 19 12,606        11,965       12,444        11,801          
Borrowings 20 5,571          6,051         5,571          6,051            
Other liabilities 21 987             -           987             -             

37,033        36,583       36,769        36,249          

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 10               13              10               13                
Lease liabilities 17 723             941            140             330               
Provisions 19 13,220        10,992       13,220        10,992          
Borrowings 20 66,078        66,461       66,078        66,461          
Other liabilities 21 2,982          -           2,982          -             

83,013        78,407       82,430        77,796          
TOTAL LIABILITIES 120,046      114,990      119,199      114,045        

NET COMMUNITY ASSETS 1,618,546   1,544,808   1,615,186   1,541,809     

Community equity
Asset revaluation surplus 22 569,819      507,706      569,819      507,706        
Retained surplus 23 1,048,727   1,037,102   1,045,367   1,034,103     

Total Community equity 1,618,546   1,544,808   1,615,186   1,541,809     

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and summary of significant accounting 
policies.

*In accordance with AASB 108, Council has made a retrospective restatement as a consequence of a change in accounting policy and a 
correction of error. Details are disclosed in note 30 and 31. 

Central Highlands Regional Council
Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 2022

CouncilConsolidated

X

X
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C
onsolidated 

N
ote

Restated
Restated

2022
2021

2022
2021

2022
2021

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

Balance at beginning of year
1,544,808

                         
1,570,537

                  
1,037,102

                         
1,052,603

                  
507,706

                            
517,934

                     
A

djustm
ent for change in accounting policy 

and correction of error
30&

31
-

                                   
(6,326)

                        
-

                                   
(6,326)

                        
-

                                   
-

                             
Restated balances

1,544,808
                         

1,564,211
                  

1,037,102
                         

1,046,277
                  

507,706
                            

517,934
                     

N
et result

11,625
                              

(9,175)
                        

11,625
                              

(9,175)
                        

-
                                   

-
                             

O
ther com

prehensive incom
e for the period:

  Revaluations:
Property, plant and equipm

ent
14

66,827
                              

(14,370)
                      

-
                                   

-
                             

66,827
                              

(14,370)
                      

  Change in value of future rehabilitation costs
22

(4,714)
                              

4,142
                         

-
                                   

-
                             

(4,714)
                              

4,142
                         

Total com
prehensive incom

e for the year
73,738

                              
(19,403)

                      
11,625

                              
(9,175)

                        
62,113

                              
(10,228)

                      

Balance as at 30 June 2022
1,618,546

                         
1,544,808

                  
1,048,727

                         
1,037,102

                  
569,819

                            
507,706

                     

C
ouncil

N
ote

Restated
Restated

2022
2021

2022
2021

2022
2021

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

Balance at beginning of year
1,541,809

                         
1,567,953

                  
1,034,103

                         
1,050,019

                  
507,706

                            
517,934

                     
A

djustm
ent for change in accounting policy

 and correction of error
30&

31
-

                                   
(6,326)

                        
-

                                   
(6,326)

                        
-

                                   
-

                             
R

estated balances
1,541,809

                         
1,561,627

                  
1,034,103

                         
1,043,693

                  
507,706

                            
517,934

                     

N
et result

11,264
                              

(9,590)
                        

11,264
                              

(9,590)
                        

-
                                   

-
                             

O
ther com

prehensive incom
e for the period:

  Revaluations:
Property, plant and equipm

ent
14

66,827
                              

(14,370)
                      

-
                                   

-
                             

66,827
                              

(14,370)
                      

  Change in value of future rehabilitation costs
22

(4,714)
                              

4,142
                         

-
                                   

-
                             

(4,714)
                              

4,142
                         

Total com
prehensive incom

e for the year
73,377

                              
(19,818)

                      
11,264

                              
(9,590)

                        
62,113

                              
(10,228)

                      

Balance as at 30 June 2022
1,615,186

                         
1,541,809

                  
1,045,367

                         
1,034,103

                  
569,819

                            
507,706

                     

Total
R

etained surplus (deficit)
 A

sset revaluation surplus

The above statem
ent should be read in conjunction w

ith the accom
panying notes and sum

m
ary of significant accounting policies.

C
entral H

ighlands R
egional C

ouncil
Statem

ent of C
hanges in Equity

For the year ended 30 June 2022

Total
R

etained surplus (deficit)
 A

sset revaluation surplus
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Consolidated Council
Note 2022 2021 2022 2021

$000 $000 $000 $000
Cash flows from operating activities:
  Receipts

  Receipts from customers 155,919       131,843       155,289       131,479       
  Receipts from operating grants, subsidies, contributions and donations 19,923         18,911         19,529         17,788         
  Interest received 1,337           1,209           1,336           1,202           
Payments
  Payments to suppliers and employees (122,478)     (113,634)     (121,882)     (112,757)     
  Interest paid (3,050)         (2,962)         (3,050)         (2,962)         

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 28     51,651         35,367         51,222         34,750         

Cash flows from investing activities:
Payments for property, plant and equipment (55,861)       (74,304)       (55,801)       (74,205)       
Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations 15,715         16,961         15,715         16,961         
Net transfer (to) / from cash investments 21,489         (332)            21,489         (332)            
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 4       5,010           402              5,003           380              

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities (13,647)       (57,273)       (13,594)       (57,196)       

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from borrowings 20     10,000         10,000         10,000         10,000         
Repayment of borrowings 20     (10,863)       (5,273)         (10,863)       (5,273)         
Repayments made on leases (principal only) (215)            (140)            (177)            (96)              

Net cash inflow /(outflow) from financing activities (1,078)         4,587           (1,040)         4,631           

Net increase/(decrease) in cash  held 36,926         (17,319)       36,588         (17,815)       

Cash and equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 55,243         72,562         53,295         71,110         

Cash and equivalents at end of the financial year 9       92,169         55,243         89,883         53,295         

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and summary of significant accounting policies.

Central Highlands Regional Council
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Page 5

1 Information about these financial statements

1.1 Basis of preparation

1.2 Basis of consolidation

Central Highlands Development Corporation Limited:

Central Highlands (QLD) Housing Company Limited:
The Central Highlands (QLD) Housing Company Limited (CHHC) was formed in 2012 with a principal object to 
provide affordable housing in the council region. Directors of the company are the Mayor, three councillors, and  
three invited community members. 

Central Highlands Regional Council
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

These general purpose financial statements are for the period 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022 and have been prepared 
in compliance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2009  and the Local Government Regulation 
2012. 

The Central Highlands Development Corporation Limited (CHDC) was formed in 1997 with the primary objective 
to facilitate projects and initiatives across the region. The company has a Chief Executive Officer and seven 
directors consisting of the Mayor, two councillors, council's Chief Executive Officer and three independent 
community members. 

The following entities have been consolidated:

Council is constituted under the Queensland Local Government Act 2009  and is domiciled in Australia.

At a board meeting on 30 May 2022, the directors of CHHC agreed to Members Voluntary Liquidation (MVL) and 
for the delegate to proceed with a report to council to commence the process.  As the sole permanent member under 
the Constitution, council resolved at the general meeting of 28 June 2022 that council's delegate may affirm the 
resolution to wind up CHHC subject to the directors making a declaration of solvency.

At the board meeting on 22 August 2022, the directors resolved to commence MVL and signed a declaration of 
solvency which was submitted to the Australian Securities and Investment Commission (ASIC) to initiate MVL of 
the company by declaring that the company is able to pay its debts in full in the next 12 months.

On 12 September 2022, council in its capacity as the sole member of CHHC resolved to proceed with the MVL 
under rule 6.9 of the Constitution. The liquidator, McGrath Nicol, was appointed to take control and manage the 
wind down and de-registration of the company. Pursuant to the Corporations Act, all the powers of the directors 
are suspendedon the appointment of the liquidator.

The CHHC constitution allows the liquidator to distribute CHHC's assets to an entity with similar objects to those 
of CHHC once the liquidator has paid all known creditors and confirmed that are no other claims. All current 
tenancy agreements have continued as normal following the appointment of the liquidator.

The statutory process is expected to take three to six months to complete, to the stage of a final distribution of 
assets to an appropriate charitable entity. ASIC will then automatically deregister the company three months after 
the completion of the MVL.

Council and its controlled entities together form the consolidated entity. The financial statements of controlled 
entities are included in the consolidated financial statements where material by size or nature, from the date when 
control commences until date when control ceases.

Central Highlands Regional Council (council) is a not-for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes and these 
financial statements comply with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as applicable to not-for-
profit entities.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for the revaluation of 
certain classes of property, plant and equipment.

In the process of reporting the council as a consolidated entity, all transactions with controlled entities have been 
eliminated. In addition, the accounting policies of all controlled entities have been adjusted, on consolidation where 
necessary, to ensure that the financial report of the consolidated entity is prepared using accounting policies that 
are consistent with those of the council.  

These financial statements comply with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

X

Page 6

chrc.qld.gov.auCentral Highlands Regional Council Annual Report 2021-2022



173172

Central Highlands Regional Council
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

X

1 Information about these financial statements (continued)

1.3 New and revised Accounting Standards adopted during the year

1.4 Standards issued by the AASB not yet effective

Standard and impact

Date the 
consolidated entity 

will apply 
standard

AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or Non-Current and associated standards (amended by AASB 2020-6) 01-January-2023

AASB 2020-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Annual Improvements 
2018-2020 and Other Amendments 01-July-2022

AASB 2021-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosure of Accounting 
Policies and Definition of Accounting Estimates (amended by AASB 2021-6) 01-January-2023

1.5 Estimates and judgements

Valuation, impairment and depreciation of property, plant and equipment - note 14
Provisions - note 19
Contigent Liabilities - note 26
Intangible assets - note 15

1.6 Rounding and comparatives

1.7 Volunteer services

1.8 Taxation

1.9 COVID-19

Where necessary, judgements, estimates and assumptions have been used in preparing these financial statements. 
Those that have a significant effect, or risk of causing adjustment to council's assets or liabilities relate to:

The AASB has issued Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that maybe relevant to the consolidated 
entity which are not effective at 30 June 2022. The following standards have not been adopted by the consolidated 
entity and will be included in the financial statements on their effective date. Council does not believe that these 
standards will have a material impact on reported position, performance and cash flows. 

Council adopted all standards which became mandatorily effective for annual reporting periods beginning on 1 
July 2021. None of these standards had a material impacted on the reported position, performance and cashflows.

The financial statements are in Australian dollars and have been rounded to the nearest $1,000.

Council receives volunteer services to assist with the library, gallery and information centre operations. Council has 
not recognised these services in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as they would not be purchased if not 
donated and they cannot be reliably measured.

Council's operations for the year ended 30 June 2022 have not been materially impacted by the COVID-19 
pandemic. The Financial Hardship Policy implemented in 2019-20 in response to the pandemic, continues to 
provide support for ratepayers and customers of council who are suffering genuine financial hardship.

Comparative information has been restated where necessary to be consistent with disclosures in the current 
reporting period.

Council is exempt from income tax, however is subject to fringe benefits tax (FBT), goods and services tax (GST) 
and payroll tax on certain activities.  The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian 
Taxation Office is shown as an asset or liability respectively. 

Page 7

2  Analysis of results by function

(a) Components of council functions

The activities relating to the council's components reported on in Note 2(b) are as follows :

Executive Management 
Provides organisational leadership and executive oversight and has responsibility for workplace health and 
safety. The objective of this function is to be open and accountable and deliver community driven outcomes.

Corporate Revenue & Expenses
This function is responsible for the recognition and oversight of income and expenditure not allocated to any 
other specific function, such as general rates and corporate revenue and expenditure.

Corporate Services 
Provides the important support functions of finance, treasury, procurement, information technology, human 
resource management and governance. The objective of this function is to provide accurate and timely 
information to enable council to make sound informed decisions and meet all statutory requirements.

Communities
The primary goal of this function is to ensure that the council region is a vibrant, well planned and connected 
community. This function includes: corporate communications, libraries, parks and recreation facilities, planning 
and development, flood mitigation, disaster management and health and environment. The oversight of the waste 
management business activity is also provided by this function.

Waste Management 
This business activity is responsible for the provision of facilities in the region relating to waste collection. 
recycling, refuse and landfills. The main objective of this activity is to protect and support the community and 
natural environment by continually pursuing waste reduction, recovery and recycling initiatives.

Customer and Commercial Services 
This function provides the executive oversight of council's aerodrome and saleyard business activities and is also 
responsible for activities relating to property services and customer service. A key objective of this function is to 
ensure council's customer service charter is followed and quality customer service is provided to the community.

Saleyards  
The Saleyards business activity is responsible for the provision and maintenance of saleyard facilities in the 
council region. The primary objective is to support local producers by providing efficient facilities to enable 
them to sell their livestock.

Aerodrome  
This business activity is responsible for the operation and maintenance of council's airport facilities across the 
council region. The main objective of this activity is to ensure the community is serviced with commercial air 
travel facilities and to enhance the  accessibility and development potential of the region.

Infrastructure and Utilities
This function is responsible for the maintenance and construction of a high quality and effective road network 
for the region. The project management office and the oversight of the water and sewerage businesses activities 
are also included in this function. 

Sewerage  
This business activity  is responsible for the provision of  sewerage facilities in the council region relating to 
connection, collection, disposal and treatment services. The main objective of this business activity is to support 
a healthy and safe community through sustainable sewerage services.

Water  
This business activity is responsible for the provision of water supply facilities in the region including quality 
measurement, connection and treatment services. The main objective of this business activity is to support a 
healthy and safe community through sustainable water supply services.

For the year ended 30 June 2022
Notes to the Financial Statements
Central Highlands Regional CouncilX
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een recurring and capital are attributed to the follow
ing functions:
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                (2,762)
(29,371)
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1,748

                 
               61,122 

W
aste M

anagem
ent 

                      17 
                 9,988 

                        6 
                      -    

10,011
               

                (9,181)                    (31)
(9,212)

               
824

                                  
799

                    
                 2,172 

Sew
erage  

                      -                     9,397 
                      55 

                      -    
9,452

                 
                (8,973)                   (415)

(9,388)
               

424
                                  

64
                     

              138,607 

W
ater  

                      -                   16,594 
                    800 

                      -    
17,394

               
              (19,623)

                (3,776)
(23,399)

             
(3,029)

                              
(6,005)

               
              209,783 

Total C
ouncil

19,529
               

146,599
             

17,842
               

466
                    

184,436
             

(163,633)
           

(9,539)
               

(173,172)
           

2,495
                               

11,264
               

1,734,385
          

Controlled Entity (N
et of Elim

inations)
478

                    
290

                    
-

                  
5

                       
773

                    
(412)

                  
-

                  
(412)

                  
356

                                  
361

                    
4,208

                 

Total C
onsolidated

20,007
               

146,889
             

17,842
               

471
                    

185,209
             

(164,045)
           

(9,539)
               

(173,584)
           

2,851
                               

11,625
               

1,738,593
          

C
entral H

ighlands R
egional C

ouncil
N

otes to the Financial Statem
ents

For the year ended 30 June 2022

N
et result for 

period
A

ssets

For the year ended 30 June 2022:

O
perating 

surplus/(deficit)from
 

recurrent operations
C

apital
R

ecurrent
C

apital

G
ross program

 expenses
Total expenses

Program
s

G
ross program

 incom
e

R
ecurrent revenue

Total incom
e
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C
entral H

ighlands R
egional C

ouncil
N

otes to the Financial Statem
ents

For the year ended 30 June 2022

2
A

nalysis of R
esults by Function (continued)

(b)Incom
e and expenses defined betw

een recurring and capital are attributed to the follow
ing functions: (continued)

G
rant

O
ther

G
rant

O
ther

2021
2021

2021
2021

2021
2021

2021
2021

2021
2021

2021
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

Executive M
anagem

ent 
3

                       
5

                       
-

                  
-

                  
8

                       
(4,822)

               
-

                  
(4,822)

               
(4,814)

                              
(4,814)

               
-

                  

Corporate Services
196

                    
419

                    
412

                    
(33)

                    
994

                    
(21,288)

             
(1,555)

               
(22,843)

             
(20,673)

                            
(21,849)

             
120,030

             

Com
m

unities
2,494

                 
820

                    
2,116

                 
10

                     
5,440

                 
(22,780)

             
-

                  
(22,780)

             
(19,466)

                            
(17,340)

             
145,988

             

Infrastructure and U
tilities *

5,146
                 

18,385
               

10,331
               

79
                     

33,941
               

(55,180)
             

(21,943)
             

(77,123)
             

(31,649)
                            

(43,182)
             

918,985
             

Corporate Revenue &
 Expenses

7,554
                 

65,734
               

-
                  

-
                  

73,288
               

2,030
                 

-
                  

2,030
                 

75,318
                             

75,318
               

18,432
               

Custom
er and Com

m
ercial  Services 

5
                       

1,633
                 

-
                  

30
                     

1,668
                 

(5,260)
               

-
                  

(5,260)
               

(3,622)
                              

(3,592)
               

24,332
               

Saleyards  
-

                  
1,850

                 
443

                    
-

                  
2,293

                 
(1,806)

               
-

                  
(1,806)

               
44

                                    
487

                    
9,737

                 

A
erodrom

e  
-

                  
7,542

                 
5,617

                 
-

                  
13,159

               
(5,911)

               
(2,756)

               
(8,667)

               
1,631

                               
4,492

                 
56,827

               

W
aste M

anagem
ent 

116
                    

9,453
                 

54
                     

-
                  

9,623
                 

(8,463)
               

-
                  

(8,463)
               

1,106
                               

1,160
                 

3,199
                 

Sew
erage  

183
                    

9,018
                 

221
                    

-
                  

9,422
                 

(9,838)
               

(220)
                  

(10,058)
             

(637)
                                 

(636)
                  

149,660
             

W
ater  

2,091
                 

17,399
               

1,105
                 

-
                  

20,595
               

(20,123)
             

(106)
                  

(20,229)
             

(633)
                                 

366
                    

208,664
             

Total C
ouncil

17,788
               

132,258
             

20,299
               

86
                     

170,431
             

(153,441)
           

(26,580)
             

(180,021)
           

(3,395)
                              

(9,590)
               

1,655,854
          

Controlled Entity (N
et of Elim

inations)
864

                    
321

                    
-

                  
11

                     
1,196

                 
(781)

                  
-

                  
(781)

                  
404

                                  
415

                    
3,944

                 

Total C
onsolidated

18,652
               

132,579
             

20,299
               

97
                     

171,627
             

(154,222)
           

(26,580)
             

(180,802)
           

(2,991)
                              

(9,175)
               

1,659,798
          

For the year ended 30 June 2021:

*The Infrastructure and U
tilities program

 has been updated to reflect the results of the Q
uarries program

 w
hich w

as show
n separately in the 2020-21 financial statem

ents. The Q
uarries function now

 form
s part of Infrastructure and U

tilities program
 and the 

com
parative inform

ation has therefore been am
ended to reflect this change.

O
perating 

surplus/(deficit)from
 

recurrent operations

N
et result for 

period
A

ssets
R

ecurrent
C

apital

G
ross program

 expenses
Total expenses

C
apital

Program
s

G
ross program

 incom
e

Total incom
e

R
ecurrent revenue
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3 Revenue Analysis

(a) Rates, levies and charges

Consolidated Council
2022 2021 2022 2021

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

General rates 78,047         67,508                  78,047 67,508         
Special rates 3,982           5,172                      3,982 5,172           
Water 7,896           7,824                      7,896 7,824           
Water consumption 6,906           9,763                      6,906 9,763           
Sewerage 9,697           9,008                      9,697 9,008           
Waste management 6,669           6,463                      6,669 6,463           

Total rates and utility charge revenue 113,197       105,738              113,197 105,738       
Less:  Discounts (4,993)         (4,139)                   (4,993) (4,139)         
Less:  Pensioner remissions (848)            (705)                         (848) (705)            

Total rates and utility charges* 107,356       100,894       107,356       100,894       

*Internal rates and charges paid on council owned properties have been eliminated

(b) Sales revenue

(i)   Sale of contract and recoverable works
Department of Transport and Main Roads contracts 18,410         11,417                  18,410 11,417         
Other recoverable works 424              1,990                         424 1,990           

  Total sale of contract and recoverable works 18,834         13,407         18,834         13,407         

(ii)   Sale of goods and major services
Airport charges 8,599           6,747                      8,599 6,747           
Saleyard services 1,828           2,619                      1,828 2,619           

  Total sale of contract and recoverable works 10,427         9,366           10,427         9,366           

(c) Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations

(i)

Consolidated
At a point in 

time
Over 
 time

At a point in 
time

Over 
 time

2022 2022 2021 2021
Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Operating grants, subsidies, contributions and donations (ii) 19,163         844              18,652         -            
Capital revenue relating to grants for assets controlled by council (iii) 16,689         1,153           18,379         1,920           

35,852         1,997           37,031         1,920           

Council
At a point in 

time
Over  
time

At a point in 
time

Over 
 time

2022 2022 2021 2021
Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Operating grants, subsidies, contributions and donations (ii) 18,685         844              17,788         -            
Capital revenue relating to grants for assets controlled by council (iii) 16,689         1,153           18,379         1,920           

35,374         1,997           36,167         1,920           

Central Highlands Regional Council
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Revenue for rates, levies and charges are recognised upon issue of the levies within the respective rating period to which they relate. Prepaid rates are 
recognised as a financial liability until commencement of the relevant rating period. 

Council generates sales revenues from contracts for road and earthworks (sale of contract and recoverable works) and from the airport and saleyards 
businesses (sale of goods and major services).

Revenue from the sale of goods and major services is recognised at the point in time that the customer obtains control of the goods which is usually at 
delivery. Revenue from major services is recognised when the service is rendered.

Contract revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity based on costs incurred at the reporting date. Where 
consideration is received in advance it is included as a contract liability and is recognised as revenue in the period when the work is performed. The 
contract work carried out is not subject to retentions and there were no contracts in progress at the balance date.

Revenue from contracts and recoverable works relates predominately to Department of Transport and Main Roads contracts and generally comprises a 
recoupment of material costs together with an hourly charge for use of equipment and employees. 

 Timing of revenue recognition for grants, subsidies, contributions and donations
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Central Highlands Regional Council
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

3 Revenue Analysis (continued)

(c) Grants, subsidies, contributions and donations (continued)

Grant income under AASB 15

Grant income under AASB 1058

Capital grants

Donations and contributions

Consolidated Council
2022 2021 2022 2021

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

(ii) Operating - grants, subsidies, contributions and donations are analysed as 
follows:

General purpose grants 13,878         10,647                  13,878 10,647         
Commonwealth subsidies and grants 5,041           1,545                      4,646 1,377           
State government subsidies and grants 882              1,796                         882 1,796           
Other grants, contributions and donations 206              4,664                         123 3,968           

Total recurrent revenue 20,007         18,652         19,529         17,788         

(iii) Capital - grants, subsidies, contributions and donations are analysed as 
follows:

Commonwealth government grants 4,321           7,639                      4,321 7,639           
State government subsidies and grants 7,302           7,334                      7,302 7,334           
Other non-government contributions 3,164           2,612                      3,164 2,612           
Contributions - infrastructure charges 1,133           1,164                      1,133 1,164           
Donations from third parties at fair value 1,922           1,550                      1,922 1,550           

Total capital grants, subsidies, contributions and donations 17,842         20,299         17,842         20,299         

Assets arising from grants in the scope of AASB 1058 are recognised at the asset's fair value when the asset is received. Council considers whether there 
are any related liability or equity items associated with the asset which are recognised in accordance with the relevant accounting standard. Once the assets 
and liabilities have been recognised then income is recognised for any remaining asset value at the time the asset is received.

Where council receives funding under an enforceable contract to acquire or construct a specified item of property, plant and equipment which will be under 
completion, revenue is recognised as and when the obligation to construct or purchase is completed in accordance with AASB 1058.

For construction projects, this is generally as the construction progresses in accordance with costs incurred.

Where assets are donated or purchased for significantly below fair value, the revenue is recognised when the asset is acquired and controlled by council. 
Donations and contributions are generally recognised on receipt of the asset since there are no enforceable performance obligations.

Physical assets contributed to council by developers in the form of road works, stormwater, water and wastewater infrastructure and parks equipment are 
recognised as revenue when the development becomes "on maintenance" (i.e. when council obtains control of the assets and becomes liable for any 
ongoing maintenance) and there is sufficient data in the form of drawings and plans to determine the approximate specifications and values of such assets. 

Capital revenue includes grants and subsidies received which are tied to specific projects for the replacement or upgrade of existing non-current assets 
and/or investment in new assets. It also includes non-cash contributions which are usually infrastructure assets received from developers.

Where grant income arises from an agreement which is enforceable and contains sufficiently specific performance obligations then the revenue is 
recognised when control of each performance obligations is satisfied. The performance obligations vary in each agreement. Payment terms vary depending 
on the terms of the grant, cash is received upfront for some grants and on the achievement of certain payment milestones for others.

Each performance obligation is considered to ensure that the revenue recognition reflects the transfer of control and within grant agreements there may be 
some performance obligations where control transfers at a point in time and others which have continuous transfer of control over the life of the contract. 

Where control is transferred over time, revenue is recognised using either costs or time incurred.

Page 12
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Central Highlands Regional Council
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

4 Capital income
Consolidated Council

2022 2021 2022 2021
Note $000 $000 $000 $000

(a) Gain on disposal of non-current assets
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 5,010           402                         5,003 380              
Less: Carrying value of disposed property, plant and equipment 14 (4,563)         (384)                      (4,561) (373)            

447              18                442              7                  

(b) Quarries (gravel pits) provisions for rehabilitation of land not controlled by 
council:

Net change in discount rate, restoration dates and future cost 19 24                79                                24 79                
24                79                24                79                

471              97                466              86                

5 Employee benefits 
Employee benefit expenses are recorded when the service has been provided by 
the

Staff wages and salaries 35,463         35,348                  34,324 34,067         
Councillors' remuneration 712              715                            712 715              
Annual, sick and long service leave entitlements 5,824           6,357                      5,804 6,347           
Superannuation 27 4,527           4,444                      4,386 4,299           

46,526         46,864         45,226         45,428         
Staff employed through agencies 1,118           947                         1,118 947              
Other employee related expenses 2,823           2,257                      2,677 2,151           

50,467         50,068         49,021         48,526         
Less:  Capitalised employee expenses (2,971)         (4,405)         (2,971)         (4,405)         

Total employee benefits 47,496         45,663         46,050         44,121         

Consolidated Council
2022 2021 2022 2021

Actual   FTE Actual   FTE Actual   FTE Actual   FTE
Elected members       9           9       9           9       9           9       9           9

Administration staff   251        231   268        249   244       224   259       239
Depot and outdoors staff   193        188   198        194   193       188   198       194

Total full time equivalent employees (excluding elected members)   444        419   466        443   437       412   457       433

6 Materials and services 
Consolidated Council

2022 2021 2022 2021
$000 $000 $000 $000

Audit of annual financial statements by the Auditor-General of Queensland* 189              199                            170 168              
Administration and general expenses 1,898           2,075                      1,728 1,898           
Bulk water expenses 1,135           1,171                      1,135 1,171           
External service providers - consultants and contractors 43,624         41,109                  43,426 40,873         
External service providers - trade services 1,425           531                         1,425 531              
Electricity and gas supplies 2,262           3,290                      2,262 3,290           
External plant hire costs 4,099           2,759                      4,099 2,759           
Fleet operating expenses 6,125           4,585                      6,112 4,573           
Grants, sponsorships and donations 596              652                         2,689 2,371           
Insurance costs 1,880           1,602                      1,859 1,583           
Information technology - software, licences, services and hardware** 2,294           2,311                      2,290 2,311           
Legal expenses 360              419                            360 419              
Rentals and royalties** 74                187                              71 182              
Repairs, maintenance and other expenses 7,596           4,464                      7,143 4,177           
Telecommunication expenses 1,525           1,528                      1,525 1,528           

75,082         66,882         76,294         67,834         

Total Council employees at  30 June:

*The 2021-22 financial statement audit fees for council quoted by the Queensland Audit Office are $170,250 (2021: $167,750). There were no fees for non audit services paid by 
council during 2021-22 (2020-21 nil).

** As a result of the correction of error and change in accounting policy adjustments explained at notes 30 and 31, the comparative year balances have been restated.
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7 Finance costs Consolidated Council
Restated

2022 2021 2022 2021
Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Finance costs charged by the Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC) 3,050           2,962                      3,050 2,962           
Bank charges 283              238                            283 238              
Impairment of receivables and bad debts written off (37)              122                             (37) 122              
Interest on leases 17 64                44                                17 15                
Unwinding of discount on provisions:

 - Rehabilitation of refuse sites - change in PV over time 19 286              104                            286 104              
 - Rehabilitation of quarry sites - change in PV over time 19 21                5                                  21 5                  

3,667           3,475           3,620           3,446           

8 Capital expenses

Loss on write off of capital assets:
Site improvements 1,250           423                         1,250 423              
Buildings 2,220           892                         2,220 892              
Road and bridge network 1,340           21,944                    1,340 21,944         
Water 3,776           106                         3,776 106              
Sewerage 415              220                            415 220              
Airport -            2,756                            -   2,756           
Plant and equipment -            62                                 -   62                
Land -            177                               -   177              
Office furniture and fittings 538              -                          538 -            

Total capital expenses 24 9,539           26,580         9,539           26,580         

9 Cash and cash equivalents

Consolidated Council
2022 2021 2022 2021

Note $000 $000 $000 $000
Cash at bank and on hand 4,181           3,652                      1,895 1,704           
Deposits at call 87,988         51,591                  87,988 51,591         
Balance per Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows 92,169         55,243         89,883         53,295         

Cash and cash equivalents 92,169         55,243         89,883         53,295         
Term deposit investments 13           3,151           24,640         3,151           24,640         

Less: Externally imposed restrictions on cash (23,915)       (20,355)       (23,915)       (20,355)       
Unrestricted cash 71,405         59,528         69,119         57,580         

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows include cash on hand, all cash and cheques receipted but not yet banked at the year end, and 
deposits held at call with financial institutions.

Deposits held with the Queensland Treasury Corporation (QTC) are held at call and are capital guaranteed as part of an asset management portfolio that 
invests with a range of high credit rated counterparties. Council may be exposed to credit risk through these investments. 
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Central Highlands Regional Council
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

9 Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

Consolidated Council
2022 2021 2022 2021

Note $000 $000 $000 $000
Unspent grants, subsidies, and contributions 4,605           8,689           4,605           8,689           
Prepaid rates and charges from ratepayers 4,623           4,131           4,623           4,131           
Developer infrastructure charges 12,735         11,602         12,735         11,602         
Mine funded works 1,952           64                1,952           64                

      Total externally imposed restriction on cash 23,915         24,486         23,915         24,486         

Trust funds

Trust funds held for outside parties:
Monies collected or held on behalf of other entities 414              420                            414 420              
Security deposits 1,226           1,309                      1,226 1,309           

1,640           1,729           1,640           1,729           

10 Receivables

Current
Rateable revenue and utility charges 12,985         21,217                  12,985 21,217         
Accrued grants and contributions 12                821                              12 821              
Other debtors 8,847           10,355                    8,789 10,329         
Less:  Loss allowance (498)            (638)                         (498) (638)            

Total trade and other receivables 21,346         31,755         21,288         31,729         

Movement in accumulated impairment losses (other debtors) is as follows:
Opening balance at 1 July 2021 638              563                            638               563 
Additional impairments recognised (140)            75                             (140)                 75 
Closing balance at 30 June 2022 498              638              498              638              

Ageing of past due receivables and the amount of any impairment is disclosed 
below:

Not past due 7,353           23,604                    7,296          23,578 
Past due - 31 to 60 days 185              107                            185               107 
Past due - 61 to 90 days 74                208                              74               208 
Past due - Over 90 days 14,232         8,474                    14,231            8,474 
Less impaired (498)            (638)                         (498)              (638)
Total 21,346         31,755         21,288         31,729         

Cash assets are subject to a number of external restrictions that limit amounts available for discretionary or future use. External restrictions relating to cash 
and cash equivalents and term deposit investments (as disclosed in note 13) include:

In accordance with the Local Government Act 2009  and Local Government Regulation 2012, a separate trust bank account and separate accounting 
records are maintained for funds held on behalf of outside parties. Funds held in the trust account on behalf of outside parties may include those funds from 
the sale of land for arrears in rates, deposits for the contracted sale of land, security deposits lodged to guarantee performance and unclaimed monies paid 
into the trust account by council. 

Council also maintains internal allocations of cash that are not restricted and are for discretionary use.

Council performs only a custodian role in respect of monies held in the trust account. As the monies cannot be used for council purposes they are not 
considered revenue and are not brought to account in the financial statements, as council has no control over the assets.

Receivables are amounts owed to council at year end and are recognised at the amount due at the time of sale of service delivery. Settlement is required 
within 30 days from the invoice date and no interest is charged on the outstanding amount. Interest is charged on outstanding rates and utility charges at a 
rate of 8.00% per annum in 2022. (2021 - 8.53%).
There is a concentration of credit risk for rates debtors due to the geographical concentration of mining and agriculture in the region. 

Debts are regularly assessed for collectability and allowance is made, where appropriate, for impairment. All known bad debts were written off at 30 June 
2022. If an amount is recovered in a subsequent period it is recognised in the profit or loss. Note 32 provides a detailed discussion on credit risk. Council 
applies normal credit protection procedures prior to providing goods or services to minimise credit risk.
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10 Receivables (continued)

Expected credit loss assessment 

 Lifetime 
Expected 

Credit Loss 
$000

Statutory charges
Current -              
1-30 days 12                
31-60 days -              
61-90 days -              
90+ days -              

12                

Other debtors
Current -              
1-30 days -              
31-60 days 4                  
61-90 days 3                  
90+ days 479              

486              

498              

 Lifetime 
Expected 

Credit Loss 
$000

Statutory charges
Current 1                  
1-30 days 8                  
31-60 days -              
61-90 days -              
90+ days -              

9                  

Other debtors
Current -              
1-30 days -              
31-60 days -              
61-90 days 9                  
90+ days 619              

628              

Historical 
probability 
of default 

Loss given 
default

0.01% 100%
                108 0.03% 100%

                 -    2.50% 100%
                 -    3.00%

3.00% 100%
                 -    2.50% 100%

100%

100%
100%

2021 Ageing

2022 Ageing

% %

           12,180 0.10% 100%
                 -    1.80% 100%

Closing 
Balance 

30/6/2022

100%
100%

0.01%
0.03%
0.08%
100%

             8,614 
                  16 
                  18 
                    9 
                619 

100%

                805 0.01% 100%

$000 % %

           13,758 0.01% 100%
             7,459 

100% 100%

             4,919 0.08% 100%
                    3 100% 100%

Historical 
probability 
of default 

Loss given 
default

100%

0.10% 100%

9,276            

21,217          

6,634            

12,985          

                479 

             1,125 

                 -    

Closing 
Balance 

30/6/2021
$000

                 -    1.80% 100%

Council uses an allowance matrix to measure the expected credit losses of trade receivables from individual customers. The calculations reflect historical 
observed default rates calculated using credit losses experienced on past transactions. Loss rates are based on actual credit loss experience, current 
conditions and council's view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.
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Central Highlands Regional Council
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

10 Receivables (continued)

Accounting policy - grouping of receivables

11 Inventories

Consolidated Council
2022 2021 2022 2021

Note $000 $000 $000 $000
Inventories held for sale

Infrastructure quarry material stock 10                15                                10 15                
Saleyards stock 55                40                                55 40                

65                55                65                55                
Inventories for internal use

Stores and materials 1,461           1,452                      1,442 1,436           
1,461           1,452           1,442           1,436           

Land purchased for development and sale
Balance at the beginning of financial year 4,787           5,459           4,787           5,459           
Less: Cost of developed land sold (458)            (672)            (458)            (672)            
Balance at end of the financial year 4,329           4,787                      4,329 4,787           

Total Inventories 5,855           6,294           5,836           6,278           

12 Other assets

Water charges yet to be levied 5,747           6,926                      5,747 6,926           
GST recoverable 1,211           1,954                      1,205 1,947           
Prepayments 1,421           1,029                      1,375 991              

Total Other assets 8,379           9,909           8,327           9,864           

Current 8,352           9,797           8,300           9,752           
Non-current 27                112                              27 112              

8,379           9,909           8,327           9,864           

13 Term deposit investments

Fixed term cash investments 3,151           24,640                    3,151 24,640         
3,151           24,640         3,151           24,640         

When council has no reasonable expectation of recovering an amount owed by a debtor and has ceased enforcement activity, the debt is written-off directly by 
reducing the receivable against the loss allowance. If the amount of the debt written off exceeds the loss allowance, the excess is recognised as an impairment 
loss.
Accounting for impairment losses is dependent upon the individual groups of receivables subject to impairment. The loss allowance for grouped receivables 
reflects lifetime expected credit losses and incorporates reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.

As shown in the table above, council has identified two distinct groupings of receivables, Statutory Charges and Other Debtors.
Statutory charges includes rates and charges receivables. Council has the power under the provisions of the Local Government Act 2009  to sell the property to 
recover any defaulted rates receivables, which protects council against credit risk in the case of defaults. Therefore the expected credit loss is considered 
immaterial. Impairment of rates and charges will only occur if arrears are deemed to be greater than the proceeds council would receive from the sale of the 
respective property.

Inventories for internal use are valued at cost and adjusted when applicable for any loss of service potential.

Land purchased by council for development and sale is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Proceeds from the sale of this land is recognised as 
sales revenue on the signing of a valid unconditional contract of sale.

Term deposit investment is a fixed term investments realisable within twelve months. This is held at fixed rates with the Capricornian bank, which is rated A1- 
based on Standard & Poors agency ratings. Likelihood of a credit failure is assessed as remote.

Maturity of this investments is 365 days and the deposits bear interest ranging from 1.35% to 0.70%. 

Stores and raw materials held for resale are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value and include, where applicable, direct material, direct labour and 
an appropriate portion of variable and fixed overheads.

Other debtors includes grants payable by State and Commonwealth governments and their agencies. A credit enhancement exists as these payments are 
effectively government guaranteed and both the State and Commonwealth governments have high credit ratings, accordingly council determines the level of 
credit risk exposure to be immaterial. Council does not calculate expected credit loss for grants.
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14
Property, plant and equipm

ent

C
onsolidated - 30 June 2022

N
ote

Basis of m
easurem

ent
Fair V

alue
Fair V

alue
Fair V

alue
Cost

Cost
Fair V

alue
Fair V

alue
Fair V

alue
Cost

Fair V
alue

Cost

Fair value category
Level 2

Level 3
Level 2 &

 3
Level 3

Level 3
Level 3

Level 3

2022
2022

2022
2022

2022
2022

2022
2022

2022
2022

2022
2022

A
sset  values

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

O
pening gross value as at 1 July 2021

29,166
                  

79,518
                  

158,850
                

52,710
                  

8,035
                    

1,133,261
             

312,698
                

239,367
                

214
                       

64,392
                  

47,250
                  

2,125,461
            

M
inor opening balance adjustm

ent
(1)

                          
82

                         
-

                      
3

                           
-

                      
3

                           
(1)

                          
-

                      
1

                           
-

                      
-

                      
87

                         
A

dditions at cost
-

                      
3

                           
-

                      
8

                           
1

                           
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
56,954

                  
56,966

                  
Contributed assets

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

1,848
                    

74
                         

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

1,922
                    

Transfers betw
een classes

-
                      

8,789
                    

(14,079)
                

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

4,367
                    

923
                       

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                     

Internal transfers from
 w

ork in progress 
81

                         
7,893

                    
5,497

                    
2,564

                    
1,439

                    
14,861

                  
2,208

                    
970

                       
-

                      
1,755

                    
(37,268)

                
-

                     
D

isposals 
4

(1,165)
                   

-
                      

(3,266)
                   

(1,160)
                   

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

(5,591)
                  

W
rite-offs 

8
-

                      
(2,060)

                   
(2,960)

                   
-

                      
(2,695)

                   
(1,827)

                   
(7,539)

                   
(849)

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
(17,930)

                
Revaluation adjustm

ent to other com
prehensive 

incom
e. (refer the A

RS*)
22

562
                       

6,600
                    

48,101
                  

-
                      

-
                      

91,844
                  

(4,363)
                   

(24,993)
                

-
                      

5,190
                    

-
                      

122,941
               

Closing gross value as at 30 June 2022
28,643

                  
100,825

                
192,143

                
54,125

                  
6,780

                    
1,239,990

             
307,444

                
215,418

                
215

                       
71,337

                  
66,936

                  
2,283,856

            

A
ccum

ulated depreciation and im
pairm

ent

O
pening balance as at 1 July 2021

-
                      

23,294
                  

36,878
                  

27,250
                  

5,766
                    

270,563
                

127,546
                

92,558
                  

27
                         

11,629
                  

-
                      

595,511
               

M
inor opening balance adjustm

ent
-

                      
(20)

                        
-

                      
-

                      
(2)

                          
1

                           
-

                      
-

                      
(4)

                          
-

                      
(25)

                       
D

epreciation expense
-

                      
2,909

                    
2,469

                    
2,511

                    
887

                       
17,252

                  
4,849

                    
4,314

                    
2

                           
1,765

                    
-

                      
36,958

                  
D

epreciation on disposals
4

-
                      

-
                      

(176)
                      

(852)
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

(1,028)
                  

D
epreciation on w

rite-offs
8

-
                      

(812)
                      

(739)
                      

-
                      

(2,156)
                   

(487)
                      

(3,763)
                   

(434)
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

(8,391)
                  

Revaluation adjustm
ent to other com

prehensive 
incom

e. (refer the A
RS*)

22
-

                      
3,355

                    
48,910

                  
-

                      
-

                      
22,985

                  
(6,767)

                   
(13,440)

                
-

                      
1,071

                    
-

                      
56,114

                  
Transfers betw

een classes
-

                      
1,958

                    
(3,146)

                   
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
940

                       
248

                       
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                     
A

ccum
ulated depreciation as at 30 June 2022

-
                      

30,684
                  

84,196
                  

28,909
                  

4,495
                    

310,314
                

122,805
                

83,246
                  

29
                         

14,461
                  

-
                      

679,139
               

C
onsolidated book value as at 30 June 2022

28,643
                  

70,141
                  

107,947
                

25,216
                  

2,285
                    

929,676
                

184,639
                

132,172
                

186
                       

56,876
                  

66,936
                  

1,604,717
            

Residual value 
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                     

Range of estim
ated useful life in years

N
ot depreciated

0 - 100
0 - 100

3 - 35
3 - 20

6 - indefinite
0 - 200

0 - 200
7 - 100

6 - indefinite
N

ot depreciated

A
ddition of renew

al assets
-

                      
1,121

                    
204

                       
2,120

                    
100

                       
13,626

                  
7,465

                    
3,710

                    
-

                      
64

                         
-

                      
28,410

                  

A
ddition of other assets

867
                       

5,359
                    

4,916
                    

871
                       

-
                      

14,928
                  

1,054
                    

77
                         

3
                           

481
                       

-
                      

28,556
                  

Total additions in period
867

                       
6,480

                    
5,120

                    
2,991

                    
100

                       
28,554

                  
8,519

                    
3,787

                    
3

                           
545

                       
-

                      
56,966

                  

* ARS denotes - Asset Revaluation Surplus

H
eritage &

 cultural 

C
entral H

ighlands R
egional C

ouncil

Sew
erage

Buildings
Plant and 
equipm

ent
Site im

provem
ents

O
ffice furniture 
and fittings

For the year ended 30 June 2022

A
irport

Road and bridge 
netw

ork
Land

N
otes to the Financial Statem

ents

Total
W

ater
W

orks in progress
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C
entral H

ighlands R
egional C

ouncil

For the year ended 30 June 2022
N

otes to the Financial Statem
ents

14
Property, plant and equipm

ent (continued)

C
onsolidated - 30 June 2021

N
ote

Basis of m
easurem

ent
Fair V

alue
Fair V

alue
Fair V

alue
Cost

Cost
Fair V

alue
Fair V

alue
Fair V

alue
Cost

Fair V
alue

Cost

Fair value category
Level 2

Level 3
Level 2 &

 3
Level 3

Level 3
Level 3

Level 3

2021
2021

2021
2021

2021
2021

2021
2021

2021
2021

2021
2021

A
sset  values

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

O
pening gross value as at 1 July 2020

29,343
                  

75,177
                  

199,248
                

49,452
                  

7,230
                    

1,162,875
             

307,249
                

235,578
                

195
                       

61,653
                  

44,424
                  

2,172,424
            

O
pening balance adjustm

ent
-

                      
(155)

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
(59)

                        
(214)

                     
Contributed assets

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

1,155
                    

191
                       

204
                       

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

1,550
                    

A
dditions at cost

-
                      

2
                           

64
                         

3
                           

6
                           

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

70,508
                  

70,583
                  

Transfer betw
een classes

-
                      

(9,144)
                   

9,144
                    

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                     

Internal transfers from
 w

ork in progress 
-

                      
12,373

                  
3,923

                    
4,410

                    
805

                       
37,266

                  
930

                       
493

                       
19

                         
7,404

                    
(67,623)

                
-

                     
D

isposals 
4

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

(1,155)
                   

(6)
                          

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

(1,161)
                  

W
rite-offs 

8
(177)

                      
(553)

                      
(1,220)

                   
-

                      
-

                      
(32,420)

                 
(172)

                      
(351)

                      
-

                      
(3,667)

                   
-

                      
(38,560)

                
Revaluation adjustm

ent to other com
prehensive 

incom
e. (refer the A

RS*)
22

-
                      

1,818
                    

(52,309)
                

-
                      

-
                      

(35,615)
                 

4,500
                    

3,443
                    

-
                      

(998)
                      

-
                      

(79,161)
                

Closing gross value as at 30 June 2021
29,166

                  
79,518

                  
158,850

                
52,710

                  
8,035

                    
1,133,261

             
312,698

                
239,367

                
214

                       
64,392

                  
47,250

                  
2,125,461

            

A
ccum

ulated depreciation and im
pairm

ent

O
pening balance as at 1 July 2020

-
                      

21,065
                  

61,951
                  

25,352
                  

5,487
                    

300,461
                

120,983
                

87,107
                  

25
                         

13,434
                  

-
                      

635,865
               

Transfer betw
een classes

-
                      

(2,655)
                   

2,655
                    

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                     

D
epreciation expense

-
                      

2,455
                    

2,757
                    

2,609
                    

283
                       

18,100
                  

4,795
                    

4,250
                    

2
                           

1,941
                    

-
                      

37,192
                  

D
epreciation on disposals

4
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
(773)

                      
(4)

                          
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
(777)

                     
D

epreciation on w
rite-offs

8
-

                      
(130)

                      
(328)

                      
62

                         
-

                      
(10,476)

                 
(66)

                        
(131)

                      
-

                      
(911)

                      
-

                      
(11,980)

                
Revaluation adjustm

ent to other com
prehensive 

incom
e. (refer the A

RS*)
22

-
                      

2,559
                    

(30,157)
                

-
                      

-
                      

(37,522)
                 

1,834
                    

1,332
                    

-
                      

(2,835)
                   

-
                      

(64,789)
                

A
ccum

ulated depreciation as at 30 June 2021
-

                      
23,294

                  
36,878

                  
27,250

                  
5,766

                    
270,563

                
127,546

                
92,558

                  
27

                         
11,629

                  
-

                      
595,511

               

C
onsolidated book value as at 30 June 2021

29,166
                  

56,224
                  

121,972
                

25,460
                  

2,269
                    

862,698
                

185,152
                

146,809
                

187
                       

52,763
                  

47,250
                  

1,529,950
            

Residual value 
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                     

Range of estim
ated useful life in years

N
ot depreciated

0 - 150
15 - 150

3 - 35
3 - 20

6 - indefinite
10 - 150

10 - 100
7 - 100

6 - indefinite
N

ot depreciated

A
ddition of renew

al assets
-

                      
4,389

                    
3,478

                    
3,141

                    
176

                       
15,421

                  
4,274

                    
1,708

                    
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
32,587

                  

A
ddition of other assets

11
                         

7,124
                    

808
                       

2,278
                    

272
                       

16,557
                  

2,881
                    

909
                       

19
                         

7,137
                    

-
                      

37,996
                  

Total additions in period
11

                         
11,513

                  
4,286

                    
5,419

                    
448

                       
31,978

                  
7,155

                    
2,617

                    
19

                         
7,137

                    
-

                      
70,583

                  

* ARS denotes - Asset Revaluation Surplus

A
irport

W
orks in progress

Total
Sew

erage
W

ater
Land

Site im
provem

ents
Buildings

Plant and 
equipm

ent
O

ffice furniture 
and fittings

Road and bridge 
netw

ork
H

eritage &
 cultural 
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C
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ighlands R
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ouncil

For the year ended 30 June 2022
N

otes to the Financial Statem
ents

14
Property, plant and equipm

ent (continued)

C
ouncil - 30 June 2022

N
ote

Basis of m
easurem

ent
Fair V

alue
Fair V

alue
Fair V

alue
Cost

Cost
Fair V

alue
Fair V

alue
Fair V

alue
Cost

Fair V
alue

Cost

Fair value category
Level 2

Level 3
Level 2 &

 3
Level 3

Level 3
Level 3

Level 3

2022
2022

2022
2022

2022
2022

2022
2022

2022
2022

2022
2022

A
sset  values

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

O
pening gross value as at 1 July 2021

29,166
                  

79,516
                  

156,365
                

52,627
                  

7,803
                    

1,133,261
             

312,698
                

239,367
                

214
                       

64,392
                  

47,250
                  

2,122,659
            

M
inor opening balance adjustm

ent
(1)

                          
83

                         
-

                      
(2)

                          
-

                      
3

                           
(1)

                          
-

                      
1

                           
-

                      
83

                         
A

dditions at cost
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
56,954

                  
56,954

                  
Contributed assets

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

1,848
                    

74
                         

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

1,922
                    

Transfers betw
een classes

-
                      

8,789
                    

(14,079)
                

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

4,367
                    

923
                       

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                     

Internal transfers from
 w

ork in progress 
81

                         
7,893

                    
5,497

                    
2,564

                    
1,439

                    
14,861

                  
2,208

                    
970

                       
-

                      
1,755

                    
(37,268)

                
-

                     
D

isposals 
4

(1,165)
                   

-
                      

(3,266)
                   

(1,135)
                   

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

(5,566)
                  

W
rite-offs 

8
-

                      
(2,060)

                   
(2,960)

                   
-

                      
(2,695)

                   
(1,827)

                   
(7,539)

                   
(849)

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
(17,930)

                
Revaluation adjustm

ent to other com
prehensive 

incom
e. (refer the A

RS*)
22

562
                       

6,600
                    

48,101
                  

-
                      

-
                      

91,844
                  

(4,363)
                   

(24,993)
                

-
                      

5,190
                    

-
                      

122,941
               

Closing gross value as at 30 June 2022
28,643

                  
100,821

                
189,658

                
54,054

                  
6,547

                    
1,239,990

             
307,444

                
215,418

                
215

                       
71,337

                  
66,936

                  
2,281,063

            

A
ccum

ulated depreciation and im
pairm

ent

O
pening balance as at 1 July 2021

-
                      

23,294
                  

35,555
                  

27,200
                  

5,571
                    

270,563
                

127,546
                

92,558
                  

27
                         

11,629
                  

-
                      

593,943
               

M
inor opening balance adjustm

ent
-

                      
(20)

                        
-

                      
-

                      
(2)

                          
1

                           
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
(4)

                          
-

                      
(25)

                       
D

epreciation expense
-

                      
2,908

                    
2,437

                    
2,495

                    
883

                       
17,252

                  
4,849

                    
4,314

                    
2

                           
1,765

                    
-

                      
36,905

                  
D

epreciation on disposals
4

-
                      

-
                      

                      (176)
                      (829)

                           -   
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
(1,005)

                  
D

epreciation on w
rite-offs

8
-

                      
(812)

                      
                      (739)

                           -                      (2,156)
(487)

                      
(3,763)

                   
(434)

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
(8,391)

                  
Revaluation adjustm

ent to other com
prehensive 

incom
e. (refer the A

RS*)
22

-
                      

3,355
                    

                   48,910                            -                              -   
22,985

                  
(6,767)

                   
(13,440)

                
-

                      
1,071

                    
-

                      
56,114

                  
Transfers betw

een classes
-

                      
1,958

                    
                   (3,146)

                           -                              -   
-

                      
940

                       
248

                       
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                     
A

ccum
ulated depreciation as at 30 June 2022

-
                      

30,683
                  

82,841
                  

28,866
                  

4,296
                    

310,314
                

122,805
                

83,246
                  

29
                         

14,461
                  

-
                      

677,541
               

Total w
ritten dow

n value as at 30 June 2022
28,643

                  
70,138

                  
106,817

                
25,188

                  
2,251

                    
929,676

                
184,639

                
132,172

                
186

                       
56,876

                  
66,936

                  
1,603,522

            

Residual value 
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                     

Range of estim
ated useful life in years

N
ot depreciated

0 - 100
0 - 100

3 - 35
3 - 20

6 - indefinite
0 - 200

0 - 200
7 - 100

6 - indefinite
N

ot depreciated

A
ddition of renew

al assets
-

                      
1,118

                    
204

                       
2,112

                    
99

                         
13,626

                  
7,465

                    
3,710

                    
-

                      
64

                         
-

                      
28,398

                  

A
ddition of other assets

867
                       

5,359
                    

4,916
                    

871
                       

-
                      

14,928
                  

1,054
                    

77
                         

3
                           

481
                       

-
                      

28,556
                  

Total additions in period
867

                       
6,477

                    
5,120

                    
2,983

                    
99

                         
28,554

                  
8,519

                    
3,787

                    
3

                           
545

                       
-

                      
56,954

                  

* ARS denotes - Asset Revaluation Surplus

Sew
erage

H
eritage &

 cultural 
A

irport
W

orks in progress
Total

Buildings
Plant and 
equipm

ent
O

ffice furniture 
and fittings

Road and bridge 
netw

ork
W

ater
Land

Site im
provem

ents
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C
entral H

ighlands R
egional C

ouncil

For the year ended 30 June 2022
N

otes to the Financial Statem
ents

14
Property, plant and equipm

ent (continued)

C
ouncil - 30 June 2021

N
ote

Basis of m
easurem

ent
Fair V

alue
Fair V

alue
Fair V

alue
Cost

Cost
Fair V

alue
Fair V

alue
Fair V

alue
Cost

Fair V
alue

Cost

Fair value category
Level 2

Level 3
Level 2 &

 3
Level 3

Level 3
Level 3

Level 3

2021
2021

2021
2021

2021
2021

2021
2021

2021
2021

2021
2021

A
sset  values

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

O
pening gross value as at 1 July 2020

29,343
                  

75,177
                  

196,827
                

49,334
                  

6,998
                    

1,162,875
             

307,249
                

235,578
                

195
                       

61,653
                  

44,424
                  

2,169,653
            

O
pening balance adjustm

ent
31

-
                      

(155)
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

(59)
                        

(214)
                     

Contributed assets
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
1,155

                    
191

                       
204

                       
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
1,550

                    
A

dditions at cost
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
70,508

                  
70,508

                  
Transfer betw

een classes
-

                      
(9,144)

                   
9,144

                    
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                     
Internal transfers from

 w
ork in progress 

-
                      

12,373
                  

3,923
                    

4,410
                    

805
                       

37,266
                  

930
                       

493
                       

19
                         

7,404
                    

(67,623)
                

-
                     

D
isposals 

4
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
(1,117)

                   
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
(1,117)

                  
W

rite-offs 
8

(177)
                      

(553)
                      

(1,220)
                   

-
                      

-
                      

(32,420)
                 

(172)
                      

(351)
                      

-
                      

(3,667)
                   

-
                      

(38,560)
                

Revaluation adjustm
ent to other com

prehensive 
incom

e. (refer the A
RS*)

22
-

                      
1,818

                    
(52,309)

                
-

                      
-

                      
(35,615)

                 
4,500

                    
3,443

                    
-

                      
(998)

                      
-

                      
(79,161)

                
Closing gross value as at 30 June 2021

29,166
                  

79,516
                  

156,365
                

52,627
                  

7,803
                    

1,133,261
             

312,698
                

239,367
                

214
                       

64,392
                  

47,250
                  

2,122,659
            

A
ccum

ulated depreciation and im
pairm

ent

O
pening balance as at 1 July 2020

-
                      

21,065
                  

60,658
                  

25,282
                  

5,299
                    

300,461
                

120,983
                

87,107
                  

25
                         

13,434
                  

-
                      

634,314
               

D
epreciation expense

-
                      

2,455
                    

2,727
                    

2,600
                    

272
                       

18,100
                  

4,795
                    

4,250
                    

2
                           

1,941
                    

-
                      

37,142
                  

D
epreciation on disposals

4
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
(744)

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
(744)

                     
D

epreciation on w
rite-offs

8
-

                      
(130)

                      
(328)

                      
62

                         
-

                      
(10,476)

                 
(66)

                        
(131)

                      
-

                      
(911)

                      
-

                      
(11,980)

                
Revaluation adjustm

ent to other com
prehensive 

incom
e. (refer the A

RS*)
22

-
                      

2,559
                    

(30,157)
                

-
                      

-
                      

(37,522)
                 

1,834
                    

1,332
                    

-
                      

(2,835)
                   

-
                      

(64,789)
                

Transfers betw
een classes

-
                      

(2,655)
                   

2,655
                    

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                     

A
ccum

ulated depreciation as at 30 June 2021
-

                      
23,294

                  
35,555

                  
27,200

                  
5,571

                    
270,563

                
127,546

                
92,558

                  
27

                         
11,629

                  
-

                      
593,943

               

Total w
ritten dow

n value as at 30 June 2021
29,166

                  
56,222

                  
120,810

                
25,427

                  
2,232

                    
862,698

                
185,152

                
146,809

                
187

                       
52,763

                  
47,250

                  
1,528,716

            
Residual value 

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                      

-
                     

Range of estim
ated useful life in years

N
ot depreciated

0 - 150
15 - 150

3 - 35
3 - 20

6 - indefinite
10 - 150

10 - 100
7 - 100

6 - indefinite
N

ot depreciated

A
ddition of renew

al assets
-

                      
4,386

                    
3,414

                    
3,139

                    
173

                       
15,421

                  
4,274

                    
1,708

                    
-

                      
-

                      
-

                      
32,515

                  

A
ddition of other assets

11
                         

7,124
                    

808
                       

2,278
                    

269
                       

16,557
                  

2,881
                    

909
                       

19
                         

7,137
                    

-
                      

37,993
                  

Total additions in period
11

                         
11,510

                  
4,222

                    
5,417

                    
442

                       
31,978

                  
7,155

                    
2,617

                    
19

                         
7,137

                    
-

                      
70,508

                  

* ARS denotes - Asset Revaluation Surplus

W
ater

Land
Site im

provem
ents

Buildings
Plant and 
equipm

ent
O

ffice furniture 
and fittings

Road and bridge 
netw

ork
Sew

erage
H

eritage &
 cultural 

A
irport

W
orks in progress

Total
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14 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(a)  Recognition

(b)  Measurement

(c)  Depreciation

(d)  Impairment

Items treated as an expense in the year of acquisition are:
 -  Property, plant and equipment with a total value less than $5,000.
 -  Information and computer technologies (ICT) plant and equipment assets with a total value of less than $1,000. 
 -  Infrastructure and building assets with a total value of less than $10,000. 
Where an item of capital expenditure relates to a network asset and has a future economic benefit, then it will be recognised as an asset regardless of the 
threshold. Network assets are defined as assets as they are interconnected and rely on each other to provide a service.  All other items of property, plant 
and equipment are capitalised where their cost exceeds the respective threshold and they provide a future economic benefit. 

Land under the road network within the council area that has been dedicated and opened for public use under the  Land Act 1994 or the Land Title Act 
1994 is not controlled by council but is controlled by the state pursuant to the relevant legislation. This land is not recognised in these financial statements.

Each class of property, plant and equipment is stated at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment loss.  

Acquisitions of assets are initially recorded at cost, which is determined as the fair value of the assets given as consideration plus costs incidental to the 
acquisition, including freight, architect's fees and engineering design fees and all other establishment costs.

Each non-current physical and intangible asset and group of assets is assessed for indicators of impairment annually. If an indicator of possible impairment 
exists, council determines the asset's recoverable amount. Any amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount is recorded as 
an impairment loss. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

Property, plant and equipment received in the form of physical contributions, are recognised as assets and revenues at fair value by council valuation 
where that value exceeds the recognition thresholds for the respective asset class. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell the asset in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount. When the asset 
is measured at a revalued amount, the impairment loss is offset against the asset revaluation surplus of the relevant class to the extent available.

Direct labour and materials and an appropriate proportion of overheads incurred in the acquisition or construction of assets are treated as capital 
expenditure. Assets under construction are not depreciated until they are completed and commissioned, at which time they are reclassified from work in 
progress to the appropriate property, plant and equipment class.

All assets are depreciated from the date of acquisition or, in respect of internally constructed assets, from the time an asset is commissioned ready for use.

Land and road formation is not depreciated as it has an unlimited useful life. Other classes of assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis so as to write-
off the net cost of each depreciable asset, less its estimated residual value, progressively over its estimated useful life to the council. Management believe 
that the straight-line basis appropriately reflects the pattern of consumption of these assets. 

Where assets have separately identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these components are assigned useful lives distinct from the 
asset to which they relate. Any expenditure that increases the originally assessed capacity or service potential of an asset is capitalised and the new 
depreciable amount is depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset to the council.

Depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and residual values (where applicable to the asset class) of property, plant and equipment assets, are reviewed 
at the end of each reporting period and adjusted where necessary to reflect any changes in the pattern of consumption, physical wear and tear, technical or 
commercial obsolescence, or management intentions. The condition assessments performed as part of the annual valuation process for assets measured at 
current replacement cost are used to estimate the useful lives of these assets at each reporting date. 
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14 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(d)  Impairment (continued)

(e)  Valuation

(i) Valuation processes

The table on the following page categorises fair value measurements as either level 2 or level 3 in accordance with AASB 13. Council does not have any 
assets measured at fair value which meet the criteria for categorisation as level 1.  

The fair values of the assets are determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of observable data, where it is available, and minimise the 
use of entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an asset are observable, the asset is included in level 2. If one or more of the 
significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the asset is included in level 3. This is the case for council infrastructure assets, which are of a 
specialist nature for which there is no active market for similar or identical assets. These assets are valued using a combination of observable and 
unobservable inputs.

Council's policy is to recognise transfers in and out of the fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the reporting period. There were no transfers between 
levels during the year. 

-  Fair value based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1)

-  Fair value based on inputs that are directly or indirectly observable for the asset or liability (level 2)

-  Fair value based on unobservable inputs for the asset and liability (level 3)

On revaluation, accumulated depreciation is restated proportionately with the change in the carrying amount of the asset and any change in the estimate of 
remaining useful life. Separately identified components of assets are measured on the same basis as the assets to which they relate.

In accordance with AASB 13 fair value measurements are categorised on the following basis:

Council's valuation policies and procedures are determined after assessment and consideration of information provided by personnel within council with 
appropriate skills and experience specific to a particular asset. They are reviewed annually taking into consideration an analysis of movements in fair value 
and other relevant information. Non-recurring fair value measurements are made at the point of reclassification by a registered valuer.

Non-current physical assets measured at fair value are revalued, where required, so that the carrying amount of each class of asset does not materially 
differ from its fair value at the reporting date. This is achieved by engaging independent, professionally qualified valuers to determine the fair value for 
each class of property, plant and equipment assets at least once every 3 to 5 years. This process involves the valuer physically sighting a representative 
sample of council assets across all asset classes and making their own assessments of the condition of the assets at the date of inspection.

In the intervening years, council uses internal engineers to assess the condition and cost assumptions associated with all property, plant and equipment 
assets, the results of which are considered in combination with the table of indices sourced from an independent professionally qualified valuation firm. 
Together these are used to form the basis of a management valuation for infrastructure asset classes in each of the intervening years. 

In the intervening years, management may also engage an independent professionally qualified valuation firm, to perform a "desktop" valuation. A desktop 
valuation involves management providing updated information to the valuer regarding additions, deletions and changes in assumptions such as useful life 
and condition rating. The valuer then determines suitable indices which are applied to each of the asset classes.

Any revaluation increment arising on the revaluation of an asset is credited to the appropriate class of the asset revaluation surplus, except to the extent it 
reverses a revaluation decrement for the class previously recognised as an expense. A decrease in the carrying amount on revaluation is charged as an 
expense to the extent it exceeds the balance, if any, in the revaluation surplus of that asset class.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that 
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation surplus increase.
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14 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(e)  Valuation (continued)

(ii) Valuation techniques used to derive fair values

The table below presents council's property, plant and equipment measured and recognised at fair value at 30 June 2022

Asset class and fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation 
approach

Last 
comprehensive 
valuation date

Valuer engaged Index applied 
(change in index 
recognised this 

year)

Other interim 
revaluation 
adjustment

Land and improvements (level 2) Fair value 30-Jun-20 Assetic Pty Ltd
2% n/a

Site improvements (level 3) Current 
replacement 
cost

30-Jun-22 JLL Public Sector 
Valuations Pty Ltd 
(JLL)

n/a n/a

Buildings (level 2)
2022: $10,772k
2021: $ 17,164k
2020: $16,660k

Fair value

Buildings (level 3)
2022: $96,045k
2021: $ 103,646k
2020: $119,509k

Current 
replacement 
cost

Key assumptions and estimates (related data 
sources)

JLL provided council with the indice after consideration 
of local market conditions
In determining asset lives, information was obtained 
from a variety of sources including Real Property, Plant 
and Equipment for Use in Australian Financial Reports 
(AVGP 302), IPWEA practice notes 10 (Parks Asset 
Management), 3 (Building Condition and Performance 
Assessment Guidelines) and 12 (Useful life of 
Infrastructure) as well as JLL's sixteen (16) years of 
previous Qld Local Government and other Queensland 
and Commonwealth entity valuation experience. Local 
factors including environment, levels of maintenance, 
renewals, asset deterioration, as well as functional and 
economic obsolescence were also inputs into determing 
the remaining useful lives of assets. 
Various indices including the Australian Bureau of 
Statistics' (ABS) Qld Non-Residential Building 
Construction Index (PPI), Rawlinsons' Building Price 
Index and AIQS' Building Cost Index, as well as the 
local construction market, have been considered as part 
of the review . Where indexation of site improvements 
has been used to determine values, an index of 7.5% 
has been applied.

30-Jun-22
JLL Public Sector 
Valuations Pty Ltd

All building assets were componetised into the following 
component parts being structure, roof, finishes, fittings 
and services.
Asset lives have been adopted from a variety of sources 
including Real Property, Plant and Equipment for Use in 
Australian Financial Reports (AVGP 302), IPWEA 
practice notes 10 (Parks Asset Management), 3 
(Building Condition and Performance Assessment 
Guidelines) and 12 (Useful life of Infrastructure) as well 
as JLL's sixteen (16) years of Qld Local Government 
and other Queensland and Commonwealth entity 
valuation experience.  whilst taking into account physical 
inspection of Council assets as to how local factors such 
as environment, levels of maintenance, renewals, asset 
deterioration, as well as functional and economic 
obsolescence have had an impact.
Various indices including the Australian Bureau of 
Statistics' (ABS) Qld Non-Residential Building 
Construction Index  and House Construction Index, 
Rawlinsons' Building Price Index and AIQS' Building 
Cost Index, as well as the local construction market, 
have been considered as part of the review . For a 
percentage of buildings  by value, indexation has been 
applied.  An index of 7.5% was utilised.

n/a n/a
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14 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(ii) Valuation techniques used to derive fair values (continued)

Asset class and fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation 
approach

Last 
comprehensive 
valuation date

Valuer engaged Index applied 
(change in index 
recognised this 

year)

Other interim 
revaluation 
adjustment

Road and bridge network (level 3) Current 
replacement 
cost

30-Jun-21 Assetic Pty Ltd

8% n/a

Water (level 3) Current 
replacement 
cost

30-Jun-22 JLL Public Sector 
Valuations Pty Ltd

n/a n/a

Sewerage (level 3) Current 
replacement 
cost

30-Jun-22 JLL Public Sector 
Valuations Pty Ltd

n/a n/a

Airport (level 3) Current 
replacement 
cost

30-Jun-21 GHD Pty Ltd

8.00% n/a

Key assumptions and estimates (related data 
sources)

JLL provided council with the indice after consideration 
of various indices including ABS' Road and Bridge 
Conbstruction Index and local construction conditions.

In arriving at current replacement cost, the valuer 
considered project costs for recent and proposed 
works,input from  CHRC staff with working knowledge 
of the assets under consideration, current asset registers 
and other relevant information and general 
correspondence.  
The valuer also utilised published cost information and 
written and verbal advice from various third party 
sources including suppliers, purchasers and quantity 
surveying firms. With respect to the water and sewerage 
mains the valuer confirmed unit rates with council staff 
based on inputs and compared these unit rates with unit 
rates used by nearby local governments.                                                    
Asset condition assessments were undertaken through 
site inspections and for assets unable to be inspected (ie 
the mains network) through videos of approximately 
25% of the network across towns (sewerage) and 
through break data (water). 

JLL provided council with the index after consideration 
of various indices including ABS' Road and Bridge 
Conbstruction Index, Non-Residential Building 
Construction Index, and Rawlinsons' Construction 
Handbook. Local construction conditions were also 
considered. 
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15 Intangible assets

Consolidated Council
2022 2021 2022 2021

Software Note $000 $000 $000 $000
Opening gross carrying value -          6,583         -              6,583          
Opening balance adjustment 31 -          (6,583)        -              (6,583)        

-             -           -              -             

Accumulated amortisation
Opening balance -          1,349         -              1,349          
Opening balance adjustment 31 -          (1,349)        -              (1,349)        

Closing balance -             -           -              -           

Net carrying value at end of financial year -             -           -              -           

Easement licence
Opening gross carrying value 498           498            498               498             

Closing carrying value 498              498            498               498             

Accumulated amortisation
Opening balance 372           248            372               248             
Amortisation in the period 124           124            124               124             

Closing balance 496              372            496               372             

Net carrying value at end of financial year 2                  126            2                   126             

Incorporation expense
Opening gross carrying value 3               3                -              -           

Closing carrying value 3                  3                -              -           

Accumulated amortisation
Opening balance -          -           -              -           

Closing balance -             -           -              -           

Net carrying value at end of financial year 3                  3                -              -           

Total intangible assets 5                  129            2                   126             

16 Contract balances

(a) Contract assets 2,045         688                         2,045 688             

2,045           688            2,045            688             
(b) Contract liabilities

Funds received upfront to construct council controlled assets 376           168                           376 168             

Current contract liabilities 376           168                           376 168             

Amortisation methods, estimated useful lives and residual values for intangible assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted 
where appropriate.
Council revised its accounting policy in relation to Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) arrangements during the year which has resulted in implementation 
costs no longer being capitalised as an intangible asset and instead being expensed as incurred in accordance with AASB 138 Intangible Assets. As a 
result, council has restated the prior year balances to reflect the change in accounting policy. Refer note 31 for details of this adjustment.

Contract assets represent the excess of costs incurred in relation to a contract with the customer, or construction of an asset over the amounts that 
council has invoiced the customer or the grantor. Where council has invoiced the customer or the grantor amounts in excess of what it has incurred in 
relation to a contract or in constructing an asset, this gives rise to a contract liability.
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17 Leases

Council as a lessee

Council controlled entity as a lessee

Recognition and measurement

Exceptions to lease accounting

Leases at significantly below market value / Concessionary leases 

Right of use assets

Consolidated Buildings

Land and 
Site 

Improvements Total  
$000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 July 2021 1,068         106               1,174          
Less: Accumulated amortisation (236)           (24)             (260)           
Balance at 30 June 2022 832            82                 914             

Balance at 1 July 2020 784            -              784             
Additions to right-of-use assets 474            130               604             
Depreciation charge (190)           (24)             (214)           
Balance at 30 June 2021 1,068         106               1,174          

Council Buildings

Land and 
Site 

Improvements Total  
$000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 July 2021 396            106               502             
Less: Accumulated amortisation (158)        (24)             (182)           
Balance at 30 June 2022 238            82                 320             

Where council assesses that an agreement contains a lease, a right of use asset and lease liability is recognised on inception of the lease. Council does 
not have separate lease and non-lease components for any class of assets and has accounted for lease payments as a single component. 

Land:
Council has a lease agreement with the Emerald Jockey Club Inc, to access and sublet a multi-purpose sporting venue at the Emerald Racecourse. The 
lease is for a period of five years commencing from 1 July 2020 to 31 December 2025, with an option to extend (5 years x 2).

Council and CHDC have applied the exceptions to lease accounting for both short-term leases (i.e. leases with a term of less than or equal to 12 
months) and leases of low-value assets. Payments associated with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term 
as are expensed to the profit and loss as incurred. 

Council and CHDC have elected to measure the right of use asset arising from any concessionary leases at cost which is based on the associated lease 
liability at initial recognition.

Central Highlands Development Corporation Limited (CHDC), is a controlled entity of council and has a lease agreement on a building located in 
Egerton Street Emerald which it uses as an office. Where CHDC assesses that an agreement contains a lease, a right of use asset and lease liability is 
recognised on inception of the lease.  CHDC does not have separate lease and non-lease components for any class of assets and has accounted for lease 
payments as a single component.

The right-of-use asset is measured using the cost model where cost on initial recognition comprises: the lease liability, initial direct costs, prepaid lease 
payments, estimated cost of removal and restoration, less any lease incentives received and is depreciated over the lease term on a straight-line basis 
and assessed for impairment in accordance with the impairment of asset accounting policy.

The lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the remaining lease payments at the commencement of the lease. The discount rate is 
the rate implicit in the lease, however where this cannot be readily determined, council’s incremental borrowing rate for a similar term with similar 
security is used.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The lease liability is re-
measured whenever there is a lease modification, or change in estimate of the lease term or index upon which the lease payments are based.

Building:
Council has a lease with the Department of Agriculture and Fisheries (DAF), to access and use their Emerald training facility as an Emergency 
Management control centre. The lease is for three years commencing from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023. There is a renewal period 
commencing 1 January 2024 which is reasonably certain to be exercised by mutual agreement with the signing of a formal deed by both parties.   

Where the lease liability is re-measured, the right-of-use asset is adjusted to reflect the re-measurement.

The term of the lease that CHDC has on the office building is for more that ten years. 

Council has two leases that were not recognised at the commencement of the lease term in 2020-21, which have been retrospectively recognised this 
year. Refer note 30 for further details of this adjustment.
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17 Leases (continued)

Buildings

Land and 
Site 

Improvements Total  
Council $000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 July 2020 -           -              -           
Additions to right-of-use assets 474            130               604             
Depreciation charge (78)          (24)             (102)           
Balance at 30 June 2021 396            106               502             

Lease liabilities

Consolidated < 1 year 1–5 years > 5 years Total

Total per 
statement of 

financial 
position 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
2022 291        690           192                         1,173 963             
2021 359        841           253                         1,453 1,178          

Council < 1 year 1–5 years > 5 years Total

Total per 
statement of 

financial 
position 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
2022 197        144           -                          341 330             
2021 270        369           -                          639 507             

Liabilities not recognised - extension options

Amounts included in the statement of comprehensive income related to leases

Consolidated Council
2022 2021 2022 2021

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Interest on lease liabilities 7 64             44              17                 15               
Depreciation of right of use assets 260           214            182               102             
Total cash outflows for leases 324              258            199               117             

Council as a lessor
All lease arrangements where council is the lessor are classified as operating leases as council does not transfer substantially the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an asset to the leasee.

Income is accounted for over the lease term and is included as either lease rentals and levies revenue, or within sale of goods and major services 
revenue relating to the Emerald Airport (refer 3(b)(ii).

The table below shows the maturity analysis of the lease liabilities based on contractual cashflows and therefore the amounts will not be the same as 
the recognised lease liability in the statement of financial position.

For building leases, extension options which can be exercised at council's discretion are included. At each reporting date council assesses whether it is 
reasonably certain that the extension options will be exercised based on current operations and strategy.

The following amounts have been recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for leases where council is the lessee.
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18 Payables

Consolidated Council
2022 2021 2022 2021

Current Note $000 $000 $000 $000
Creditors and Accruals 10,803       12,318                  10,751 12,208        
Prepaid rates and charges 4,623         4,131                      4,623 4,131          
Accrued wages and salaries 1,158         1,010                      1,158 1,010          
Accrued Lease Interest 30 8               5                                   8 5                
Other entitlements 661           698                           661 698             

Total payables 17,253         18,162       17,201          18,052        

Non-Current
Other entitlements 10             13                               10 13               

10                13              10                 13               

0 to 1 year 11,961         13,328       11,909          13,218        
Total contractual outflows 11,961         13,328       11,909          13,218        

19 Provisions

(a) Long service leave

(b) Sick leave 

(c) Provision for annual leave

The following sets out the liquidity risk in relation to the above creditors and accruals and represents the remaining contractual cash flows at the end of 
the reporting period. Liquidity risk is the risk that council will encounter difficulty in meeting the objectives associated with its financial liabilities.

Where employees have met the prerequisite length of service and council does not have an unconditional right to defer the liability beyond 12 months, 
long service leave is classified as a current liability. Otherwise it is classified as non-current.

A liability for sick leave is recognised in accordance with the council's Enterprise Bargaining Certified Agreement 2021-2024 (Certified Agreement). 
The liability is measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows in respect of leave accrued by employees during the prerequisite 
length of service, up to the reporting date. 

Where employees have met the prerequisite length of service, sick leave will be classified as a current liability. Otherwise the liability will be classified 
as non-current.

Liabilities are recognised for employee benefits such as sick leave and long service leave in respect of services provided by the employees up to the 
reporting date.

Short-term benefits which are expected to be wholly settled within 12 months are calculated on wage and salary levels which are expected to be paid 
and includes related employee on-costs. Amounts not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months are calculated on projected future wage and 
salary levels and related employee on-costs, and are discounted to present values. 

A liability for long service leave is measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date. 

The interest rates attaching to Commonwealth Government guaranteed securities at the reporting date are used to discount the estimated future cash 
outflows to their present value. 

Sick leave will only be payable on termination of an employees' employment or death, where the prerequisite length of service has been met.

A provision for annual leave is recognised and amounts are expected to be settled within 12 months are calculated on current wage and salary levels 
and include related employee on-costs. 

All annual leave is classified as a current liability as employees are presently entitled to receive the accrued balance on termination.

The value of the liability is calculated using current pay rates and projected future increases in those rates and includes related employee on-costs. 

The estimates are adjusted for the probability of the employee remaining in council's employment or other associated employment which would result 
in council being required to meet the liability. Adjustments are then made to allow for the proportion of the benefit earned to date, and the result is 
discounted to present value.  The provision is discounted using the Commonwealth Bond yield rates published on the Department of State 
Development, Infrastructure, Local Government and Planning website.

The value of the liability is calculated using current pay rates and projected future increases in those rates and includes related employee on-costs. This 
estimate is then adjusted for the rates stipulated in the Certified Agreement, which are based on years of service at the council and the pre-
amalgamated former shires. This estimate is adjusted for the probability of employees remaining in council's employment which would result in 
council being required to meet the liability.

Further adjustments are then made to allow for the proportion of the benefit earned to date, and the result is then discounted to present value. 

Creditors are recognised when goods and services are received, at the amount owed. Amounts owing are unsecured and are generally settled on 30 day 
terms.
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19 Provisions  (continued)

(d) REDI approvals

(e) Property restoration 

(i) Refuse sites 

(ii) Quarry sites (gravel pits)

Consolidated Council
2022 2021 2022 2021

Note $000 $000 $000 $000
Current

Annual leave 4,621         4,714                      4,552 4,624          
Long service leave 3,767         4,112                      3,704 4,068          
Sick leave 1,287         1,402                      1,287 1,402          
REDI Approvals 251           235                           251 235             
Make good at end of lease 30             30                                -   -           
Property restoration:

(i)   Refuse sites 2,650         1,433                      2,650 1,433          
(ii)   Quarry sites (Gravel pits) -          39                                -   39               

12,606         11,965       12,444          11,801        

Non-Current
Long service leave 459           472                           459 472             
Property restoration:

(i)   Refuse sites 12,211       10,006                  12,211 10,006        
(ii)  Quarry sites (Gravel pits) 550           514                           550 514             

13,220         10,992       13,220          10,992        

Details of movements in provisions:

Property restoration
(i)   Refuse sites

Balance at the beginning of financial year 11,439       15,760       11,439          15,760        
Increase in provision - due to change in time 286           104            286               104             
Amount expended in year (1,578)       (283)           (1,578)           (283)           
Movements taken to the asset revaluation surplus:

Increase in provision - change in discount rate (853)          (2,795)        (853)              (2,795)        
Increase (decrease) in estimate of future cost 4,289         (1,156)        4,289            (1,156)        
Change in estimated restoration dates 1,278         (191)           1,278            (191)           

Balance at end of financial year 14,861         11,439       14,861          11,439        

Current portion 2,650         1,433         2,650            1,433          
Non-current portion 12,211       10,006       12,211          10,006        

Balance at end of financial year 14,861         11,439       14,861          11,439        

A provision is made for the cost of restoration in respect of refuse sites and quarries where it is probable council will be liable, or required, to incur 
such a cost on the cessation of use of these facilities. 

The provision recognised for the gravel pit rehabilitation is reviewed at least annually and updated based on the facts and circumstances available at 
the time. 

A number of refuse sites are situated on council controlled land. The provision represents the present value of the anticipated future costs associated 
with the closure of these sites, decontamination and monitoring of historical residues and leaching on these sites. 

The calculation of this provision requires assumptions such as application of environmental legislation, site closure dates, available technologies and 
engineering cost estimates. These uncertainties may result in future actual expenditure differing from amounts currently provided. Because of the 
long-term nature of the liability, the most significant uncertainty in estimating the provision is the costs that will be incurred. 

The provision is measured at the expected cost of the work required, discounted to current day values using the interest rates attaching to 
Commonwealth Government guaranteed securities with a maturity date corresponding to the anticipated date of the restoration. 

The provisions recognised for restoration are reviewed at least annually and updated based on the facts and circumstances available at the time. 

This provision relates to gravel pits that council has custodianship of. Although council does have control of the land it has a legal obligation to 
undertake the restoration work of these pits. The provision represents the present value of the anticipated future costs associated with the closure of 
the pits, reclamation and rehabilitation of the site.

Approvals under the regional economic development incentive (REDI) provide a rebate on application fees and infrastructure charges. These rebates 
are to be reimbursed once the applicant meets all conditions of the associated development approval. A provision is made for the total cost of approved 
incentives to reserve the approved funds before the incentive is paid. 

This is the present value of the estimated future cost of restoring the refuse sites, under the State Government environmental regulations, at the end of 
their lives.
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19 Provisions  (continued) Consolidated Council
2022 2021 2022 2021

(ii)  Quarry sites $000 $000 $000 $000
Balance at the beginning of financial year 553           627            553               627             
Increase in provision - due to change in time 21             5                21                 5                

Increase in provision - change in discount rate (730)          (79)             (730)              (79)             
Increase (decrease) due to change in restoration dates 55             -           55                 -           
Increase due to change in future costs 651           -           651               -           

Balance at end of financial year 550              553            550               553             

Current portion -          39              -              39               
Non-current portion 550           514            550               514             

Balance at end of financial year 550              553            550               553             

20 Borrowings

Consolidated Council
2022 2021 2022 2021
$000 $000 $000 $000

Current
Queensland Treasury Corporation 5,571         6,051                      5,571 6,051          

Non-Current
Queensland Treasury Corporation 66,078       66,461                  66,078 66,461        

Total 71,649         72,512       71,649          72,512        

Details of movements in borrowings:
Balance at beginning of financial year 72,512       67,785       72,512          67,785        
Loans raised 10,000       10,000       10,000          10,000        
Principal repayments (10,863)     (5,273)        (10,863)         (5,273)        
Balance at end of financial year 71,649         72,512       71,649          72,512        

Borrowings are classified as:
Current portion 5,571         6,051         5,571            6,051          
Non-current portion 66,078       66,461       66,078          66,461        

71,649         72,512       71,649          72,512        

0 to 1 year 8,335         8,864         8,335            8,864          
1 to 5 years 33,405       35,460       33,405          35,460        
Over 5 years 48,402       45,155       48,402          45,155        
Total contractual outflows 90,142         89,479       90,142          89,479        

21 Other liabilities

Current other liabilities 987           -                          987 -           

Non-current other liabilities 
2,982           -                        2,982 -           

This is the present value of the estimated future cost of restoring the refuse sites, under the State Government environmental regulations, at the end of 
their lives.

The expected final repayment dates vary from 2026-27 until 2041-42 and interest rates range from 1.61% to 6.62%. Principal and interest repayments 
are made quarterly in arrears.

Other liabilities represents the advance waste levy payment received by council in 2021-22 from the Department of Environment and Science. This 
payment covers the next four financial years.

Current liabilities represents the 2022-23 payment. 

Non-current liabilities represents the payments for 2023-24 to 2025-26 of $958,864, $990,475 and $1,032,623 respectively.

The QTC loan market value at the reporting date was $70,049,983 and represents the value of the debt if repaid at that date. No assets have been 
pledged as security by the council for any liabilities, however, all loans are guaranteed by the Queensland Government.

The following sets out the liquidity risk in relation to the above borrowings and represents the remaining contractual cash flows (principal and interest) 
at the end of the reporting period. Liquidity risk is the risk that council will encounter difficulty in meeting the objectives associated with its financial 
liabilities.
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22 Asset revaluation surplus

Consolidated Council
(i) Movements in the asset revaluation surplus were as follows: 2022 2021 2022 2021

$000 $000 $000 $000
Balance at the beginning of financial year 507,706     517,934     507,706        517,934      
Net adjustment to non-current assets at end of period to reflect a change 
in:

Land 562           -           562               -           
Site improvements 3,245         (741)           3,245            (741)           
Buildings (809)          (22,150)      (809)              (22,150)      
Road and bridge network 68,859       1,908         68,859          1,908          
Water 2,404         2,664         2,404            2,664          
Sewerage (11,553)     2,113         (11,553)         2,113          
Airport 4,119         1,836         4,119            1,836          

Change in value of future rehabilitation costs:
Land and improvements (site improvements) (4,714)       4,142         (4,714)           4,142          

Movements total 62,113         (10,228)      62,113          (10,228)      
Balance at end of the financial year 569,819       507,706     569,819        507,706      

(ii) Asset revaluation surplus analysis:

Land 13,977       13,415                  13,977 13,415        
Site improvements 5,234         6,703                      5,234 6,703          
Buildings 4,315         5,124                      4,315 5,124          
Road and bridge network 352,540     283,681              352,540 283,681      
Water 104,676     102,272              104,676 102,272      
Sewerage 81,052       92,605                  81,052 92,605        
Airport 8,025         3,906                      8,025 3,906          

569,819       507,706     569,819        507,706      

23 Retained surplus 

Movement in retained surplus
Balance at the beginning of financial year 1,037,102  1,052,603   1,034,103     1,050,019   
Adjustment to opening balance* 30 & 31 -          (6,326)        -              (6,326)        
Net result attributable to council 11,625       (9,175)        11,264          (9,590)        
Retained surplus at end of the financial year 1,048,727     1,037,102   1,045,367     1,034,103   

*The comparative balances have been restated due to a correction of error (refer note 30) and a change in accounting policy (refer note 31).

24 Commitments for expenditure

(a) Contractual commitments

Aquatic Centre management agreements 6,016         6,559         6,016            6,559          
Showgrounds caretaker agreements 1,366         43              1,366            43               
Information Communication Technology agreements 3,076         2,122         3,076            2,122          
Other contracts 1,632         2,211         1,632            2,211          
Waste and recycling contracts over 10 years 23,549       27,641       23,549          27,641        

35,639         38,576       35,639          38,576        
(b) Capital commitments
Commitments for the construction of the following assets, contracted for at 
the reporting date, but not recognised as liabilities are as follows:

Plant and equipment 2,055         891            2,055            891             
Office furniture and fittings 8               1                8                   1                
Airport -          5                -              5                
Buildings and Site improvements 3,041         3,223         3,041            3,223          
Infrastructure (Road network, Water and Sewerage) 8,657         8,554         8,657            8,554          

13,761         12,674       13,761          12,674        
These expenditures are payable:

Within one year 13,761       12,674       13,761          12,674        
13,761         12,674       13,761          12,674        

The asset revaluation surplus comprises adjustments relating to changes in the value of property, plant and equipment that do not result from the use of 
those assets. Net incremental changes in the carrying value of classes of non-current assets since their initial recognition are accumulated in the asset 
revaluation surplus. Increases and decreases on revaluation are offset within a class of assets.

Where a class of assets is decreased on revaluation, that decrease is offset first against the amount remaining in the asset revaluation surplus in respect 
of that class. Any excess is treated as an expense. When an asset is disposed of, the amount reported in surplus in respect of that asset is retained in the 
asset revaluation surplus and not transferred to retained surplus.

The closing balance of the asset revaluation surplus is comprised of the following asset 
categories:

Contractual commitments at balance date but not recognised in the financial statements:
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25 Events after reporting date

26 Contingent liabilities

Local Government Workcare

Council
2022 2021
$000 $000

Council's maximum exposure to the bank guarantee is: 1,395            1,161          

Local Government Mutual

27 Superannuation

Consolidated Council
2022 2021 2022 2021

Note $000 $000 $000 $000
Superannuation contributions made to the Regional Defined Benefits Fund 55             56              55                 56               
Other superannuation contributions for employees 4,381         4,302         4,240            4,157          
Other superannuation contributions paid for elected members 91             86              91                 86               
Total superannuation contributions paid by Council for employees and 
elected members 4,527           4,444         4,386            4,299          

Details and estimates of maximum amounts of contingent liabilities are as follows:

Council is not aware of any material adjusting events that occurred after the reporting date. On 12 September 2022, council in its capacity as the sole 
member of the Central Highlands (QLD) Housing Company Limited (CHHC), resolved to proceed with the voluntary winding up of the controlled 
entity and further details of this statutory process are provided at note 1.2. 

Council is a member of the local government mutual liability self-insurance pool, LGM Queensland. In the event of the pool being wound up or it is 
unable to meet its debts as they fall due, the trust deed and rules provide that any accumulated deficit will be met by the individual pool members in 
the same proportion as their contribution is to the total pool contributions in respect to any year that a deficit arises.

Council is a member of the Queensland local government workers compensation self-insurance scheme, Local Government Workcare. Under this 
scheme the council has provided a bank guarantee to cover bad debts which may remain should the self insurance licence be cancelled and there was 
insufficient funds available to cover outstanding liabilities. Only the Queensland government's workers compensation authority may call on any part of 
the guarantee should the above circumstances arise.

Investment risk - the risk that the scheme's investment returns will be lower than assumed and additional contributions are needed to fund the 
shortfall.
Salary growth risk - the risk that wages or salaries will rise more rapidly than assumed, increasing vested benefits to be funded.

The scheme is a pooled defined benefit plan and it is not in accordance with the deed to allocate obligations, plan assets and costs at the council level. 

The most significant risks that may result in LGIAsuper increasing the contribution rate on the advice of the actuary are:

No changes have been made to the prescribed employer contributions which remain at 12% of employee salary or wages and there are no known 
requirements to change the rate of contributions.

Council may be liable to the scheme for a portion of another local governments’ obligations should that local government be unable to meet them, 
However the risk of this occurring is extremely low and in accordance with the LGIAsuper trust deed changes to council's obligations will only be 
made on the advice of an actuary.

The next triennial actuarial review is not due until 1 July 2024.

As at 30 June 2021 the financial statements reported an accumulated surplus and it is not anticipated any liability will arise.

Council contributes to the LGIAsuper Regional Defined Benefits Fund (the scheme), at the rate of 12% for each permanent employee who is a defined 
benefit member. 

Any amount by which the scheme is over or under funded may affect future contribution rate obligations, but has not been recognised as an asset or 
liability of the council. 

This rate is set in accordance with the LGIAsuper trust deed and may be varied on the advice of an actuary. 
The Regional Defined Benefits Fund is a complying superannuation scheme for the purpose of the Commonwealth Superannuation Industry 
(Supervision) legislation and is also governed by the Local Government Act 2009.

The last completed actuarial assessment of the scheme as required under Superannuation Prudential Standard 160 was undertaken as at 1 July 2021. 
The actuary indicated that “At the valuation date of 1 July 2021, the net assets of the scheme exceeded the vested benefits and the scheme was in a 
satisfactory financial position as at the valuation date." The measure of vested benefits represents the value of benefit entitlements should all 
participating employees voluntarily exit the scheme. 

Council is not aware of anything that has happened since that time that indicates the assets of the scheme are not sufficient to meet the vested benefits, 
as at the reporting date.
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28 Reconciliation of net result for the year to net cash inflow (outflow) from 
operating activities

Consolidated Council

Restated Restated
2022 2021 2022 2021

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Net result 11,625       (9,175)        11,264          (9,590)        
Non-cash operating items:

Impairment of receivables and bad debts written off 7 (37)            122            (37)                122             
Depreciation of property, plant, and equipment 14 36,958       37,192       36,905          37,142        
Change in restoration provisions expensed to finance costs 7 307           109            307               109             
Amortisation of right of use assets and intangible assets 15 & 17 384           338            306               226             
Interest paid on leases 7 64             44              17                 15               

37,676         37,805       37,498          37,614        
Investing and development activities:

Capital grants, subsidies and contributions 3(c)(iii) (17,842)     (20,299)      (17,842)         (20,299)      
Capital income 4 (471)          (97)             (466)              (86)             
Capital expenses 8 9,539         26,580       9,539            26,580        

(8,774)          6,184         (8,769)           6,195          
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in receivables 9,595         (4,039)        9,632            (4,083)        
(Increase) decrease in inventories (excluding land) 440           571            442               563             
(Increase) decrease in other assets (50)            3,874         (48)                3,877          
Increase (decrease) in payables (2,123)       23              (2,061)           22               
Increase (decrease) in lease liabilities (178)          (96)             (178)              (96)             
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities 3,969         -           3,969            -           
Increase (decrease) in provisions (529)          220            (527)              248             

11,124         553            11,229          531             
Net cash inflow from operating activities 51,651         35,367       51,222          34,750        

29 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

Consolidated

2022

As at 
30 June 

2021

Correction of 
error Cash flows

Non-cash 
changes (new 

leases)

As at 
30 June 

2022
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Borrowings 72,512      -          (863)        -           71,649     
Lease liability 1,178        -          (215)        -           963          

73,690    -          (1,078)     -           72,612     

2021

As at 
30 June 

2020

Correction of 
error Cash flows

Non-cash 
changes (new 

leases)

As at 
30 June 

2021
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Borrowings 67,785      -          4,727       -           72,512     
Lease liability 715        603           (140)        -           1,178       

68,500    603           4,587       -           73,690     

Council

2022

As at 
30 June 

2021

Correction of 
error Cash flows

Non-cash 
changes (new 

leases)

As at 
30 June 

2022
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Borrowings 72,512      -          (863)        -           71,649     
Lease liability 507           -          (177)        -           330          

73,019    -          (1,040)     -           71,979     

2021

As at 
30 June 

2020

Correction of 
error Cash flows

Non-cash 
changes (new 

leases)

As at 
30 June 

2021
$000 $000 $000 $000

Borrowings 67,785    -          4,727       -           72,512     
Lease liability -         603           (96)          -           507          

67,785    603           4,631       -           73,019     
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30 Correction of error

The adjustments are as follows:

Consolidated
30 June 2021 Comparative year:

Original balance 
as presented

Correction of 
error 

adjustment 

Change in 
accounting 

policy 
adjustment 

(refer note 31)
Restated 
balance

30 June 2021 30 June 2021
Statement of Financial Position (extract) $000 $000 $000 $000

Total current assets 128,417              -               -                128,417          
Right of use assets 672                     502                -                1,174              
Intangible assets 5,363                  -                 (5,234)             129                 
Property, Plant and Equipment 1,530,197           -                 (247)                1,529,950       
Other non-current assets 128                     -                 -                128                 

Total assets 1,664,777           502                (5,481)             1,659,798       

Lease current liabilities 60                       177                -                237                 
Total other current liabilities 36,341                5                    -                36,346            
Lease non-current liabilities 611                     330                -                941                 
Total other non-current liabilities 77,466                -               -                77,466            

Total liabilities 114,478              512                -                114,990          

Net community assets 1,550,299           (10)                 (5,481)             1,544,808       

Asset revaluation surplus 507,706              -               -                507,706          
Asset revaluation surplus 507,706              -               -                507,706          

Movement in retained earnings
Retained surplus opening balance 1,042,593           -               -                1,042,593       
Expensing of SaaS costs capitalised as an intangible asset -                    -               (5,234)             (5,234)             
Expensing of SaaS costs capitalised as site improvements
asset -                    -               (147)                (147)                
Expensing of SaaS costs in work in progress -                    -               (100)                (100)                
Right of use assets written down value -                    502                -                502                 
Current lease liabilities -                    (182)               -                (182)                
Non-current lease liabilities -                    (330)               -                (330)                

Net movement in retained earnings 1,042,593           (10)                 (5,481)             1,037,102       

Total community equity 1,550,299           (10)                 (5,481)             1,544,808       

Statement of Comprehensive Income (extract)

Total income 171,627              -               -                171,627          

Decrease/(increase) in materials and services  
Rentals and royalties (294)                    107                -                (187)                
Information Technology - software and licences (2,270)                 -               (41)                  (2,311)             
Other materials and services (64,384)               -               -                (64,384)           

Total materials and services (66,948)               107                (41)                  (66,882)           

Decrease/(increase) in finance costs 
Interest on lease liabilities adjustment -                    (15)                 -                (15)                 
Other finance costs (3,460)                 -               -                (3,460)             

Total  finance costs (3,460)                 (15)                 (3,475)             

Decrease/(increase) in depreciation and amortisation 
   Right of use assets amortisation (112)                    (102)               -                (214)                
   Intangible assets amortisation (1,002)                 -               878                 (124)                
   Other depreciation and amortisation (37,200)               -               8                     (37,192)           
Total  depreciation and amortisation (38,314)               (102)               886                 (37,530)           

Total other expenses (72,915)               -               -                (72,915)           

Net result (10,010)               (10)                 845                 (9,175)             

Council has identified two leases that were not recognised at the commencement of the respective lease terms which occurred during 2020-
21. Note 17 provides details of these leases. 

The leases have been recognised this year by adjusting the opening balances at 1 July 2021 and the comparative amounts for 2020-21.
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30 Correction of error  (continued)

Council

30 June 2021 Comparative year:

Original balance 
as presented

Correction of 
error 

adjustment 

Change in 
accounting 

policy 
adjustment 

(refer note 31)
Restated 
balance

30 June 2021 30 June 2021
Statement of Financial Position (extract) $000 $000 $000 $000

Total current assets 126,382              -                126,382          
Right of use assets -                    502                -                502                 
Intangible assets 5,360                  -                 (5,234)             126                 
Property, Plant and Equipment 1,528,963           -                 (247)                1,528,716       
Other non-current assets 128                     -                 -                128                 

Total assets 1,660,833           502                (5,481)             1,655,854       

Lease current liabilities -                    177                177                 
Total other current liabilities 36,067                5                    -                36,072            
Lease non-current liabilities -                    330                -                330                 
Total other non-current liabilities 77,466                -               -                77,466            

Total liabilities 113,533              512                -                114,045          

Net community assets 1,547,300           (10)                 (5,481)             1,541,809       

Asset revaluation surplus 507,706              -               -                507,706          
Asset revaluation surplus 507,706              -               -                507,706          

Movement in retained earnings
Retained surplus opening balance 1,039,594           -               -                1,039,594       
Expensing of SaaS costs capitalised as an intangible asset -                    -               (5,234)             (5,234)             
Expensing of SaaS costs capitalised as site improvements
 asset -                    -               (147)                (147)                
Expensing of SaaS costs in work in progress -                    -               (100)                (100)                
Right of use assets written down value -                    502                -                502                 
Current lease liabilities -                    (182)               -                (182)                
Non-current lease liabilities -                    (330)               -                (330)                

Net movement in retained earnings 1,039,594           (10)                 (5,481)             1,034,103       

Total community equity 1,547,300           (10)                 (5,481)             1,541,809       

Statement of Comprehensive Income (extract)

Total income 170,431              -               -                170,431          

Decrease/(increase) in materials and services 
Rentals and royalties (289)                    107                -                (182)                
Information Technology - software and licences (2,270)                 -               (41)                  (2,311)             
Other materials and services (65,341)               -               -                (65,341)           

Total materials and services (67,900)               107                (41)                  (67,834)           

Decrease/(increase) in finance costs 
Interest on lease liabilities -                    (15)                 -                (15)                 
Other finance costs (3,431)                 -               -                (3,431)             

Total  finance costs (3,431)                 (15)                 (3,446)             

Decrease/(increase) in depreciation and amortisation 
expense 
   Right of use assets amortisation -                    (102)               -                (102)                
   Intangible assets amortisation (1,002)                 -               878                 (124)                
   Other depreciation and amortisation (37,150)               -               8                     (37,142)           
Total  depreciation and amortisation (38,152)               (102)               886                 (37,368)           

Total other expenses (71,373)               -               -                (71,373)           

Net result (10,425)               (10)                 845                 (9,590)             
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31 Change in Accounting Policy

Consolidated

1 July 2020 (comparative year opening balance)

Original 
balance as 
presented

Correction of 
error 

adjustment 
(refer note 30)

Change in 
accounting 

policy 
adjustment Restated balance

 1 July 2020  1 July 2020
Statement of Financial Position (extract) $000 $000 $000 $000

Total current assets 143,845           -                 -                   143,845               
Intangible assets 6,365               -                 (6,112)                253                      
Property, Plant and Equipment 1,536,560        -                 (214)                   1,536,346            
Other non-current assets 3,065               -                   -                   3,065                   

Total assets 1,689,835        -                 (6,326)                1,683,509            

Total other current liabilities 39,837             -                 -                   39,837                 
Total other non-current liabilities 79,461             -                 -                   79,461                 

Total liabilities 119,298           -                 -                   119,298               

Net community assets 1,570,537        -                 (6,326)                1,564,211            

Asset revaluation surplus 517,934           -                 -                   517,934               
Movement in retained earnings

Retained surplus opening balance 1,052,603        -                 -                   1,052,603            
Expensing of SaaS costs capitalised as an intangible 
asset -                -                 (6,112)                (6,112)                  
Expensing of SaaS costs capitalised as site improvements
 asset -                -                 (155)                   (155)                     
Expensing of SaaS costs in work in progress -                -                 (59)                     (59)                       

Net movement in retained earnings 1,052,603        -                 (6,326)                1,046,277            

Total community equity 1,570,537        -                 (6,326)                1,564,211            

Council

1 July 2020 (comparative year opening balance)
Original 

balance as 
presented

Correction of 
error 

adjustment 
(refer note 30)

Change in 
accounting 

policy 
adjustment Restated balance

 1 July 2020  1 July 2020
Statement of Financial Position (extract) $000 $000 $000 $000

Total current assets 142,253           -                 -                   142,253               

Intangible assets 6,362               -                 (6,112)                250                      
Property, Plant and Equipment 1,535,339        -                 (214)                   1,535,125            
Other non-current assets 2,281               -                   -                   2,281                   

Total assets 1,686,235        -                 (6,326)                1,679,909            

Total other current liabilities 39,495             -                 -                   39,495                 
Total other non-current liabilities 78,787             -                 -                   78,787                 

Total liabilities 118,282           -                 -                   118,282               

Net community assets 1,567,953        -                 (6,326)                1,561,627            

Asset revaluation surplus 517,934           -                 -                   517,934               
Movement in retained earnings

Retained surplus opening balance 1,050,019        -                 -                   1,050,019            
Expensing of SaaS costs capitalised as an intangible 
asset -                -                 (6,112)                (6,112)                  
Expensing of SaaS costs capitalised as site improvements
 asset -                -                 (155)                   (155)                     
Expensing of SaaS costs in work in progress -                -                 (59)                     (59)                       

Net movement in retained earnings 1,050,019        -                 (6,326)                1,043,693            

Total community equity 1,567,953        -                 (6,326)                1,561,627            

As disclosed at note 15 Intangible Assets, council revised its accounting policy in relation to software as a service (SaaS) arrangements based 
on guidance provided by the Agenda Decision issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC). 

The following adjustments have been made to the opening balance at 1 July 2020 and the comparative amounts for 2020-21.

Historical financial information has been restated to account for the impact of the change in accounting policy in the application of AASB 138 
Intangibles. 

Page 37

Central Highlands Regional Council
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

31 Change in Accounting Policy  (continued)

Consolidated
30 June 2021 Comparative year:

Original 
balance as 
presented

Correction of 
error 

adjustment 
(refer note 30)

Change in 
accounting 

policy 
adjustment Restated balance

30 June 2021 30 June 2021
Statement of Financial Position (extract) $000 $000 $000 $000

Total current assets 128,417           -                 -                   128,417               
Right of use assets 672                  502                  -                   1,174                   
Intangible assets 5,360               -                   (5,234)                126                      
Property, Plant and Equipment 1,530,197        -                   (247)                   1,529,950            
Other non-current assets 131                  -                   -                   131                      

Total assets 1,664,777        502                  (5,481)                1,659,798            

Lease current liabilities 60                   177                  -                   237                      
Total other current liabilities 36,341             5                      -                   36,346                 
Lease non-current liabilities 611                  330                  -                   941                      
Total other non-current liabilities 77,466             -                 -                   77,466                 

Total liabilities 114,478           512                  -                   114,990               

Net community assets 1,550,299        (10)                   (5,481)                1,544,808            

Asset revaluation surplus 507,706           -                 -                   507,706               
Asset revaluation surplus 507,706           -                 -                   507,706               

Movement in retained earnings
Retained surplus opening balance 1,042,593        -                 -                   1,042,593            
Expensing of SaaS costs capitalised as an intangible 
asset -                -                 (5,234)                (5,234)                  
Expensing of SaaS costs capitalised as site improvements
 asset -                -                 (147)                   (147)                     
Expensing of SaaS costs in work in progress -                -                 (100)                   (100)                     
Right of use assets written down value -                502                  -                   502                      
Current lease liabilities -                (182)                 -                   (182)                     
Non-current lease liabilities -                (330)                 -                   (330)                     

Net movement in retained earnings 1,042,593        (10)                   (5,481)                1,037,102            

Total community equity 1,550,299        (10)                   (5,481)                1,544,808            

Statement of Comprehensive Income (extract)

Total income 171,627           -                 -                   171,627               

Decrease/(increase) in materials and services  
Rentals and royalties (294)                107                  -                   (187)                     
Information Technology - software and licences (2,270)             -                 (41)                     (2,311)                  
Other materials and services (64,384)           -                 -                   (64,384)                

Total materials and services (66,948)           107                  (41)                     (66,882)                
Decrease/(increase) in finance costs 

Interest on lease liabilities adjustment -                (15)                   -                   (15)                       
Other finance costs (3,460)             -                 -                   (3,460)                  

Total  finance costs (3,460)             (15)                   (3,475)                  

Decrease/(increase) in depreciation and amortisation 
   Right of use assets amortisation (112)                (102)                 -                   (214)                     
   Intangible assets amortisation (1,002)             -                 878                    (124)                     
   Other depreciation and amortisation (37,200)           -                 8                        (37,192)                
Total  depreciation and amortisation (38,314)           (102)                 886                    (37,530)                

Total other expenses (72,915)           -                 -                   (72,915)                

Net result (10,010)           (10)                   845                    (9,175)                  
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31 Change in Accounting Policy  (continued)

Council

30 June 2021 Comparative year:
Original 

balance as 
presented

Correction of 
error 

adjustment  
(refer note 30)

Change in 
accounting 

policy 
adjustment Restated balance

30 June 2021 30 June 2021
Statement of Financial Position (extract) $000 $000 $000 $000

Total current assets 126,382           -                   126,382               
Right of use assets -                502                  -                   502                      
Intangible assets 5,360               -                   (5,234)                126                      
Property, Plant and Equipment 1,528,963        -                   (247)                   1,528,716            
Other non-current assets 128                  -                   -                   128                      

Total assets 1,660,833        502                  (5,481)                1,655,854            

Lease current liabilities -                177                  177                      
Total other current liabilities 36,067             5                      -                   36,072                 
Lease non-current liabilities -                330                  -                   330                      
Total other non-current liabilities 77,466             -                 -                   77,466                 

Total liabilities 113,533           512                  -                   114,045               

Net community assets 1,547,300        (10)                   (5,481)                1,541,809            

Asset revaluation surplus 507,706           -                 -                   507,706               
Asset revaluation surplus 507,706           -                 -                   507,706               

Movement in retained earnings
Retained surplus opening balance 1,039,594        -                 -                   1,039,594            
Expensing of SaaS costs capitalised as an intangible 
asset -                -                 (5,234)                (5,234)                  
Expensing of SaaS costs capitalised as site improvements
 asset -                -                 (147)                   (147)                     
Expensing of SaaS costs in work in progress -                -                 (100)                   (100)                     
Right of use assets written down value -                502                  -                   502                      
Current lease liabilities -                (182)                 -                   (182)                     
Non-current lease liabilities -                (330)                 -                   (330)                     

Net movement in retained earnings 1,039,594        (10)                   (5,481)                1,034,103            

Total community equity 1,547,300        (10)                   (5,481)                1,541,809            

Statement of Comprehensive Income (extract)

Total income 170,431           -                 -                   170,431               

Decrease/(increase) in materials and services 
Rentals and royalties (289)                107                  -                   (182)                     
Information Technology - software and licences (2,270)             -                 (41)                     (2,311)                  
Other materials and services (65,341)           -                 -                   (65,341)                

Total materials and services (67,900)           107                  (41)                     (67,834)                

Decrease/(increase) in finance costs 
Interest on lease liabilities -                (15)                   -                   (15)                       
Other finance costs (3,431)             -                 -                   (3,431)                  

Total  finance costs (3,431)             (15)                   (3,446)                  

Decrease/(increase) in depreciation and amortisation 
expense 
   Right of use assets amortisation -                (102)                 -                   (102)                     
   Intangible assets amortisation (1,002)             -                 878                    (124)                     
   Other depreciation and amortisation (37,150)           -                 8                        (37,142)                
Total  depreciation and amortisation (38,152)           (102)                 886                    (37,368)                

Total other expenses (71,373)           -                 -                   (71,373)                

Net result (10,425)           (10)                   845                    (9,590)                  
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32 Financial instruments

- credit risk
- liquidity risk
- market risk

Financial risk management

Credit risk

2022 2021 2022 2021
Financial assets Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Cash and cash equivalents 9        92,169 55,243       89,883 53,295
Receivables - rates and water 10 & 12        18,732 28,143       18,732 28,144
Receivables - other 10 & 12          9,572 12,491         9,509 12,458
Term deposit investments 13          3,151 24,640         3,151 24,640
Equity investment               11                 16              11 16

Other credit exposure
Guarantee 26          1,395 1,161         1,395 1,161

Total      125,030 121,694     122,681 119,714

Liquidity risk

Consolidated

Central Highlands Regional Council
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Council

Council has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

Council does not enter into derivatives.

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. 
These obligations arise principally from the council's investments and receivables from customers.

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of credit counterparty ability to meet payment obligations. The 
carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

Council is responsible for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework, together with developing 
and monitoring risk management policies.

Council's Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with council's risk management policies and 
procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by council. The 
Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by internal audit who undertake regular reviews of risk management 
controls and procedures.

Council's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced, to set appropriate limits and 
controls and to monitor these risks and adherence against limits. Council aims to manage volatility to minimise potential 
adverse effects on the financial performance of council. 

Investments in financial instruments are required to be made with QTC or similar state/commonwealth bodies or financial 
institutions in Australia, in line with the requirements of the   Statutory Bodies Financial Arrangements Act 1982.

No collateral is held as security relating to the financial assets held by council.

The following table represents the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the carrying amounts of financial assets at 
the end of the reporting period:

Liquidity risk is the risk that the council will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 

Detailed information on credit risk in relation to the above financial assets can be found at the note specified above.
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32 Financial instruments (continued)

Market risk

Sensitivity

Consolidated

1% increase 1% decrease 1% increase 1% decrease
2022 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

QTC cash funds - at variable 87,988         880              (880)               880              (880)               
Other investments 3,151           32                (32)                 32                (32)                 
QTC Loans - at fixed (71,649)        -             -               -            -               
Net total 19,490         912           (912)            912           (912)            

2021
QTC cash funds - at variable 51,591         516           (516)            516           (516)            
Other investments 24,640         246           (246)            246           (246)            
QTC Loans - at fixed (72,512)        -          -            -         -            
Net total 3,719              762              (762)               762              (762)               

Council 

1% increase 1% decrease 1% increase 1% decrease
2022 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

QTC cash funds - at variable 87,988         880              (880)               880              (880)               
Other investments 3,151           32                (32)                 32                (32)                 
QTC Loans - at fixed (71,649)        -             -               -            -               
Net total 19,490         912           (912)            912           (912)            

2021
QTC cash funds - at variable 51,591         516           (516)            516           (516)            
Other investments 24,640         246           (246)            246           (246)            
QTC Loans - at fixed (72,512)        -          -            -         -            
Net total 3,719              762              (762)               762              (762)               

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, will affect the council's income or the value of 
its holdings of financial instruments.

Council has access to a mix of variable and fixed rate funding options through QTC so that interest rate risk can be 
minimised. These facilities are disclosed in note 20.

Sensitivity to interest rate movements is shown for variable financial assets and liabilities based on the carrying amount at 
reporting date.

The following interest rate sensitivity analysis depicts what effect a reasonably possible change in interest rates (assumed 
to be 1%) would have on the profit and equity, based on the carrying values at the end of the reporting period. The 
calculation assumes that the change in interest rates would be held constant over the period.

Change in profit & (loss) 
from:

Council is exposed to liquidity risk through its normal course of business and through its borrowings with QTC and other 
financial institutions. The liquidity risk in relation to payables at note 18 and for borrowings at note 20.

Council manages its exposure to liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash deposits and undrawn facilities, both short 
and long term, to cater for unexpected volatility in cash flows.

These facilities and detailed information in relation to liquidity risk are disclosed in note 9 and note 13.

These facilities and detailed information in relation to liquidity risk are disclosed in note 9 (Cash and cash equivalents) and 
note 13 (Term deposit investments). Council does not have any overdraft facilities at the reporting date.

Total financial assets and liabilities 
held at variable and fixed interest 
rates:

Total financial assets and liabilities 
held at variable and fixed interest 
rates:

Net carrying 
amount

Change in profit & (loss) 
from:

Change in equity from:

Change in equity from:Net carrying 
amount
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32 Financial instruments (continued)

Fair value

Carrying 
amount

Fair value Carrying 
amount

Fair value

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Consolidated

Financial assets
QTC cash funds 87,988         87,988      51,591         51,591      
Other investments 3,151           3,151        24,640         24,640      

91,139         91,139      76,231         76,231      

Financial liabilities
Loans - QTC 70,050         70,050      81,066         81,066      

70,050         70,050      81,066         81,066      

Council 
Financial assets

QTC cash funds 87,988         87,988      51,591         51,591      
Other investments 3,151           3,151        24,640         24,640      

91,139         91,139      76,231         76,231      

Financial liabilities
Loans - QTC 70,050         70,050      81,066         81,066      

70,050         70,050      81,066         81,066      

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their 
levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not 
measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

2022 2021

The fair value of trade and other receivables and payables is assumed to approximate the value of the original transaction, 
less any allowance for impairment. 

The fair value of borrowings with QTC is based on the market value of debt outstanding. The market value of a debt 
obligation is the discounted value of future cash flows based on prevailing market rates and represents the amount required 
to be repaid if this was to occur at balance date. The market value of debt is provided by QTC and is discussed below and 
disclosed in note 20.

QTC applies a book rate approach in the management of debt and interest rate risk, to limit the impact of market value 
movements to clients' cost of funding. The book value represents the carrying value based on amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

In relation to the QTC fixed rate loans, these are financial instruments at fixed interest rates which are carried at amortised 
cost and are not subject to interest rate sensitivity.
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33 National Competition Policy

(a)

 Aerodrome  
 Sewerage  
 Water  
 Waste  
 Saleyards  

(b)

Aerodrome  Saleyards Sewerage  Water  
Waste 

Management 
2022 2022 2022 2022 2022
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Revenue for services provided to 
council

-                                  -                  688            3,184                  355 

Revenue for services provided to 
external clients

10,194                       1,812             8,709          13,410               9,650 

Community service obligations 
(refer (c) below)

287                                  -                     -                   -                      -   

10,481                       1,812             9,397          16,594             10,005 

Less: Expenditure 8,733                         1,812             8,973          19,623               9,181 

Operating surplus (deficit)               1,748                 -                   424          (3,029)                  824 

(c)

Actual
2022
$000

 The following statements are for activities subject to the code of competitive conduct:

Central Highlands Regional Council
Notes to the Financial Statements

Business activities to which the code of competitive conduct is applied

This requires identifying the cost of community service obligations (CSO) and eliminating the advantages and disadvantages of 
public ownership within the particular activity. Full cost pricing has been adopted for water and sewerage as they are significant 
business activities.

The CSO value is determined by council, and represents an activities cost which would not be incurred if the primary objective 
of the activities was to make a profit. Council provides funding from general revenue to the business activity to cover the cost of 
providing  non-commercial community services or costs deemed to be CSO's by council.

Council has reviewed its operations and has identified six activities that are business activities.

For the year ended 30 June 2022

Council applies the code of competitive conduct to the following activities:

Description of CSO's provided to business activities during the reporting period.

Airport Public provision of airstrip facilities in Emerald                  287 

Activities CSO Description
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34

(a)

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

       2,093 1,719           159     113         2       10 

           -    -               -         -           8         8 

       2,093       1,719            159           113             10             18 

(b)

2022 2021 2022 2021
$000 $000 $000 $000

3,479           3,119         3,204          2,825          

249              202            249             202             

20                52              20               52               

3,748           3,373         3,473          3,079          

Termination benefits

Detailed remuneration disclosures for KMP are provided in council's annual report.

Total

Central Highlands Regional Council
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Amounts received

Total

Nature of compensation
Council

Central Highlands Development Corporation 
Limited (CHDC)

All funding support given to the controlled entities was agreed to by council for the 2021-2022 financial year.

Contributions, donations, 
grants and subsidies paid

Transactions with related parties

Key management personnel (KMP)

Controlled entities

Council has two controlled entities which are detailed in note 1.2. The results of these entities are included with council to form the 
consolidated entity. 

Post employment benefits

Consolidated

There were no wages or allowances paid to councillors or council staff who sit on the board of these companies.

Central Highlands (QLD) Housing Company 
Limited

Other amounts paid

KMP include the Mayor, Councillors, Chief Executive Officer and the executive leadership team.  

Transactions with KMP, in the form of compensation paid for 2021-22, comprises:

Short-term employee benefits

The following transactions occurred between council and these entities:
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34

(c) Other related parties

Consolidated Council
2022 2021 2022 2021
$000 $000 $000 $000

34(c)(i)
160              263            160             263             

34(c)(ii)
121              159            121             159             

34(c)(iii)
34                19              34               19               

34(c)(iv)
523              352            523             352             

838              793            838             793             

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv) Materials and services purchased from entities controlled by KMP were at arms length and in the normal course of council's 
operations.

All close family members of KMP were employed through an arm’s length process. They are paid in accordance with the 
award for the job they perform. Council employs 437 staff of which two are close family members of the KMP.

The grants provided to entities controlled by KMP were on an arms length basis in accordance with the formal assessment 
procedures adopted by council.

Refer note

The fees and charges charged to entities controlled by KMP were on an arms length basis in accordance with the fees and 
charges adopted by council. 

Purchase of materials and services from entities controlled by 
key management personnel
Total

Fees and charges charged to entities controlled by key 
management personnel.
Grants provided to entities controlled by key management 
personnel

Employee expenses for close family members of key 
management personnel

Transactions with related parties (continued)

Nature of compensation

Other related parties include the close family members of KMP, any entities controlled, or jointly controlled, by KMP or their
 close family members. Close family members include a spouse, child and dependent of a KMP or their spouse.

Details of transactions between council and other related parties are disclosed below:
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